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We do not own any rea! property. We lease the business premises in the following locations for the stated principal uses:

Approximate
Floor Space
Location —(SquareFeet) ____ PrincipalUse
446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts (1) 7,458 Executive office and general
administretion

1215 19t Street NW, Washington, District of Columbia (2) 400 Branch office

1035 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO (3} 322 Branch office

10001 Woodloch Forest Drive, The Woodlands, TX (4) 2,027 Branch office

208 West 10m Sireet, Georgetown, TX (3) 400 Branch office

770 East Market Street, West Chester, PA (6) 575 Branch office

4495 Bradenton Avenue, Dublin OH (7) 4,500 Branch office

Note:

1)) Pursnant to two lease agreements with Sovereign Bank expiring December 31, 2009, at a monthly rate escalating to
$11,931 in 2009, plus operating expenses and taxes.

2) Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with Roosevelt Land, LP expiring July 16, 2011, at a monthly rate of $5,000,
plus operating expenses and taxes.

(3 Pursuant to a one-year lease agreement with Kabili, LLC expiring March 31, 2008, at a monthly rate of $1,950, plus
certain operating expenses.

“) Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with NNN Waterway Plaza, expiring March 31, 2012, at a monthly rate
escalating to $5,574, plus operating expenses and taxes.

5) Pursuant fo a one-year lease agreement with Kevin Stotz, expiring May 3, 2008, at a monthly rate of 3400, plus
certain operating expenses.

(%) Pursuant to a two year lease agreement with High Associates LTD expiring December 31, 2009, at a monthly rate
escalating to $970, plus certain operating expenses.

N Pursuant to a sixty two-month lease agreement with Rickert Property Management, expiring July 31, 2012, a monthly

rate escalating to $3,750, plus operating expenses and taxes.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we may be a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Qur management is
not aware of any litigation outstanding, threatened or pending as of the date hereof by or against ug or our properties which we believe

would be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Yoi¢ of Secority Holders
Not applicable.
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Our common stock (Symbol “XWE”) began trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX™) on November 16, 2006. Prior to
this date, there was no established public trading market for our common stock. Our common stock does not currently trade on a U.S.
national market,

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices per share reported on TSX for the periods shown, commencing with
the quarter of our initial public offering on November 16, 2006 (in US $5):

High Low
2007:
First quarter 51.00 $0.82
Second quarter £1.53 $0.82
Third quarter $1.77 $1.08
Fourth quarter $1.31 $0.55
2006:
Fourth quarter $1.25 £0.91

On February 29, 2008, the last reported sale price of our cormmon stock on TSX was CAD$0.75 per share and there were 141
holdess of record of our commaon stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain ot future earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foregeeable future,

Information regarding our equity compensation plans required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information
appearing under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders,

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

We registered shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering concurrently in Canada under the terms of a
Supplemented Prep Prospectus dated November 9, 2006 and in the United States under the Securities Act. Our Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (No. 333-136528) in connection with our initial public offering was declared effective by the SEC on November 9, 2006.
As of December 31, 2007, we have used approximately $10 million of the net proceeds of the initizl public offering to redeem our
long-term debt, to acquire the assets of Enerpy Gateway, for working capital and to find operations. The remaining net proceeds of
the initial public offering zre invested in short-term, highly liquid money market accounts with an original maturity of 90 days or

less. There has been ne material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offcring as described in cur final
prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424¢h),

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None,

Repurchase of Equity Securities
None.
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[tem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table summarizes our consalidaied financial data for the pariads presented. You should read the following financial
information together with the information under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those consolidated financial statements appearing clsewhere in
this annual report, The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this document. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this document. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31,
2003 is derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements not included in this document. Historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expecied in future periods.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenue $ 9,188,265 $§ 5763098 3 4673987 3§ 3,191,660 3 2,474,699
Cost of revenue 2,874,678 1,166,426 648,410 563,972 372,647
Gross profit 6,313,587 4,596,672 4,025,577 2627688 1,602,052
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 8,598,256 3,227,263 2,649,786 1,814,799 1,781,173
General and administrative 5.858. 810 1,862,450 995 703 710462 557,910
Total operating expenses 14,457,066 5,089,713 3,645,489 2,525.261 2,339,083
Operating income (loss) (8,143,479) (493,041) 380,088 102,427 (737,031)
Other income (expense), net(1) 563,294 {312,280) (86.838) 960,524 (180,738)
Income (loss) before income taxes (7,580,185) (805,321) 293,250 1,062,951 (917,769)
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,061,720) 304,228 754,000 — —
Net income (loss) (8,641,905) {501,093) 1,047,250 1,062,951 (917,769)
Accretion of preferred stock issuance
costs — (6,299) {7.199) {7,199) (7,199)
Net income (loss) available to
common stockholders $  (8641,905) $% (507,392) $ 1040051 §$ 1055752 8 (924,968)
Net income (loss) available to '
commeon stockholders per share:
Basic Voting $ 0.11) 3 0o § 602 % 002 5§ (0.03)
Basic Non-Voting 5 — % — 3 002 § 002 3% (0.03)
Diluted Voting and Non-Voting B (0.11) % 0on % 002 % 002 8§ (0.03)
Weighted average shares outstanding —
Basic:
Voting Common Stock 79,793,590 45,576,477 33,049,472 32,058,759 30,105,188
Non-Voting Common Stock — —_ 6,778,327 2,880,592 339726
Total Common Stock-Basic 79,793,590 45,576,477 39,827,799 34,939,351 30,444 914
Weighted Average
Shares Outstanding — Diluted: 79,793,590 45,576,477 54,506,566 52,096,206 30,444,914

(1)  Other income (¢xpense) for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes a gain of 51,062,775 from extinguishment of debt.

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data;
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,001,884 § 17483886 § 1,584,066 % 49389 § 220,796
Working capital 5,323,622 16,639,398 1,372,542 (882,162) (2,051,277)
Total assets 20,800,563 20,791,381 3,787,842 041,688 034,635
Long-term liabilities 46,222 87,844 1,879,745 150,368 25,565
Series A redesmable convertible

preferred stock — — 1,501,698 1,494,499 1,487,300
Accumulated deficit (12,853,272} (4,211,367) (3,710,274) (4,747,524) (5,820,475)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 16,859,799 § 17945002 §  (938,883) §$ (2,241,134) § (3,485,026)

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition andresults of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and relatednotes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information
contained inthis discussion and analysis includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review
the “Risk Factors" section of this Annual Report for a discussion ofimporiant factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from theresults described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in thefollowing discussion and
analysis.

Overview

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction platforms, the
World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange, retail EDergy consumers (commercial,
industrial and government, or CIG) and wholesale energy participants (utilitics and retail suppliers) in the Umnited States are able to
negotiate for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources from competmg energy suppliers which have agreed to
participate on our action platform in a given auction. The World Energy Exchange is supplemented with imformation about market
rules, pricing trends, energy consumer usage and load profiles. Qur procurement staff uses this auction platform to conduct auctions,
analyze results, guide energy consumers through contracting, and track their contracts, sites, accounts and usage history. Although our
primary source of revenue is ffom brokering electricity and natural gas, we adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to
accommodate the brokering of green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources), wholesale electricity in 2004,
certain other energy-related products in 2005, In 2007, we created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy Excha.nge
technology and business process. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the purchase or sale of
environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified Emissions
Reductions,

During 2007, we continned to increase our cost structure to support our growth plans. As of Deceraber 31, 2007, we employed 63
fult time employees versus 20 as of December 31, 2006. The staffing increases in 2007 were primarily related to the scquisition of
substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway LLC (“EnergyGateway”), which employed eighteen individuals, and the hiring of
eleven sales and marketing professionals, eight individuals specifically focused on the green markets and six individuals within our
operations and administrative groups. Four of the eleven sales and marketing professionals hired in 2007 are specificaily assigned to
the wholesale market. These increased employee and related costs were the major factors contributing to our increased cost structure
in all funetional areas during 2007 as compared to 2006. We expect our operating expenses to rise slightly as we expand our brokerage
capabilities in our retail, wholesale and green product lines, including increased sales and marketing efforts and continued expansion
of our back office operation. We also expect there to be continued significant compliance costs associated with being a public
company reporting in both the United States and Canada,

On June 1, 2007, we acquired substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway for $4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000 of ocur
common shares plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The EnergyGateway operations are included in our financial statements
from June 1, 2007. EnergyGateway provided energy procurement and value-added energy services to customers in many major
industries in the U.S. and Canada, from large multi-site Fortune 500 industrials to middle-market manufacturing and small commercial
operations.

Operations
Revenue
Retaj] Electricity Transactions

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction platform from each energy supplier
based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are hased on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy
supplier and energy consumer multiplied hy our contractual commission rate. Qur contractual commission rate is negotiated with the
energy consumer on 2 procurement-by-procurement basis based on energy eansumer specific circumstances, including size of avction,
internal effort required to organize and run the respective anction and competitive factors, among others. Once the contractual
commission is agreed to with the energy consumer, all energy suppliers participating in the auction agree to that rate. That commission
rate remains fixed for the duration of the contractual term regardless of energy usage. Energy consumers provide us with 2 letter of
authority to request their usage history from the local utility. We then use this data to compile a usage profile for that energy consumer
that will become the basis for the auction. This data may also be used to estimate revenue on a going forward basis, as noted below.

-22.

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008



Historically, our revenue and operating results have varied from quarter-to-quarter and are expected to continue to fluctuate in the
future. These fluctnations are primarily due to energy usage, particularly electricity, having higher demand in our second and third
quarters and lower demand during our fourth and first quarters. In addition, the activity levels on the Wotld Energy Exchange can
fluctuate due to a number of factors, including geopolitical events, weather conditions and market prices. To the extent these factors
affect the purchasing decisions of energy consumers our future results of operations may be affected.

Contracts between energy suppliers and energy consumers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract term
being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts typically having two to three year terms. Our
revenue has grown over the last three years through new participants utilizing our World Energy Exchange as well as energy
consumers increasing the size or frequency of their transactions on our exchange platform.

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity cnergy suppliers and, therefars, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made wp of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility
but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with energy
suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to ns based on that usage. The second
component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage.

etail N 5 Tran:

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural pas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction fees
are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas and electricity awards
are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier
upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire awand term multiplied by the
transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered
based on terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are
accounted in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and
recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Wholesale and Green Transactions

For wholesale energy and environmental commodity tramsactions, substantially all transaction fees are imvoiced upon the
conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the
completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the
bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue
may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned have been verified. While substantially all
wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, 2 small percentage is accounted for as the wholesale electricity or
gas is delivered similar to the retail eleciricity transaction methadology described above.

Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of:

+ salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation associated with our auction management services, which are directly
related to the development and production of the online auction and maintenance of market-related data on our auction platform
and monthly management fees (our supply desk fimction);

* amortization of capitalized costs associated with our auction platform and acquired developed technology; and

» rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of:
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» salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to sales and marketing personnel;

third party commission expenses to our channel partners;

travel and related expenses;

= amortization related to customer relationships and contracts;

» rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs; and

= general marketing costs such as trade shows marketing materials and outsourced services;
Generul and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of:

salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to general and administrative personnel;
*« accounting, legal, recruiting and other professional fees; and
» rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.
Interest income (expense), net
Interest income (expense), net consists primarily oft
* interest income in 2007 related to the invested portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering;
« interest expense in 2007 and 2006 related to capital leases; and

+ interest expense in 2006 on our $2.0 million subordinated note payable to Massachusetts Capital Resource Company, or MCRC,
including the accretion of warrants, that was redeemed on December 4, 2006.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense of approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 resulted from the epplication of a full
valuation allowance provided against deferred tax assets generated in prior years due to unceriainty regarding the realization of those
deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, in the future,
Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items as a percent of revenue for the periods presented:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Revenue 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenue 3] 20 14

Gross profit 69 80 86
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 94 56 57

General and administrative 64 33 21
Operating income (loss) (89) )] 8
Interest income (expense) 7 5 @
Income tax benefit (expense) €9 2 16
Net income (loss) (94)% (%)% 22%
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Revenue
For the Years Ended
Deceng_ber 3L,
2007 2006 Increase
Revenue h 9,188,265 3 5,763,008 § 3425167 5%

Revenue increased 59% primarily due to increased auction activity in multiple product lines, new customer wins and the
acquisition of the assets of EnetgyGateway during the vear ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same period in 2006, The
revenue increase reflects the growth of our wholesale customer base to 12 in 2007 from 2 in 2006 as well as an increase to 42 channel
partners as of December 31, 2007 from 29 as of December 31, 2006. Of those channel partmers, 25 had contributed to our revenue by
brokering transactions over the exchange during 2007 as compared to 18 during 2006.

Cost of revenue
For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 20606
3 % of Revenue $ %5 of Revenue Increase
Cost of revenue § 2,874,678 31% $ 1166426 20% § 1,708,252 146%

The 146% increase in cost of revenue related to the year ended December 31, 2007 a5 compared to the same period in 2006 was
substantially due to the addition of ten former EnergyGateway employees, an increase in salary and benefit costs associated with nine
new supply desk employees and, to a lesser extent, amortization related to developed technotogy acquired. Cost of reveme as a
percent of revenue increased 11% due to the cost increases noted above partially offset by the 59% increase in revenue.

Operating expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
b % of Revenne $ % of Revenue — Increase
Sales and marketing $ 8,598,256 94% $ 3,227,263 56% $ 5370993 166%
General and
administrative 5,858,810 64 1,862,450 33 3,996,360 215
Total operating
expenses $ 14,457,066 158% $ 5,089,713 89% §F 9,367,353 184%

The 166% increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same period in 2006
primarily reflects the addition of eleven new sales and marketing employees, general salary mereases and the addition of the former
EnergyGateway employees. In addition, the increased costs include amortization related to customer relationships and contracts as
well as increases in travel, consulting and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing expense as a perceniage of revenue increased 38%
due to increased costs discussed above partially offset by the 59% increase in revenue.

The 215% increase in general and administrative expenses related to the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same
period in 2006 was primarily due to an increase in legal, audit and other compliance costs, the addition of four corporate employees,
the addition of the former EnergyGateway employees and assets and increases in benefits, recruiting, and occupancy related costs. The
increase in legal and audit costs were primarily related to increased compliance and infrastructure activities in support of our growth
initiatives, including compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and ongoing public company costs and the acquisition of the assets of
EncrpyGateway. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue increased 31% substantially due to the cost increases
noted above, partially offset by the 59% increase in revenue.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest income, net was approximately $563,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007. Interest expense, net was approximately
$312,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. Interest income in 2007 was primarily due to interest earaed on the invested portion
of the proceeds from our initial public offering. Interest expense in 2006 was primarily due to interest paid on our $2.0 million
subordinated note with the MCRC. This note was retired in December 2006.

Income fax provision

We recorded an income tax provision of approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, reflecting the
application of a full valuation allowance provided against deferred tax assets generated in prior years due to uncertainty regarding the
realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, in the future. We recorded an income tax benefit of
approximately $304,000 for the vear ended December 3 §, 2008, refleciing an effective federal and

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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state tax rate of 38% as we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our deferred tax assets would be benefited
apainst expected future income.

Net loss
We reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 of approximately $8.6 million as compared to a net loss of
approximately $501,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase i net loss is primarily due to the higher operating

expenses discussed above and, to a lesser extent, the income tax provision partially offset by increases in revenue and interest income,

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Revenue
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 Increase
Revenue $ 5,763,008 $ 4673987 % 1,089,111 23%

Revenue increased 23% primarily due to increased energy usage by energy consumers during the year ended December 31, 2006
as compared to the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily due to the addition of new government procurements and the
increase to 29 channel partners as of December 31, 2006 from 16 as of December 31, 2005. Of those channel partners, 18 had
successfully contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the sxchange during 2006 as compared to 10 during 2005,

Cost of revenue

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 : .
$ %o of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase
Cost of revenue $ 1,166,426 20% ] 648,410 14% $ 518,016 B0

The 80% increase in cost of revenue related to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same peried in 2005 was
substantially due to #n increase in employee and employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees and
general salary increases. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased 6% primarily due to the cost increases noted above,
partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue,

Cperating expenses
For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005
3 % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase
Sales and marketing $ 3,227,263 56% § 2,649,786 57% $ 577,477 22%
General and
administrative 1,862,450 33 995,703 21 866,747 87
Total operating
expenses $ 5,089,713 89% ¥ 3,645,489 78% $ 1,444,224 40%

The 22% increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005
was primarily due to an increase in employee and employee-related costs associated with one additional employee, general salary
increases and increased commission costs associated with our higher sales activity as well as higher travel expenses. Sales and
marketing expense as a percentage of revenue during the period decreased 1% due to the increase in revenve discussed above
substantially offset by the increase in employee and employee-related costs.

The B7% increase in general and administrative expenses refated to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same
period in 2005 was primarily due to employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees, compliance and
Tecruiting costs as we increased staffing in all finctional areas. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue increased
12% substantially due to the cost increases noted above, partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue.

Other income fexpense)

Interest expense increased approximately $357,000, or 376%, during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same
peried in 2005 primarily due to eleven months of interest on the MCRC note in 2006 as compared to two menths in 2005, The
increase in interest expense was substantially offset by an approximate $132,000 increase in interest income earned on the invested
portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering in November 2006 and, to a lesser extent, proceeds from the MCRC note. In
addition, in connection with our initial public offering, we redeemed the MCRC note at face value resulting in non-cash interest
expense of approximately $221,000 due to the accelerated amortization of the balance of unamortized discount related to warrant
1551ANCes,

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 2 OC/‘
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Income tax benefit

We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflecting an expected
effective federal and state tax rate of 38% as we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our defesred tax assets
would be benefited against expected future incoms. Al December 31, 2006, we had gross deferred tax assets of zpproximately $1.7
million, against which a valuation allowance of approximately $639,000 had been applied. Gross deferred tax liabilities of
approximately $266,000 were also applied against the net deferred tax asset. A valuation allowance was provided against the tax
benefit generated during this period due to uncertainty regarding the realization of the net operating loss in the futare. '

We recorded an income tax benefit of $754,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 ag we determined it was more likely than
not that a portion of our deferred tax assets would be benefited against future income.

Net income (loss)

We reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 of approximately $501,000 compared to net income of
approximately $1,047,000 in 2005. The net loss in 2006 versus net income in 2005 is primarily due fo the increases in operating
expenses and net interest expense discussed above, which were partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005. '

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In November 2005, we received $2.0 million in exchange for 2 subordinated note with the MCRC, which bore interest at the rate
of 10% per annum, and required quarterly interest payments beginning on December 31, 2005, On December 4, 2006, we exercised
our option to redeem the MCRC note without premium as a result of the completion of our initial public offering. In connection with
the MCRC note redemption, MCRC exercised warrants to purchase 600,000 shares of our common stock., The remaiming warrants to
purchase 2,400,000 shares of common stock did not vest and subsequently expired due to the successful completion of our initial
public offering on November 16, 2005, The net redemption amount was $1,795,000, including interest earned through the date of
redemption. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, interest expense related to the subordinated debt was $437,000 and
$29,444, respectively.

On November 16, 2006, we completed our initial public offering of 27,441,064 shares of common stock at a price of CDN$1.05
(approximately US$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares sold by us for gross proceeds to us of
CDN$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of approximately
CDN$7,800,000.

On December 5, 2006, we issued an additional 3,000,000 shares of common stock in accerdance with an over-allotraent option
granted to the underwriters of the initial public offering at a price of CDN$1.05 (approximately US$0.92) per share for gross procecds
to the Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to us from the initial public offering and over-allotment option were approximately
$17.5 million, net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 million. In addition, we granted the underwriters of the imitial public
offering, warrants to purchase up to 1,150,000 shares of common stock at the public offering price. The warrants are exercisable from
the 1-year anniversary of the warrant issuance (November 16t and December 5t for the over allotment) and expire 18 months from
that date (May 15, 200% and June 4, 2009 for the over allotment). The warrants allow for net share scttlement and certain of the
holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. We valued the warrants at $274,129 and recorded it as a component of
additional paid-in capital.

At December 31, 2007, we had no commitments for material capital expenditures. We have identified and executed against a
number of strategic initiatives that we believe are key components of our future growth, including: expanding our community of
channel partners, energy consumers and energy suppliers on the exchange; sirengthening and extending our long-term relationships
with government agencies; entry into other energy-related markets; wholesale ransactions with utilities and emerging green credits
market; making strategic acquisitions and growing our sales force. We believe that our current management and financial resources
are adequate to pursue these initiatives and to maintain our competitive position in both the short and long term. During 2007 we
increased our workforce to 63 from 20 at December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2007, we had 29 professionals in our sales and
marketing and account management groups, 22 in our supply desk group and 12 in our general and administrative group. While we
expect to hire additional professionals as the need and/or opportunities arise, we do not expect to continue our expansion of the
workforce at the same rate as 2007,
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Comparison of December 31, 2007 10 December 31, 2006

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 Increase/(Decrease
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7.001,884 % 17,483,886 &% (10,482,002) (60)%4
Trade accounts receivable 1,878,233 1,702,798 175,435 10
Days sales outstanding 56 95 39 (41)
Working capital 5323622 16,639,898 (11,316,276) (68)
Stockholders’ equity 16,859,799 17,945,002 (1,085,203) ()

Cash and cash equivalents decreased 60%, primarily due to the acquisition of the EncrgyGateway assets and the pre-tax loss for
the year. Trade accounts receivable increased 10% due to the acquisition of the EnerpyGatewsy assets and the 53% increase in
revenue, both offset by an improvement in days sales outstanding. Days sales owstanding decreased by 39 days primarily due to the
addition of EnergyGateway receivables, which are due net 15, the increase in wholesale transactions, which are typically due net 30,
and improved collection rates. Revenue from our energy suppliers representing greater than 10% of our revenue decreased from 5i%
from four energy suppliers to 32% from two energy suppliers for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. This
decrease was directly related to the addition of the EnergyGateway customers.

Working capital (consisting of current assets less current linbilities) decreased approximately 68%, primarily due to the decrease
in cash and cash equivalents resulting from the acquisition of the EnergyGateway assets and funding of the pre-tax loss for the
year. Stockholders’ equity decreased 6% due to the net loss for the period substantially offset by the fair value of the stock issued as
part of the acquisition of EnergyGateway assets.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 was approximately $4.6 million due primarily to the
pre-tax Joss for the period. Cash used in investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 was approximately
$5.8 million, primarily due to the purchase of the EnergyGateway assets and, to a lesser extemt, costs incurred in software
development and purchases of property and equipment.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $259,000, due primarily to
increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses substantialty offset by an increase in accounts receivable, the net loss for the year
and deferred taxes for the period. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately
$138,000, primarily due to the purchases of property and equipment and costs incurred in sofiware development. Cash provided by
financing activities for year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $15.8 million, primarily due to the net proceeds from our
initial public offering and the issuance of warrants partially offset by the retirement of long-term debt.

We have historically funded our operations with cash flow from operations and, when required, the issuance of varions debt and
equity instruments. We have approximately $7.0 million of cash and cash equivalents and no long term bank debt as of December 31,
2007. We expect to continue to fund our operations from existing cash resources, operating cash flow and, when required, the
issuance of various debt and equity instruments, That notwithstanding, we expect that our cash and cash equivelents on hand at
December 31, 2007 will meet our working capital requirements at least to December 31, 2008,

Comparisor. of December 3], 2006 to December 31, 2005

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 Increase/(Decrease)
Cash and cash ¢quivalents 3 17.483,886 8§ 1,584,066 5 15,899,820 1,004%
Trade accounts receivable 1,702,798 1,028,307 673,991 66
Days sales outstanding 95 75 20 27
Waorking capital 16,639,858 1,372,542 15,267,356 1,112
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 17,945,002 (938,383) 18,883,885 N/A

Cash and cash equivalents inereased approximately $15.9 milkion, or 1,004%, due primarily to net proceeds of $17.5 million from
our initial public offering in late 2006. This increase was partially offset by the redemption of the $2.0 million MCRC note in
December 2006 and the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006. Trade accounts receivable increased 66%, due to the increase
in large government procurements. These procurements tend to have longer payment cycles due to:

+ added complexity and volume;

* the inclusion of various federal, state and local agencies that may be covered by the procurement (2.g. housing and prison
authorities);

» varied and extensive internal approval processes; and
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* an additional party {e.g., the local utility) involved in the payment cycle.

To the extent we are awarded any large government procurements in the future, we expect to experience short term increases in
our trade accounts receivable. We believe that we have adequate working capital to account for these short term fluctuations and that
these accounts will not have a significant short-term impact on our future liquidity. We believe these receivables are collectible and
the energy consumers and energy suppliers who are parties to these contracts are all large, credit worthy entities.

Working capital (consisting of current assets less current liabilities) increased approximately $15.3 million, or 1,112%, primarily
due to the increase in cash described above. Stockholders’ equity increased due to our initial public offering and, to a lesser extent, the
automatic conversion of Series A Preferred stock into common stock concurrent with the offering, and the exercise of warranis. These
increases in stockholders” equity were partially offset by the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $259,000, due primarily to
increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses substantially offset by accounts receivable, the net loss for the year and deferred
taxes for the period. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $138.000, primarily
due to the purchases of property and equipment and costs incurred in software development. Cash provided by financing activities for
year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $15.8 million, primarily due to the net proceeds from our initial public offering and
the issuance of warrants partially offset by the retirement of long-term debt.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $171,000, primarily resulting
from net income for the period partially offset by increases in deferred tax assets and working capital. Cash used in investing activities
for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $80,000 primarily related to costs associated with software development
and, to a lesser extent, purchase of property and equipment. Cash provided by financing activities for year ended Deceraber 31, 2005
was approximately $1.4 million primarily due to the MCRC note described above less the repayment of the $500,000 line of credit.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The table below summarizes our gross contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2007, As
of December 31, 2007, we did not have any purchase obligations other than our capital and operating leases.

Payments Due by Period
2013 and
Contractya] Obligations 2008  2009and 2010 2011 and 2012 Thereafter Total
Capital leases 3 4723 § 47937 $ 798 S — 5 95,058
Operating leases 304,537 447,656 178,603 — 930,796
Total contractual obligations $  $351,760 % 495593 § 179,401 § — 3 1,026,754

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“generally accepted accounting principles”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

The most judgmental estimates affecting our consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition and the
estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy supplier and end uset, or eénergy consumer, of such energy; software development
costs; the fair value of our equity securities prior to our initial public offering when there was no ready market for the purchase and
sale of these shares; the valuation of intangible assets and poodwill; impairment of long-lived assets; and estimates of future taxable
income as it relates to the realization of our net deferred tax assets. We regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon
historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. To the
extent actual results differ from those estimates, our future resulis of operations may be affected. We believe the following critical
accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. Refer to Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements filed herewith for a description of our accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

Retail Electricity T ,

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction platform from each energy supplier
based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our
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commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy unsage generated and
transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Revenue from
commissions is recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related receivable is reasonably
assured, and customer acceptance ctiteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

We record brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting period, or to
the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to the energy consumers
for that accounting period. We develop our estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following criteria:

* Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
= Usage updates from energy suppliers;
* Usage data from utilities;
» Comparable historical usage data; and
» Historical variances to previous estimates.
To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, we estimate revenue as follows:
* Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
* (eographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received,
+ Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and
*+  Specific review of individual energy supplicr/location accounts.

In addition, we perform sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overall industry trends including prevailing weather
and usage data. Once the actual data is received, we adjust the estimated accounts receivable and revenue to the actual total amount in
the period during which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain actual energy usage, we currently
estimate 4 to 6 weeks of revenue at the end of our accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual revenue have been
within management’s expectations and have not been material to date,

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and i3 made up of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility
but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date, The majority of our contractual relationships with energy
suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage. The second
component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage. Comunissions
paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on a monthly basis
on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gag Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees, Transaction fees
are billed to 2nd paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas awards are established
prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier upon the
conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated enerpy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction
fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are accounted
in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as
revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

-30 -

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 0:2/({



Wholesale and Green Transactions

Substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied
to future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid
for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are
typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned
have been verified. While substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage is
accounted for as the wholesale eleetricity or gas is delivered similar to the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition
methodology described above.

Channel Partngr Commissions

We pay commissions to our channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy suppliers
and energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is recognized. We
pay commissions to our salespeople af contractusl commission rates based upon cash collections from our customers.

Revenupe Bstimation

Our estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on our statements of
operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions accounts as reflected on our balance sheets. For any quarterly
reporting period, we may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue. We record revenue
based on the energy consumers’ historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, we adjust historical revemue to reflect
actual usage for the period. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we estimated usage for approximately 10% of our revenue
resulting in an approximate 0.4%, or §35,179, adjustment. This increase in revenue, which is based on adjusted year to date revenue
for the quarter, resulted in an approximate 0.1% reduction in sales and marketing expense related to thind party commission expense
agsociated with those revenues. Comresponding adjustments were made to unbilled accounts receivable and accrued commissions,
respectively. A 1% difference between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $9,000 effect on our revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2007.

Software Development

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to our software are recorded in accordance with Statement of Position
(“S0P™) 98-1, “Accounting for Costsef Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Accordingly, internally
developed software costs of approximately $469,000, $66,000, and $54,000 related to implementation, coding and configuration have
been capitalized in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. We amortize internally developed and purchased sofiware aver the estimated
useful life of the software (generally three years). Accordingly, during 2007, 2006, and 2005, approximately $111,000, $73,000, and
$55,000, respectively, were amortized to cost of revenues resulting in accumulated amortization of approximetely $273,000,
$162,000, and $89,000 a1 December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respactively.

Our estimates for capitalization of software development costs affect cost of revenue and capitalized software as reflected on our
consolidated statements of operations and on our consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we
capitalized approximately $469,000, or 2.3% of our total assets, Amortization expense related to capitalized software for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was approximately 3.8% of cost of revenue. To the extent the carrying amount of the capitalized software
costs may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate, we may need to record an
impairment (non-cash) charge and write-off a portion or all of the capitalized software balance on the balance sheet.

Goodwiil

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of our goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. We account for goodwill that results from acquired
businesses in accordance with Statement of Financial Accouniing Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, * Goodwill and Other Iniangible
Assets” ("SFAS No. 1427). Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite lives are not amortized but instead
are assigned to reporting units and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the accurrence of
events indicate possible impairment.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, we perform an annual impairment test for goodwill. The impairment test for goodwill is & two-step
process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including the goodwill
allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step two requires the

-31-

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10K, March 13, 2008 21/ \5"



comparison of the implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. There was no impairment of goodwill in the
year ended December 31, 2007, Future events could cause management to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that
goodwill of previously acquired businesses is impaired. Any related impairment loss could have a material impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Intangible Assets

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of our intangible assets. The criteria used for
these assumptions include management’s estimate of the assets continuing ability to genemate positive income from operations and
positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significence of any identifiable
intangible asset in our business objectives. If assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the
carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets, Useful lives and related amortization expense are based on our
estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by us. Factors that would influence the likelihood of
a material change in our reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive cash flow, a significant
decline in the econemic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant changes in our strategic business
objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, purchased technology and other intangibles, and are stated at cost
less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a definite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, which range from one to ten years.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “dccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, we periodically review
long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the cerrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these assefs is
determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relaie to the carrying
amount. There was no impairment of intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2007.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for IncomeTaxes "("SFAS No. 109”). Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to net
operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or Liability from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of fiture
taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, we consider past performance, expected future taxable income, and
qualitative factors which we consider to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. Our forecast of expected future taxable
income is for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. We have historically utilized a three year forecasting window to
determine our expected future taxable income. As of December 31, 2006, we had cumulative net income for the three years then ended
and the expected future taxable income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed adequate on a present value basis to benefit
the majority of our deferred tax nssets (primarily net uperating loss carryforwards). During 2007, we accelerated our growth in excess
of our initial expectations to address the sirategic initiatives outlined at the time of our initial public offering. We grew from 20
employees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as of December 31, 2007, scquired one of cur main competitors in the retail energy market,
and developed our wholesale and environmental commodity product lines. These initiatives increased our loss for 2007 resulting in a
three-year cumulative loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased our near term operating expenses, A three-year cumulative loss is
significant negative evidence in considering whether the deferred tax assets are realizable and gemerally precludes relying on
projections of future taxable income to support the recovery of deferred tax assets. While we expect our future income will be
adequate on a present value basis to benefit substantially all of our current deferred tax assets, the recent three-vear cumulative loss is
given more weight than projected future income when determining the need for a valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of
2007, we recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets of approximately $4.1 million, and msintain a cumulative
valuation allowance of approximately $4.7 miltion at December 31, 2007.

Our estimates in relation 1o income taxes affect income tax benefit and deferred tax assets as reflected on our statements of
opetations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more
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likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of December 31, 2007, we had deferred tax assets of
approximately $4.7 million against which a full valuation allowance has been established. To the extent we determine that it is more
likely than not that we will recover all of our deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate $4.7 million non-cash tax benefit.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB”™) Interpretation No. 48, “ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Texes™ {"FIN
48”), on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with SFAS 109. FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to
recognize. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon examination by a tax
authority. If the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the
amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the larpest amount that
has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If the tax position does not meet the
“more-likely-than-not” threshold, then it is not recognized in the financial statements. As of our adoption date of Janmary 1, 2007, and
also at December 31, 2007, FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

We have reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in our tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination by the
taxing authorities in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48, At December 31, 2007, there is no
expected material, aggregate tax effect as a result of differences between {ax return positions and the benefits recognized in our
financial statements.

Share-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), we recognize the compensation cost of share-based awards on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period of the award. In 2007, share-based awards consisted of grants of stock options and restricted stock. The
restrictions on the restricted stock lapse over the vesting period. The vesting period of restricted stock is determined by the Board of
Directors, and is generally four years for employees.

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 50.58
and $0.36, respectively, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions and estimated forfeiture rates of 13% in 2007 and 2006, respectively:

Year ended Expected Risk Expected Expected

December 31, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Option Life Volstility
2007 — 4.66% 4.61 years 54%
2006 — 4.66% 4.75 years 48%

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method prescribed in
APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on the date of grant as the
difference between the deemed fair value of the company’s common stock and the option exercise price multiplied by the number of
options granted. We provided the disclosures as required by SFAS No. 148, “decountingfor Stock-Based Compensation and
Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB StatementNo. 123",

A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Ontions Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Range of Remaining Aggregate Number Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Prices QOptions Life Value Exercisable Life Value
$ 0.02-%023 2,651,029 282Years $ 2,081,058 2,646,029 282 Years § 2,077,133
$ 024-8%1.12 1,612,000 4.78 Years 391,300 670,625  4.87 Years 229,263
§ 1.13-%51.34 2,440,000 6.36 Years —_— 30,000  5.96 Years —

6,703,029 4.58 Years § 2,472.358 3346654 326Years § 2,306,396

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value of our outstanding options and exercisable
options as of December 31, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2007 was
approximately $126,000.
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A summary of restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Shares Grant Price
Qutstanding at December 31, 2006 —_ P —
Granted 1,928,500 $ L13
Cancelled {80,000) 5121
Vested (400,000} $1.21
Unvested at December 31, 2007 1,448 500 §1.10

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”). SFAS No. 141(R) requires an acquiring entity in 2 business combination to recognize all (and
only) the assets acquired and ligbilities assumed in the transaction; establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the messurement
objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the
information they need to evaluate and understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We expect to adopt SFAS No. 141(R) on January 1, 2009,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements” (“SFAS
No. 1607). SFAS No. 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling or minority interest in a subsidiary is considered an ownership interest and,
accordingly, requires all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS No.
160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We expect to adopt SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 1577). This siendard defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America,
and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This pronouncement applies to other accounting standards that require or
permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurement. This gtatement is
effective for fiscal years beginning afier November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. In December of 2007, the
FASH agreed to a one year deferral of SFAS No. 157’s fair value measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that
are not required or permitted to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Management is currently evaluating the requirements of
SFAS No. 157, but does not expect it to have a material impact on our 2008 consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 allows entities the option to measure eligible financial instruments at fair value as of specified
dates. Such election, which may be applied on an instrument by instrument basis, is typically irrevocable once elected. SFAS No. 159
is effective for fiscal years beginning afier November 15, 2007. We adopted SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but have not yet
elected the fair value option for any items permitted under SFAS No. 159.

Seasonality

Our reveme is subject to seasonality and fluctuations during the year primarily as a result of weather conditions and its impact on
the demand for energy. Our revenue is generated from the commissions we receive under any given energy contract, which is tied to
the energy consumer’s consumption of energy. Therefore, revenue from natural gas consumption tends to be strongest during the
winter months due to the increase in heating usage, and revenue from electricity conswmption tends to be strongest during the summer
months due to the increase in air conditioning usage. Our revenue is also subject o fluctuations within any given season, depending on
the severity of weather conditions — during a particularly cold winter or an unseasonably warm susnmer, energy consumption will
rise.

Cyclicality

‘We believe that our business will be cyclical in nature and is tied, in part, to market energy prices which impact transaction volume.
When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are less likely
to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are Jess likely to use our suction platform. Conversely,
when energy prices decrease in competitive markets below the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are more likely
10 lock-in to lower fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are more ikely to use our auction platform. Although
our short term revenue is impacted by usage trends, these cyclical effects will also have longer term implications on our business
because we derive future revenue from current auctions.
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Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign currency rates, interest
rates, and other relevant market rates or price changes. In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to market risk resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and we regularly evaluate our exposure to such changes. Our averall risk
management strategy seeks to balance the magnitude of the exposure and the costs and availability of appropriate financial
instruments.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Historically, our business has not been materially impacted by inflation. We provide our service at the inception of the service
contract between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our fee is set as a fixed dollar amount per unit of measure and fluctuates
with changes in energy demand over the contract period.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

Our commission revenue is primarily denominated in U.8. dollars. Therefore, we are not directly affected by foreign exchange
fluctuations on our current orders. However, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates do have an effect on energy consumers’ access to
U.S. dollars and on pricing competition. We have entered into non-U.S. dollar contracts but they have not had a material impact on
our operations. We do not believe that foreign exchange fluctuations will materially affect our results of operations.

tem 8. Financia 1 lem

The consolidated financial statements listed in Item 15(a) are incorporated herein by reference and are filed as a part of this report
and follow the signature pages to this Annual Report on Form 10-K on page 42.

None.

Item YA, Controls and Procedures

ation of Disclosure Co TOC

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company carried out
an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007. In
designing and evaluating the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, the Company and its management recognize that there
are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosore controls and
procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives. Additionally, in evaluating and
implementing possible controls and procedures, the Company’s management was required to apply its reasonable judgment. Based
upon the required evaluation, the Chief Fxecutive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31,
2007, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Internal
a) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Qur management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting ag
of December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the Commitiee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.
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Management has excluded the assets and business lines of EnergyGateway from its assessment of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007 because the assets of this entity were acquired by the Company in 2007. The EnergyGateway
assets represent 5% of our consolidated total assets and 20% of consolidated revenue as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007,

Based on this assessment, our management believes that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria,

Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our management’s assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting. This report appears below,

-36-

Saurce: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 C;)a?o



b) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc.
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited World Energy Sclutions, Inc.s (“the Company™) intetnat control over financial reporting as of Devember 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Interna! Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring QOrganizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over Bremcisl reporting, included in Part 11, Item 9A

of this Form 10-K. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internaf conirol over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance ahout whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our aadit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabitity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staterments for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Ugited States of
America, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion. World Energy Solutions, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders® equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended, and our report dated March 12, 2008, expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded Energy Gateway LLC
from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, which is included in the 2007 consolidated
financial statements of World Energy Solutions, Inc. and constituted 5% of the consolidated assets and 20% of the consolidated
revenue as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of World Energy
Solutions, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control aver financial reporting of Energy Gateway LLC.

/8/ UHYLLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2008
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¢) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial repotting occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2007 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal contro] over financial reporting.

Item 9B, Other Information
Not applicable,

PART III
Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers a te Governane

The information required to be disclosed by this ilem 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days of the close of its fiscal year.

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to all of our directors and employees. The code of business
conduct and ethics is available on the corporate governance section of “Investor Relations” of our website www.worldenergy.com.

Any waiver of the code of business conduct and ethics for directors or executive officers, or any amendment to the code that applies to
directors or executive officers, may only be made by the board of directors. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under
Item 5.05 of Form 3-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by posting such information on
our website, at the address and location specified above. To date, no such waivers have been requested or granted.

[temn 11. Executive Compensation

The information required to be disclosed by this item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

The information required to be disclosed by this item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

or Independence

The information required o be disclosed by this item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 14, Principal 4 F 1 Servi

The information required to be disclosed by this item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
staternent to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

{(a)(1) Financial Statements

For a list of the financial information included herein, see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements™ on page 41 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

{a)(2) Financial Statements Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or notes
thereto.

{a)(3) Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the
exhibits hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:  /s/ Richard Domaleski March 13, 2008

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
s/ Richard Domaleski Chief Executive Officer and Director March 13, 2008
Richard Domaleski
fs/ James Parslow Chief Financial Officer March 13, 2008
James Parslow
/s/ Edward Libbey Chairman of the Board and Director March 13, 2008
Edward Libbey
/s/ Patrick Bischoff Director March 13, 2008
Patrick Bischoff
fs/ JTohn Wellard Director March 13, 2008
John Wellard
/s/ Thad Wolfe Director March 13, 2008
Thad Wolfe

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(d) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT

No annual report to security holders covering the Company’s prior fiscal year or proxy materials have been farnished to security
holders which have not been furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company will furnish to the Securities and
Exchange Commission any annual report 1o security holders covering the Company’s prior fiscal year and any proxy materials to be
furnished to security holders subsequent to the filing of this annual report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc.
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company™) as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of aperations, stockholders’ equity (deficif), and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An andit also includes assessing the accounting prineiples used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that our andits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the thres years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America,

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of World Energy Sclutions, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS0Q), and our report dated March 12, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

/8/ UHYLLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2008
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,
2007 2006
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,001,834 $ 17,483,886
Trade accounts receivable, net 1,878,233 1,702,798
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 338,049 211,749

Total current assets 9,218,166 19,398,433
Property and equipment, net 595,950 225932
Capitalized software, net 463,888 105,296
Intangibles, net 7,316,216 —
Goodwill 3,178,701 —
Deferred taxes and other assets 26,944 1.061.720

Total assets $ 20,800,565 $ 20791381

LIABTLITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 5 980,488 $ 848,518
Accrued commissions 712,919 1,021,433
Acered compensation 1,516,418 304,330
Accrued expenses 279,162 232,587
Deferred revenue and customer advances 363,933 295,408
Capital lease obligations 41,624 56,259

Total current liabilities 3,894,544 2,758,535
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 46,222 87,844

Total liabilities 3,940,766 2,846,379
Commitments (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 82,399,241 and 76,511,741

shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 20086,

respectively 8,240 7,651
Additional paid-in capital 29,704,831 22,148,718
Accumulated deficit (12.853,272) (4,211,367

Total stockholders’ equity 16,859,799 17,945,002

Total liabilities and stockhaolders’ equity $ 20,800,565 $ 20,791,381

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue:
Brokerage commissions and transaction fees
Management fees
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income (1oss)
Interest income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Total interest income {expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income (loss)
Accretion of preferred stock issuance costs

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Eamings (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) per voting common share — basic
Net income (loss) per non-voting commeon share — basic
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders — diluted

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic:

Voting common stock
Non-voting common stock

Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2003
$ 8401,791 $ 5762098 § 4,673,987
786,474 1,000 —
9,188,265 5,763,098 4,673,987
2,874.678 1,166,426 648,410
6,313,587 4,596,672 4,025,577
8,598,256 3,227,263 2,649,786
5858810 1,862,450 395,703
14,457,066 5,089.713 3,645,489
(3,143,479} (493,041) 380,088
573,395 139,617 8,004
{16,101} (451,897} {04.842
563,294 (312.280) {86,838)
(7,580,185) (805,321 293,250
(1,061,720) 304,228 754,000
(8,641,905) (501,093) 1,047,250
— (6,299) 7,159
$ (3,641,905 % (507,392) $___ 1,040,051
$ (0.1 § 001) $ 0.02
b — 3 — % 0.02
$ 0.1 § 0.01) § 0.02
79,793,590 45,576,477 33,049,472
— — 6,778,327
79,793,590 43,576,477 39,827,799
79,793,590 45,576,477 54,506,566

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance,
December 31,
2004

Exercise of stock
oplions

Accretion of stock
issuance costs

Issuance of
warrants in
connection with
lonig-term debt

Net income

Balance,
Pecember 31,
2005

Exercise of stock
options

Common stock
‘warrants
exercised

Tsswance of
common stock in
connection with
initial public
offering, net of
$3.6 million of
offering costs

Tesuance of
warrants in
connection with
initial public
aoffering

Conversion of
Non-Voting
Common Stock to
Voting Common
Stock in
connection with
initial public
offering

Conversion of
Serics A
Redeemable
Convertible
Preferred Stock in
commection with
initial public
offering

Accretion of stock
issuance costs

Share-based
compensation

Purchase of treasury
stack

Retirement of
treasury stock

Net loss

Balance,
December 31,
2006

Share-based
cotnpensation

Issnance of
ooraron ok in
connection with
acquisition of
EnergyGateway

Issnance of
common stock in
connection with
restricted stock
grant

Reversal of
issuance costs
related to initial

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

Non-Voting Voting
Cominon Stock Common Stock Trea Stock Additienal Total
Number of $0.0001  Nuwber of $0.0001 Number of Stated at Paid-in Accamulated Stoekholders*
Par Par
Shares Value Shares Value Shares Cost Caplizl Deficit Egui!z !l_)leﬂcitz

6,552,135 655 33,724,819 3,372 675,346 (151,953) 2,664,316 (4,757,524} (2,241,134)
240,000 24 — - — — 5,976 - 6,000
— — —_ — — — (7,199) —_ {7,199

—_ _ — — — — 256,200 — 256,200

— g _ . — — — 1,047,250 1,042,250
6,792,133 679 33,724,819 3372 675,346 (151,953) 2,919,293 (3,710,274) (938,883)

2,190,671 219 — — — — 56,098 — 56,917

— — 1070958 107 — — 253,058 — 253,205

— — 23,000,000 2,300 — — 17,264,968 - 17,267,268

_ _ — — — — 274,129 — 274,122

(8,982,806) (898) 8,982,806 898 — _ - - -

— — 10,433,504 1,044 -_— —_ 1,506,953 — 1,507,997
— — — — — — (6,299) - (6,299)

— — _ — — — 44,261 - 44,261
— — — — 25,000 (12,500} — — {12,500)

— — {700,346) (70)  (700,346) 164,453 (164,383) — -
— — — — — —_ — (501,093) (501,093)

— — 76,511,741 7,651 — — 22,145 718 (4,211,367} 17,945,062

— —_ — — — — 982,150 982,190

— — 5,375,000 538 — — 6,522,694 — 6,523,232

— — 400,000 40 - - {40 - —

— — -— — — — 48,468 — 48,468

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008



public offering of
cammon stock
Exercise of stock

options — — 112,500 1l —_ 2,801 — 812
Net loss — — — - — — {8.64 !iﬁ } {8,641,905)
Ralance,

December 31,

2007 — 8§ — 82399241 $ 8240 — § 29,704,831 § (12,853.272) § 16,859,799

The accompanying notes are an integral pari of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
2007 2006 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (8641905 § (501,093) & 1,047,250
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss) to net cash provided by (used
in} operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,028,497 135,446 103,831
Deferred taxes 1,061,720 (307,720) (754,000)
Share-based compensation 982,190 44 261 —_
Accretion of warrants — 252,000 4,200
Changes in operating assets and liabilities , net of the effects of
acquisition:
Trade accounts receivable 17,590 {673,991) (479,903)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (133,377 (106,798) (47.451)
Accounts payable 80,491 690,908 (42,041)
Accrued commissions (308,514) 156,540 496,035
Accrued compensation 1,212,088 193,330 68,507
Accrued expenses 33,762 210,578 38,009
Deferred revenue and customer advances 68,525 165,668 (265,216)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities - (4,598.933) 259,129 171,221
Cash flows from investing activities:
Costs incurred in software development (469,171) {65,652) (54,375)
Net cash paid in acquisition of EnergyGateway, net of cash acquired (4,904,358) —_ —
Purchases of property and equipment {456,095) {72,061} (25,374)
Net cash used in investing activities (5,820,624) {137,713} (79,749)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2,812 56,917 6,000
Praceeds from exercise of stock warrants — 253,205 —
Proceeds from initial public offering of common stock, net of offering
costs of $3.6 million — 17,541,397 _
Retirement of long-term debt — {2,000,000) —
Principal payments on line of credit — — (500,000)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt — — 2,000,000
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (56,257) (50,092 (48,733)
Principal payments on guaranteed return — (10,523) {14,062)
Purchase of treasury stock o (12,500 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (53,445) 15,778,404 1,443,205
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (10,482,002) 15,899 820 1,534,677
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 17,483,886 1,584,066 49,389
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year b 7001884 § 1748383 § 1,584,066
Supplemental Disclosure af Cash Flow Information:
Net cash received (paid) for interest b 612303 § {120401) % {94,842)
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease obligations 3 — $ 12943 § 56,205
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of common stock issued in acquisition of EnergyGateway 8 6536000 § — § —
Reversal of accrued expenses related to initial public offering of common
stock 3 43463 % — 3 —
Conversion of series A preferred stock to common stock 5 e 1,507907 § —
Conversion of non-voting commen stock to common stock 3 — % 898 8 —
Issuance of warrants in connection with initial public offering of common
stock ] — & 274,129 3 —
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt offering by — % — 3 256,200

The accompanying notes are an integral patt of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Worid Energy Solutions, Inc. (“World Energy” or the “Company”) was incorporated in 1999 as a Delaware corporation and is
focused in one operating segment — brokering energy and environmental commodities wtilizing online auction platforms. The
Company commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc. (“Oceenside™), which was incorporated under the
laws of the State of Delaware on September 3, 1996, We incorporated World Energy Solutions, Inc. under the laws of the State of
Delaware under the name “World Energy Exchange, Inc.” on June 22, 1999 and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of World Energy Solutions, Inc.. Oceanside was subsequently dissolved on May 18, 2006. On December
15, 2006 the Company established World Energy Securities Corp., 8 Massachusetis Securities Corporation, as a wholly-owned
subsidiary.

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction platforms, the
World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchanpe, refail energy consumers (commercial,
industrial and government) and wholesale energy participants (utilities and retail suppliers) in the United States are able to negotiate
for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources from competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on
our auction platform in a given auction, Although the Company’s primary source of revenue is from brokering electricity and natural
gas, the Company adapted its World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of green power in 2003 (ie.,
electricity generated by renewable resources), wholesale electricity in 2004 and certain other energy-related products in 2005, In
2007, the Company created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy Exchange technology and business process. On
the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the purchase or sale of environmental commeodities such as Renewable
Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified Emissions Reductions.

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering of common stock, including the exercise by the
underwriters of an over-allotment option on December 5, 2006, for the sale of 23,000,000 shares of common stock resulting in net
proceeds to the Company of approximately $17.5 million (net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 million).

On June 1, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of EG Partners, LLC, formerly known as EnergyGateway
LLC (“EnergyGateway™), for $4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000 common shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain
habilities. The EncrgyGateway operations are included in these financial statements from June 1, 2007. See Noie 10 for further
discussion of this acquisition.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include its wholly-owned subsidiary World Energy Securitics Corp. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“generally accepted accounting principles™) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting petiod. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those
estimates.

The Company’s most judgmental estimates affecting the consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue
recognition and the estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy supplier and end user, or energy consnmet, of such energy;
software development costs; the fair value of equity securities prior to the Company’s initial public offering when there was no ready
market for the purchase and sale of these shares; the valuation of intzngible assets and goodwill, impairment of long-lived assets; and
estimates of future taxable income as it relates to the realization of net deferred tax assets. The Company regularly evaluates its
estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. To the extent actual results differ from those estimates, future results of operations may be
affected. The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates vsed in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
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Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue through commissions on sales of energy usage ransacted on the Company’s online auction
platform. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission’s ("SEC™)
Staff’ Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognirion (“SAB 104”), SAB 104 requires that four basic criteria must be met before
revenue can be recognized: (1) persussive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) the service has been rendered; (3) the fee is fixed or
determinable; and (4} collectibility is reasonably assured.

The Company participates in four primary markets: retail ¢lectricity, retail natural gas, wholesale energy and environmental
comumodities. Prior to the June 1, 2007 acquisition of substantislly all of the assets of EnergyGateway, the Company primarily
received revenue from the brokering of electricity on the World Energy Exchange, utilizing reverse auction technology (“retail
electricity transactions’™). While EnergyGateway also utilized an online auction format, its primary focus was on the brokering of
natural gas and its “post and bid” methodology (“retail natural gas transactions™). In addition, the Company adapted the World Energy
Exchange to conduct reverse and forward online auctions for the wholesale electricity and natural gas markets and recently conducted
severat green credit auctions (“wholesale and green transactions™). The revenue recognition policy and related third party
commissions for each of these products is more fully described below.

Retail Electricity Transactions

The Company receives a monthly commission on encrgy sales contracted through its online auction platform from each energy
supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. The Company’s
commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy usape generated and
transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by the contractual commission rate. Revenue from
commissions is recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangemoent, the sales price is fixed or determinable, colection of the related receivable is reasomably
assured, and customer acceptance criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

The Company records brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting
period, or to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity delivered to the energy
consumers for that accounting period. The Company’s estimates are developed on a guarterly basis based on the following eriteria:

Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
Usage updates from energy suppliers;

Usage data from utilitics;

Comparable historical nsage data; and

Historical variances to previous estimates,

» L * L] »

To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, revenue is estimated as follows:

. Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
. Geopraphic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received;
. Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

. Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts.

In addition, the Company performs sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overall industry trends including
prevailing weather and nszge data. Once the actual data is received, estimated accounts receivable and revenne is adjusied to the actual
total amount in the period during which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain actual energy
usage, the Company currently estimates 4 to 6 weeks of revenue at the end of its accounting period. Differences between estimated
and actual revenue have been within management’s expectations and have not been material to date.

The Company generally does not directly invoice its electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, reports a substantial portion of its
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two
compoenents. The first component represents energy usage for which actual data has been received from the supplier and/or the utility
but for which payment has not been received &t the balance sheet date. The majority of the Company’s contractual relationships with
encrgy suppliers require that the suppliers provide the Company with actual usage data on a monthty basis and remit payment based
on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which the Company has not received actual data, but for which it
has
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estimated usage, Commissions paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to
commission revenue on a monthly basis on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary components related to retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction fees
are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform, Transaction fees for natural gas swards are established
prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of natural gas transactions, the Company bills the supplier upon the
conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction
fee. Management fees are paid by the energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements, While substantially all retail natural gas transactions are accounted for in
accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as
revepue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Wholesale and Green Transactions

Substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee, These revennes are not tied
to fiture energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse anctions where customers bid for a
consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are
typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain gteen transactions until the credits being auctioned
have been verified. While substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fagshion, a small percentage is
accounted for as the wholesale electricity or gas is delivered similar fo the retail electricity transaction methodolegy described above.

Third Party Channel Commissions

Commissions are paid to channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy suppliers and
energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revemue is
recognized. Commissions are paid to salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from customers.

Revenu imation

The Company’s estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on its
statements of operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions accounts as reflected on its balance sheets. For any
quarterly reporting period, the Company may not have actual usage data for certain cnergy suppliers and will need to estimate
revenue. Revenue is recorded based on the energy consumers’ historical usage profile, At the end of each reporting period, the
Company adjusts historical revenue to reflect actual usage for the period. For the year ended December 31, 2007, usage was estimated
for approximately [0% of the Company’s revenue resulting in a $35,179, or 0.4%, adjustment. This increase in revenue resulted in an
approximate 0.1% reduction in sales and marketing expense related to third party commissions associated with those reverues.
Corresponding adjustments were made to unbilled accounts receivable and accrued commissions, respectively. A 1% difference
between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $9,000 effect on the Company’s revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2007,

Software Development

Certain acquired softwarc and significant enhancements to the Company’s software are recorded in accordance with Statement of
Position {“SOP™)} 98-1, “dccounting for Costsof Compmiter Sofiware Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Accordingly,
internally developed software costs of approximately $469,000, $66,000, and $54,000 related to implementation, coding and
configuration have been capitalized in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. The Company amortizes internally developed and
purchased software over the estimated useful life of the software (generally three years). Accordingty, during 2007, 2006, and 2005,
approximately $111,000, $73,000, and $55,000, respectively, were amortized to cost of revenues resulting in accumulated
amartization: of approximately $273,000, $162,000, and 389,000 at December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. At
December 31, 2007, foture amortization expense for capitalized internally developed software is as follows:

2008 $ 188,000
2009 167,000
2010 and thereafier 109,000

§ 464,000
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Pre- and post- software implementation and configuration costs have historically been immaterial and charged to cost of revenue
as incurred.

Goodwill

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair valve of its goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess
of the purchase price aver the fair value of identifiable net assels of acquired businesses. The Company accounts for goodwill that
results from acquired businesses i accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 142, “ Goodwill and
Other Tntangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite lives are not
amortized but instead are assigmed to reporting units and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in
circumstances or the ocenrrence of events indicate possible impairment.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, the Company performs an annual impairment test for goodwill. The impairment test for goodwill is a
two-step process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including the
goodwill allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step two requires the comparison of the
implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. There was no impairment of goodwill in the year ended December
31, 2007. Future events could cause management to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that goodwill of previously
acquired businesses is impaired. Any related impairment loss could have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations.

Intangible Assets

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the catrying value, fair value and estimated lives of its intangible assets. The
criteria used for these assumptions include management’s estimate of the assets continuing ability to generate positive income from
operations and positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significance of
any identifiable intangible asset in our business objectives. If assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amoumt
by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets, Useful lives and related amortization expense are based
on an estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by the Company. Factors that would influence
the likelihood of a material change in the Company’s reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate
positive cash flow, a significant decline in the economic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant
changes in the Company’s strategic business objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, puschased technology and other intangibles, and are stated at
cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a definite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, which range from one to ten years. Accumulated amortization of intangible assets amounted to approximately
$813,000 at December 31, 2007,

Intpairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “dccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ", the Company periodically
reviews long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circamstances indicate that the carrying
amnount of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these
assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to the
carrying amount. There was no impairment of intangible assets in the year ¢nded December 31, 2007,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets or the life of the related lease, whichever is shorter, which range from 3 to 7 years.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “decounting for IncomeTaxes "(“SFAS No. 1097,
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed
to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liability from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of firture
taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, the Company considers past performance, expected future taxable income,
#nd qualitative factors which are considered to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. The Company’s forecast of
expected future taxable income is for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. The Company has historically utilized a three
year forecasting window to determine its expected future taxable income. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had cumuiative net
income for the three years then ended and the expected future taxable income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed
adequate on a present value basis to benefit the majority of our deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss
carryforwards). During 2007, the Company accelerated its growth in excess of its initial expectations to address the strategic
initiatives outlined at the time of our initial public offering. The Company grew from 20 employees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as
of December 31, 2007, acquired one of its main competitors in the retail energy market, and developed its wholesale and
environmental commodity product lines. These initiatives increased the Company’s loss for 2007 resulting in a three-year cumulative
loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased its near term operating expenses. A three-year cumulative loss is significant negative
evidence in considering whether the deferred tax assets are realizable and peneraily precludes relying on projections of fiture taxable
income to support the recovery of deferred tax assets. While the Company expects its future income will be adequate on a present
value basis to benefit substantially all of its current deferred tax assets, the recent three-year cumulative loss is given more weight
than projected future income when determining the need for a valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company
recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets of approximately $4.1 million, and maintaine a cumulative valuation
allowance of approximately $4.7 million at December 31, 2007.

The Company’s estimates in relation to income taxes affect income tax expense and deferred tax assets as reflectzd on jis
statements of operations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax asscts are reduced by a valuation allowance if i is more
likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had deferred tax
assets of approximately $4.7 million against which a full valuation allowance has been establisked. To the extent the Company
determines that it is more likely than not that it will recover all of its deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate $4.7 million
non-cash tax benefit.

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 48, “ Accounting for Uncertaimty in Income
Taxes” {“FIN 48, on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to
recognize. First, the tax position must be evalvated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon examination by a tax
authonty. If the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the
amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that
has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If the tax position does not meet the
“more-likely-than-not” threshold, then it is not recognized in the financial statements. As of its adoption date of January 1, 2007, and
also at December 31, 2007, FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our financial position or resulis of operations.

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years currently open te examination
by the taxing authority in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48, At December 31, 2007, there are no
expected material, aggregate tax effect of differences between fax return positions and the benefits recognized in our finencial
statements.

Advertising Expense

Advertising expense primarily includes promotional expenditures and is expensed as incurred, as such efforts have not met the
direct-response criteria required for capitalization. Amounts incurred for advertising expense were not material for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2003,

Comprehensive Incame

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”, establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income
{loss) and its components in financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss)
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is defined as the change in stockholders’ equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. The comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented does not differ from the reported
net income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” , requires management to disclose the estimated fair
value of certain assets and liabilities defined by SFAS 107 as financial instruments. Financial instroments are generally defined ns
cash, evidence of ownership interest in an entity, or a contractual obligation that both conveys to one entity & right to receive cash or
other financial instruments from another entity and imposes on the other entity the obligation to deliver cash or other financial
instruments to the first entity. At December 31, 2007, management believes that the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables approximated fair value because of the short mamrity of these financial instruments.

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and RelatedInformation”, established standards for reporting
information ahout operating segments in financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about
which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief decision maker is the chief executive officer. The Company’s chief
decision maker reviews the results of operations based on one industry segment: the brokering of energy and environmental
commodities utilizing online auction platforms.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk comsist principally of cash and trade
eccounts receivable. The Company has no significant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts, or
other foreign hedging arrangements. The Company places its cash with primarily one institution, which management believes is of
high credit quality. '

The Company receives commission payments from energy suppliers based on the energy usage transacted between emergy
consumers and energy suppliers. The Company provides credit in the form of invoiced and unbilled accounts receivable to energy
suppliers and energy consumers in the normal course of business, Coltateral is not required for trade accounts receivable, but ongoing
credit evaluations of energy suppliers and energy consumers are performed. Management provides for an allowance for doubtful
accounts on a specifically identified basis, as well as through historical experience applied to an aging of accounts, if necessary. Trade
accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. To date write-offs have not been material.

The following represents revenue and trade accounts receivable from energy suppliers exceeding 10% of the total in each
category:

Trade accounts receivable

Revenne for the year ended December as of
31, December 31,
Energy supplier 2007 2006 2005 1007 2006
A 11% 18% 18% 10% 21%
B 5% 13% 10% % 12%
C 6% 10% 18% 12% 4%
D % 10% — 10% 4%
E % 6% 11% 2% 1%
F 21% 9% — 22% 4%

During 2006, supplier A was acquired by another supplier who is not reflected above as its revenues represented less than 10% of
total revenue. If these suppliers were combined as of January 1, 2006, revenue attributable to these customers would have been 27%
for the year ended December 31, 2006 and unbilled accounts receivable would have represented 46% of total unbilled accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2006,

In addition to its direct relationship with energy suppliers, the Company also has direct contractual relationships with energy
consumers for the online procurement of certain of their energy needs. These energy consumers are prinarily large businesses and
government organizations. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035, two, four and three of these energy consumers
accounted for transactions resulting in over 10% individually, respectively, and approximately 30%, 63% and 51% in the aggregate of
OUur revenus, respectively.
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Reclossifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Farce (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-6, “Participating Securities and
the Two — Class Methodunder FAS 128” (“EITF Issue No. 03-6”), EITF Issue No. 03-6 provides guidance in determining when the
two-class method, as defined in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”, must be uiilized in calculating earnings per share. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, the Company had determined that its non-voting common stock and Series A redeemable convertible
preferred stock (the “Series A Preferred”) represented participating securities. The non-voting common had the seme privileges and
rights of the voting common stock, except for the right to vote. The Serics A Preferred participated in dividends, if any, paid by the
Company on a proportional basis with the voting common stock. The Series A Preferred and non-voting common antomatically
converted into voting common stock on a one-for-one basis upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering. EITF Issue
No. 03-6 requires the income per share for each class of common stock to be calculated assuming 100% of the Company’s eamings
are distributed as dividends to each class of common stock based upon their respective dividend rights, even though the Company
does not anticipate distributing 100% of its earnings as dividends.

Basic eamings per share for the Company’s voting commaon and non-voting commmon stock is calenlated by dividing net income
(loss) allocated to voting comnmon and non-voting commen stock by the weighted average number of shares of voting common and
non-voting common stock outstanding, respectively. Diluted eamnings per share for the Company’s voting common stock assumes the
conversion of all the Company’s non-voting common stock and Series A Preferred therefore no allocation of earnings to non-voling
common stock or the Series A Preferred is required.

For the basic earnings per share caleulation in 2005, net income was allocated to Series A Preferred shareholders based on
dividend rights and then among the Company’s two classes of common stock; voting common stock and non-voting common stock
based on ownership interests. The allocation among each class of stock was based upon the two-class method. The following table
reflects the allocation of net income using this method:

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2005
Net income available to common shareholders ] 1,040,051
Allocation of net income for basic:
Voting common stack $ 684,354
Non-voting commaon stock ) 140,407
Series A Preferred stock 215250
$ 1,040,051

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed an initial public offering of its common stock. As a resalt, all issued and
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and non-voting common stock were automatically converted into voting common
stock. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company only had one issued and cutstanding class of stock — common stock, As a
result, the basic loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is computed by dividing net loss available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of commeon shares outstanding for the period. The computed loss per share does not
assume conversion, exercise, ot contingent exercise of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect on loss per share. The
following table reflects the weighted average shares used to calculate basic and difuted earnings per share:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Weighed average number of voting common shares — basic 79,793,590 45576477 33,049472
Weighed average number of non-voting common shares — basic ' — - 6,778,327
Weighted average number of cornmon and common equivalent shares

outstanding — basic 79,793,590 45,576,477 39,327,799
Dilutive Shares:
‘Weighted average number of Series A Preferred shares — —_ 10,433,504
Incremental shares under the treasury stock method for outstanding

warrants — —_ 1,191,808
Incremental shares under the treasury stock method for outstanding options — e 3.053.455
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares

outstanding — diluted 79,793,590 45,576,477 54,506,566
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For the year ended December 31, 2007, 1,048,575, 1,826,375 and 493,718 weighted average shares issuable relative to common
stock warrants, common stock options and restricted stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of
such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net loss position. For the year ended December 31, 2006, 9,147,182,
2,251,072 and 2,230,232 weighted average shares issuable relative to preferred stock, common stock warrants and stock options,
respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net
loss position. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 2,320,000 shares issuable relative to common stock options had exercise prices
that exceedsd the average market price of the Company’s common stock and were excluded from the calculation of dituted shares
since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive.

The Compeny did not declare or pay any dividends in 2007, 2006 and 2005,

Share-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2007, the Company had two share-based employee compensation plans, which are more fully described in
Note 6. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R)},
“Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123(R)™) which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”). SFAS No. 123(R) superseded Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 25, “ Accounting for Stock
Issued lv Emplayees”, and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows”. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock, to be recognized in the income statement based on their
fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an altemative,

SFAS No. 123(R) requires nonpublic companies that used the minimum value method in SFAS No. 123 for either recognition or
pro forma disclosures to apply SFAS No. 123(R) using the prospective-transition method. As such, the Company will continue to
apply APB 25 in future periods to equity awards outstanding at the date of SFAS No. 123(R)’s adoption that were measured using the
minimum value method. In accordance with this standard, the prior period pro forma stock information has not been restated. In
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will recognize the compensation cost of share-based awards on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period of the award.

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $0.58
and $0.36, respectively, an the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions and estimated forfeiture rates of 13% in 2007 and 2006, respectively:

Year ended Expected Risk Expected Expected

December 31, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Option Life Volatility
2007 — 4.66% 4.6} years 54%
2006 — 4.66% 4.75 years 48%

Effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company elected to use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to
determine the weighted average fair value of options granted. As the Company’s stock has a limited trading history s of December
31, 2007, the Company determined the volatility for stock options granted in 2007 based on a weighted combination of per share
closing prices reported on the Toronto Stock Exchange, and historieal and reported data for a peer group of companies that issued
options with substantially similar terms. The expected life of options has been determined utilizing the “simplified” method as
prescribed by the Securitics and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “ Share-Based Payment”. The risk-free
interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consisteni with the expected life of the stock options. The Company has
not paid and does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be
zere. In addition, SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating the expense for the
period, whereas, SFAS No. 123 permitted companies to record forfeitures based on actual forfeitures, which was the Company’s
historical policy under SFAS No. 123. As a result, the Company applied estimated forfeiture rates of between 11% and £3%, and 12%
and 13% during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in determining the expense recorded in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The effect on compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 from changes in
the forfeiture rate in 2007 of previous years' stock option grants, resulted in an increase in compensation expense of less than $1,000.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $982,000 in
comnection with share-based payment awards as follows: approximately $753,000 in sales and marketing, approximately $103,000 in
cost of revenue and approximately $126,000 in general and administrative expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company recerded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $44,000 in connection with share-based payment awards as
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follows: approximately $20,000 in sales and marketing, approximately $2,000 in cost of revenue and approximately $22,000 in
general and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $3,024,000 of unrecognized compensation
expense related share-based awards, including approximately $1,513,000 related to non-vested stock option awards that is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.18 vears, and approximately $1,511,000 releted to non-vested restricted stock
awards. See Note 6 for a summary of the share-basex] activity under the Company’s stock-based employee compensation plans for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for iis stock-based awards to employees using the infrinsic value method
prescribed in APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the inirinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on the date of
grant as the difference between the deemed fair value of the Company’s commaon stock and the option exercise price multiplied by the
number of options granted. Generally, the Company grants stock options with exercise prices equal to the estimated fair value of its
common stock; however, to the extent that the deemed fair value of the common stock exceeded the exetcise price of stock options
granted to employees on the date of grant, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense ratably over the vesting schedule
of the options, generally four years. The fair value of the Company’s common stock is determined by the Company's Board of
Directors (the “Board™).

Prior to November 16, 2006, there had been no public market for the Company’s coramon stock and the fair value for the
Company’s common stock was estimated by the Board, with input from management as well as from independent appraisals. The
Board exercised judgment in determining the estimated fair vahue of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant based on
several factors, including the liquidation preferences, dividend rights, and voting confrol attributable to the Company’s
then-outstanding convertible preferred stock and, primarily, the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event such as an initial public
offering or sale of the Company. In the absence of a public trading market for the Company’s common stock, the Board considered
objective and subjective factors in determining the fair vatue of the Company’s common stock, The Company believes this to have
been a reasonable methadology based upon the Company’s internal peer company analyses and based on arms-length transactions,
when applicable, involving the Company’s common stock supportive of the results produced by this valvation methodology.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, options to purchase 3,020,000 and 1,262,000 shares of common stock were
granted, respectively, at weighted exercise prices of $1.24 and $0.79, respectively. The weighted average fair value of the Company’s
common stock at option grant date for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was §1.17 and $0.78, respectively. Additionally,
1,928,500 shares of restricted stock were granted for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007,

In preparing for the initial public offering of the Company’s common stock, the Company reassessed the valvations of its
cornmion stock during 2006, in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA’Y”) Practice Aid,
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation (the “Practice Aid"'). In May 2006, the company
engaged an unrelated third-party valuation specialisl to assist management in providing a retrospective valuation report of option
grants during the first quarter of 2006 and a prospective valuation of the July 31, 2006 option grants. The third-party valuation
specialist valued the Company’s common stock (both voting and non-voting common stock) at approximately $0.30, $0.39 and $0.95
as of January 16, 2006, Febmary 10, 2006 and July 31, 2006, respectively, representing the dates when certain stock options were
granted.

The Company believes that the valuation methodologies that were used wers consistent with the Practice Aid. With the exception
of one option to purchase 60,000 shares on March 30, 2006, the Company has concluded that for all options granted to employees
during the two years ended December 31, 2005 and the period from January 1, 2006 to November 16, 2006, the fair value of its
common stock, for financial reporting purposes, did not exceed the exercise price for those options at the time of grant. The Company
granted stock options to purchase 6{,000 shares of non-voting common stock, on March 30, 2006, to an employee with an exercise
price of $0.38 per share, which was $0.12 per sharc below fair value as subsequently determined by the Board of Directors.
Compensation expense related to this grant was deemed to be immaterial. On July 19, 2006 the Company and the option holder agreed
to terminate the option grant. On July 31, 2006, the Company granted this employee an option to purchase 72,000 shares of comumon
stock at an exercise price of $0.95, which the Board determined to be the fair value at that date. No stock-based compensation expense
was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2005 as the exercise price of the Company’s stock options was equal to the estimated
fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

The Company accounts for transactions in which services are received from non-employees in exchange for equity instruments
based on the fair value of such services received or of the equity instruments issned, whichever is more relisbly measured, in
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) and EITF 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issuedto Other Than Employees for
Acquiring, or in Conpunction With Selling, Goods orServices”. The Company granted 455,000 shares of resericted common stock
during 2007 to non-employses in consideration for services performed. At the time of the grants, these shares of restricted stock had a
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fair value of approximately $523,000, based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date. The Company
recognized a charge of approximately $488,000 to sales and marketing expense in the statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2007 related to these grants.

The Company provides the disclosures as required by SFAS No. 148, “dccountingfor Stock-Based Compensation and Disclosure,
an Amendment of FASB Statement No.123"".

The following table illustrates the assumptions used and the effect on net income if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the
Company estimated the fair value of stock options issued to employees using the minimum value option-pricing model. The
Company’s use of the minimum value model was primarily due to the determination as to its appropriateness, as well as its general
acceptance as an option valuation technique for private companies.

The weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense for stock options granted to employees
and directors for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.63%t0 4.22%
Expected life 5 years
Volatility 0%

Had compensation cost for these awards been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income would have been
as follows:

2005
Net income available to common shareholders, as reported $ 1,040,051
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (7,499)

Net income available to common shareholders, pro forma
As Reported Per Share Amounts:

S 1032352

Basic net income per weighted average voting common shere b 0.02
Basic net income per weighted average non-voting common shere b 0.02
Diluted net income per weighted average common share b 0.02
Pro-forma Per Share Amounts:

Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average voting common share $ 0.02
Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average non-voting common share $ 0.02
Pro-forma diluted net income per weighted average common share $ 0.02

As stock options vest over several years and additional stock option grants are expected to be made each year, the above pro
forma disclosures are not necessarily representative of pro forma effects on results of operations for future periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In Decemnber 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No, 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”). SFAS No.
141(R) requires an acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all {and only) the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the transaction; establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurernent objective for all assets acquired and Habilities assumed;
and requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the information they need to evaluate and understand the nature
and financial effect of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008. The Company expects to adopt SFAS Na. 141(R) on January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements " (“SFAS
No. 160). SFAS No. 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling or minority interest in a subsidiary is considered an ownership interest and,
accordingly, requires all entitics to report such interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS No.
160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, The Company ¢xpects to adopt SFAS No. 160 on January 1,
2009,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (*SFAS No. 157"). This standard defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This pronouncement applies to other accounting standards that require or
permit
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fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurement, This statement i effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. In December of 2007, the FASB agreed
10 & onc year deferral of SFAS No. 157°s fair value measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and Habilities that are not
required or permitted to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company’s management is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS No. 157, but does not expect it to have a material impact on the Company’s 2008 consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.”
SFAS No. 159 allows entities the option to measure eligible financial instruments at fair value as of specified dates. Such election,
which may be applied on an instrument by instrument basis, is typically irrevocable once elected. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning afler November 15, 2007, The Company adopted SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but has not yet elected the fair
value option for any items permitted under SFAS No. 159,

NOTE 3 — TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
The Company generally does not directly invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, reports a significant portion of its receivables as
“unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the

energy consumets for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates.

Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006
Unbilled accounts receivable $ 1,619,440 § 1,698,665
Billed accourts receivable 263,793 4,133
1,883,233 1,702,798
Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,000) —
Trade accounis receivable,
net $§ 1,878,233 8 1,702,798
NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:
December 31,
2007 2006
Leaseheld improvements 3 65,451 $ 16,751
Equipment 426,781 225,051
Furniture and fixtures 418,974 194,552
911,206 436,354
Less accumnlated depreciation (315,256) (210,422)
Property and equipment, net § 595950 § 235,932

Depreciation ¢xpense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $104,834, $62,156 and $51,084, respectively.
Froperty and equipment purchased under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $271,104 for hoth years,
respectively. Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment purchased under capital lease was $182,872 and $137,758 at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 5 — SERIES A REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED 5TOCK

On November 16, 2006, in connection with its initial public offering, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to
eliminate all references to the Series A Preferred Stock and authorize 5,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value undesignated preferred
stock. No shares have been issued as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,

Prior to November 16, 2006, the Company had authorized 15,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value Series A Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”). The Series A Preferred had the following terms and conditions:

Dividends — In the event that the Company pays a dividend (other than a dividend payable solely in shares of common stock) on
its common stock, the holders of shares of Series A will be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as though it was
the holder of the number of shares of common stock into which its share of Series A is convertible as of the date fixed for the
determination of the holders of common stock entitled to receive the distribution.
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Automatic Conversion — Shares of Series A Preferred will automatically convert inio common stock at the applicable conversion
rate (one share of common stock for one share of Series A Preferred) in the eveni of: (1) the closing of an underwritten initial gublic
offering with aggregate proceeds to the Company of at least $10,000,000 and & per share price to the public of at least three times the
initfal conversion price {a “qualified public offering™) or (2) the election of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred.

Optional Conversion — The holders of Series A Preferred have the right to convert their shares, at any time, into shares of voting
common stock on a one for one basis.

Liquidation Preference — In the event of liquidation or winding up of the Company, each holder of Series A Preferred shall be
entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders in preference to the common
stockholders, in an amount equal to the price per share of the Series A Preferred or $0.146 (the “Liquidation Amount™). After the
payment of this amount to holders of Series A Preferred, the common stockholders will be entitled to receive any remaining assets of
the Company on: a pro tata basis. The following qualify as events that would trigger a liquidation: (1) a merger or consolidation {other
than one in which the stockholders, at the time of the merger or consolidation, continue to hold more than 50% of the stock of the
surviving entity) or (2) a sale or exclusive license of all or substantially all of the assets or inteliectual property of the Company.

Redemption Provisions — All shares of Series A Preferred will be redeemed by the Company, at the Liquidation Amount, at any
time after Janvary 31, 2009, if the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred request, by writien notice to
the Company, that the shares be redeemed. The shares will be redeemed within 60 days of the Company receiving such written notice,

The Company had classified the Series A Preferred outside of permanent equity due to its redemption feature being outside the
control of the Company. The activity within the Series A Preferred shares and redemption value for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

Number of Redemption
Shares Value

Balance, December 31, 2004 10,433,504 1,494,499

Accretion of stock issuance costs — 7,199
Balance, December 31, 2005 10,433,504 1,501,698

Accretion of stock issuance costs — 6,299

Conversion of Serics A Preferred into common stock (10.433,504) {1,507,997)
Balance, December 31, 2006 and 2007 — 8§ —

NOTE 6 — COMMON STOCK

On March 31, 2003, the Board increased the number of shares of 30,0001 par value common stock from 50,000,000 to
50,000,000, of which 75,000,000 were designated voting common stock (“Voting Common Stock™) and 15,000,000 were designated
as non-voting common stock {“Non-Voting Common Stock™).

On October 16, 2006, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of voting common
stock from 75,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Company had the authority
to issue after this amendment was 130,000,000, consisting of 15,000,000 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock, 100,000,000 shares of
Voting Common Stock and 15,000,000 shares of Series A Preferred.

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering of 27,441,064 shares of common stock at a price of
CDNS$1.05 (approximately US50.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares sold by the Company for gross
proceeds to the Company of CDN$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling stockholders for gross proceeds to such
stockholders of approximately CDN$7,800,000. In conmection with this offering, the Company amended ite Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 150,000,000 shares. The total mumber of shares
of all classes of stock which the Company has the authotity to issue after this amendment is 155,000,000, consisting of 150,060,000
shares of common stock and 5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock.

On December 5, 2006, the Company issued an additional 3,000,000 shares of common stock in accordance with an
over-allotment option granted to the underwriters of the initial public offering at a price of CDNS$1.05 (approximately US $0.92) per
share for gross proceeds to the Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to the Company from the initial public offering and
over-allotment option were approximately $17.5 million, after deducting the underwriting discount of $1.3 million and other direct
costs of $2.3 million.

As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 82,399,241, 76,511,741 and 33,049,473 shares of Voting Comamon Stock were issued
and outstanding, respectively, while 6,792,135 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock were issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2003. The hotders of the Non-Voting Common Stock had the same privileges and rights of the holders of the Voting Common Stock,
except for the right to vote. The 8,982,806 shares of Non-Voting Commen Stock automatically converted to Voting Common Stock at
the closing of the initial public offering of the Company’s commen stock.

Source: World Energy Salutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008 o?q L[
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On June 1, 2007, the Company issued 5,375,000 common shares of World Energy in connection with the acquisition of
substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway. The shares were valued at approximately $6,536,000 based on the average closing
price on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the two days before and after the announcement date of $1.22 per share. Approximately
2.175 million of the shares that the Company delivered to EnergyGateway in connection with this transaction (or the proceads upon
any sale thereof} are being held in escrow for 18 months following the closing of the sale to secure various indemnification obligations
of EnergyGateway and its members.

Guaranteed Return on Voting Common Stock

In 2002, a cettain sharcholder purchased shares of Voting Commen Stock of the Company and the Company agreed to pay an 8%
guaranteed return per year based on the initial investment of $200,000 with payments to continve until the earlier of a liquid market
for the Company’s equity or August 31, 2006, In accordance with SFAS 133, “ Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities”,
the Company bifurcated the guaranteed return on the Voting Common Stock at its then deemed fair valug of $66,651 and recorded the
guaranteed retum as a liability. The payments on the guaranteed return wete being amortized to principal and interest, asing the
interest method, through August 31, 2006. The Company has deemed the difference between the stated value and the fair value of the
derivative feature to be immaterial and hes not recorded a “mark-to-market” adjustment during the life of the feature.

Fair Value of Common Stock

The Company has granted common stock, common slock warrants, and common stock option awards (“equity awards™) to
consultants, employees, debt holders, and others since its inception. The Company’s determination of the fair value of the underlying
common stock is a significant aspect in accounting for these aforementioned equity awards in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

During each of the two years in the pericd ended December 31, 20086, the Company and the Board had determined the fair value
of the Series A Preferred, the Voting and Non-Voting Common Stock at each issuance of such equity awards. Prior to the
consummation of the Company’s initial public offering the fair valie of the Voiing and Non-Voting Common Stock had been
determined by the Board at the measurement date of each of the aforementioned equity awards, based on a variety of different factors
including, but not limited to the Company’s financial position and historical financial performance, the status of techmological
developments within the Company, the composition and ability of the current engineering, operations, and management team, an
evaluation and benchmark of the Company’s competition, the current climate in the marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common
stock, arms-fength sales and anticipated sales of the Company’s capital stock (including preferred stock), the effect of the rights and
preferences of preferred shareholders, independent third party appraisals, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others.

Treasury Stock

On March 14, 2006, the Company purchased 25,000 of its Voting Cemmon Stock from certain shareholders at $2.00 per share,
The excess of the purchase price and the then deemed fair value on the date of the purchase of $0.50 per share, or $37,500, has been
charged to general and administrative expense. On June 19, 2006, the Board voted to retire all its treasuty stock (700,346 shares)
which had a cost of $164,453.

Common Stock Warrants

At December 21, 2007, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 2,000,814 shares of common stock at a weighted
average exercise price of $0.54. During 2003, the Company issued warrants to purchase 3,000,000 shares of Voting Common Stock
connection with the subordinated note issued to Massachusetts Capital Resource Company, or MCRC. Of the warrants that were
issued in connection with this note, 600,000 were vested upon issuance and the remaining 2,400,000 did not vest and subsequently
expired due to the successful consummation of the Company’s initial underwritten public offering of its common stock on November
16, 2006. On December 4, 2006, MCRC exercised its warrant to purchase 600,000 shares of the Campany’s common stock at $0.40 in
connection with the redemption of the subordinated note by the Company.

On November 16, 2006 and December 5, 2006, the Company granted the underwriters of the initial public offering warrants to
purchase up to 1,000,000 and 150,000 shares of common stock, respectively at the initial public offering price. The warmrants are
exercisable at the 1-year anniversary of the warrants issuance (November 16, 2007 and December 5, 2007, respectively) and expire 13
months from the date of the one year anniversary (May 15, 2009 and June 4, 2009, respectively). These warrants allow for net share
settlement and certain of the holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. The Company valued the warrants at
$274,129 and recorded them as a component of additional paid-in capital. The following table summarizes the Company's warrant
activity:
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Weighted

Average
Exercise
Shares Price

Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2004 1,321,772 § 0.03
Granted 3,000,000 § 0.40
Exercised —_ 5 -
Canceled/expired — 8§ —
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2005 4321772 % 0.29
Granted 1,150000 35 0.92
Exercised (1,070,958} % 0.24
Canceled/expired (2,400,000) 3 0.40
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2006 and 2007 2000814 8 0.54

The weighed average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding is 1.3 years and 2.3 years as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

Stock Options

On May 9, 2003, the Company formally approved the adoption of the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”) amd authorized
15,000,000 shares for the grant of options to purchase shares of Voting Common Stock. As of December 31, 2007, 4,163,029 shares
of common stock were reserved under the 2003 Plan. No further grants are allowed nnder the 2003 Plan. On November 16, 2006, the
Company adopted the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan™) and authorized 4,738,161 shares of common stock for grant
thereunder. A summary of option activity under the Plans is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares Price
Outstending at December 31, 2004 6,664,200 § 0.03
Granted 440,000 § 0.24
Canceled {1,392,500) § 0.03
Exercised (240,000} § 003
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 5471,700 § 0.04
Granted 1,262,000 3§ 0.79
Canceled {60,000) § 0.38
Exercised (2,190,671) S 0.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 4,483,020 $ 0.26
Granted 3,020,000 3 1.24
Canceled (687,500) $ 0.82
Exercised (112,500) S .03
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 6703029 3§ 0.65
A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:
Options Outstanding Optioas Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Averape Average
Range of Remaining Apgrepate Number Remaining Aggrepate
Exercise Contractual Intringic Of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Prices Options Life Value Exercisable Life Value
$0.02 - $0.23 2,651,029 2.82 Years $ 2,081,058 2,646,029 2,82 Years $ 2,077,133
$0.24 -81.12 1,612,000 4.78 Years 391,300 670,625 4 87 Years 229263
$1.13-81.34 2,440,000 6.36 Years — 30,000 5.96 Years —
6,703,029 4.58 Years b 2,472,358 3,346,654 3.26 Years $ 2,306,396

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value of our outstanding options and exercisable
options as of December 31, 2007, The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2007 was
approximately $126,000. At December 31, 2007, the weighted average exercise price of options outstanding and exercisable was
$0.64 and $0.13, respectively. The weighted average fair value of option grants for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was
$0.58 and $0.36, respectively.
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Restricted Stock

A summary of restricted stock activity under the 2006 Plan for the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Qutstanding at December 31, 2006
Granted

Cancelled

Vested

Unvested at December 31, 2007

Weighted
Average
Shares Grant Price

— 3 —_
1,928,500 $% 1.13
(80,000) % 1.21
400,000) $ 1.21
1,448,500 § 1.1

There were 8,151,529 shares reserved for issuance under these plans, and 349,661 shares available for grant under the 2006 Plan

at December 31, 2007.

NOTE 7 — RELATED PARTIES

In 2006, the Company entered into a consulling agreement with & member of the Board to assist the Company with strategic
planning. Costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2007 were approximately $209,000 and were charged to general and

administrative expense. Amounts owed by the Company at December 31, 2007 on behalf of the agreement were $9,700.

NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES

The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows:

Depreciation and amortization
Commission income

Accruals and reserves

Prepaids

Net operating loss carryforwards

Valuation allowance

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:

Current income tax expense:
Federal
State

Deferred income tax expense (benefit):
Tederal
State

Total income tax expense (benefit)

December 31,
2007 2006

$ 166,694 3 22,242
(462,079) (266,310)
753,407 155,263
(13,428) 20,099

4,254 013 1,769,489
4,698,607 1,700,783
(4,608,607) 639,063
5 — $ 1,061,720

Years Ended December 31:

A reconciliation of the Company’s federal statutory tax rate to its effective rate is as follows:

Income tax at federal statutory rate
Increase {decrease) in tax resulting from:
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008

2007 2006 2003
5 — 5 — & —
823,703 (232,091} {588,120)
238,017 {72,137} 165,880
1,061,720 304,228 54.000)
§ 1,061,720 5§ {304,228) % {754,000)
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2008
(34.0% (34.0)% 34.0%
(6.3Y% (6.3)% 6.3%
0.7% 2.1% 2.3%
53.6% 0.0% 270.0)%
14.0% (38.1)% (227.4)%

24%
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As of December 31, 2007, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $10,800,000 which begin
to expire in 2022, and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $10,300,000, which begin to expire in 2008. A
valuation allowance is established, if it is more likely than not, that all ar a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “dccounting for ncomeTuxes"(“SFAS No, 109”).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed
to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the cxisting assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or lisbility from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some
or sll of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the peneration of firture
taxable income. In detenmining the valuation allowance, the Company considers past performance, expected firture taxable income,
and qualitative factors which are considered to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. The Company’s forecast of
expected future taxable income is for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. The Company has historically utilized a three
year forecasting window to determine its expected firre taxable income, As of December 31, 2006, the Company had curmulative net
income for the three years then ended and the expected future taxable income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed
adequate on a present valie basis to benefit the majority of our deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss
carryforwards). During 2007, the Company accelerated its growth in excess of its initial expeciations to address the strategic
initiatives outlined at the time of our iitial public offering. The Company grew from 20 employees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as
of December 31, 2007, acquired one of its main competitors in the retail energy market, and developed its wholesale and
environmental commeodity product lines. These initiatives increased the Company’s loss for 2007 resulting in a three-year cumulative
loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased its operating expenses. A three-year cumulative loss is significant negative evidence in
considering whether the deferred tax assets are realizable and generally precludes relying on projections of future taxable imcome to
support the recovery of deferred tax assets. While the Company expects its near term future income will be adequate on a present
value basis to benefit substantially all of its current deferred tax assets, the recent three-year cumulative loss is given more weight than
projected future income when determining the need for a valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company
recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets of approximately $4.1 million, and maintaing a cumulative vatuation
allowance of approximately $4.7 million at December 31, 2007.

The amount of the net deferred tax asset considered realizable at December 31,2007 could be reduced or mcreased in the near
term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period change.

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination
by the taxing authorities in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48. At December 31, 2007, there are
no expected material, aggregate tax effect of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in the financial
statements.

Under the provisions of the Internat Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership may have limited or
may limit in the future the amount of net operating loss carryforwards which could be utilized annually to offset future taxable income
and income tax liabilities. The amount of any annual limitation is determined based upon the Company’s value prior to an ownership
change.

NOTE 9 — COMMITMENTS
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases that expire through May 2011 and are collateralized by the related
equipment. The Company has accounted for these leases using an incremental borrowing rate of 8%. The Compaty maintains
operating leases for office space in seven locations in the United States, paid in installments du¢ the beginning of each month and that

expire through July 2012. Future aggregate minimum payments under capital and operating lesses as of December 31, 2007 were as
follows:
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Capital Operating

Leases Leases
2008 5 42223 % 304,537
2009 44,745 295,381
2010 3,192 152,275
2011 798 135,630
2012 — 42,973
Total future minimum lease payments 95958 § 930,796
Less: amounts representing interest (8112)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 87,846
Less: current portion 41,624
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion 3 46,222

The accompanying statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 includes $242,813, $118,902
and 878,800 of rent expense, respectively.

Service Agreement

In 2007, the Company entered into a service agreement with an unrelated party for a hosting environment and dedicated server for
the Company’s online energy procurement software, The terms of the agreement requires quarterly and monthly payments amounting
to approximately $8,400 per quarter. The agreement expires in May 2008,

NOTE 10 — ACQUISITION

On hme 1, 2007, the Company acquired substantiaily all of the assets of EnergyGateway for $4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000
common shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The shares were valued at approximately $6,536,000 based
on the average closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the two days before and after the announcement date of $1.22 per
share. Approximately 2.175 million of the shares that the Company delivered to EncrgyGateway in connection with this transaction
{or the proceeds upon any sale thereof) are being held in escrow for 18 months following the closing of the sale to secure various
indemnification obligations of EnergyGateway and its members. EnergyGateway, located near Columbus, Ohio, was an online broker
of natural gas and electricity for commercial and industrial consumers in the United States. It provided its customers with professional
energy purchasing services, including access to its proprietary ‘post and bid’ online procurement system called EGate.

The total purchase price was $11,440,358, net of cash acquired, and includes related acquisition costs of $229,500, plus the
assumption of certain liabilities of $138,128. The EnergyGateway operations have been included within our consolidated results from
June 1, 2007. The cost of the acquisition was allocated to the agsets and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair
values at the date of acquisition resulting in net assets of $8,261,657. The excess purchase price of 3,178,701 has been recorded as
goodwill which is fully deductible for tax purposes. Management is responsible for the valuation of net assets acquired and considered
a number of factors, including valuations and appraisals, when estimating the fair values and estimated unseful lives of acquired assets
and Liabilities. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company refined estimates recorded in the second quarter of 2007 and finalized
the valuation of intangible assets through a reduction of $660,000 in customer relationships resulting in a corresponding increase to
goodwill.

The Company has allocated the purchase price for the acquisition as foliows:

Current assets $ 247,938
Fixed assets 18,755
Other assets 3,002
Intangible assets
Non-compete agreements 680,000
Customer relationships 4,740,000
Customer contracts 500,000
Supplier agreements 380,000
Peveloped technology 1,830,000
Goodwill 3,173,701
Current liabilities (138,128}

Net assets acquired $ 11,440,358

-63-
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The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average lives as
follows: non-compete agreements — | to 5 years; customer relationships — [0 years; cusiomer contracts — 3 years; supplier agreements

— 5 years; and developed techmology — 5 years.

The following unaudited pro forma information assumes that the acquisition of EnergyGateway assets had been compieted as of

January 1, 2006:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Revenues $ 10,461,780 § 8,617,678
Net loss available to common stockholders b3 (9,448,352) § {1,719.847)

Loss per share:

Net loss available to common
stockholders per share — basic $ w12y % (0.03}
Net loss available to common
stockholders per share — diluted 3 ©12) § (0.03)
Weighted average number of common
and common equivalent shates
outstanding — basic 82,017,220 50,951,477
Weighted average number of common
and common equivalent shares
outstanding — diluted 82,017,220 50,951,477

The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future as a result of the

acquisition of EnergyGateway.

NOTE 11 — 401(k) PLAN

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company established the World Energy Solutions, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plan”)
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering all eligible employees. Employees of the Company may participate in
the 401{k) Plan after reaching the age of 21. The Company may make discretionary matching contributions as determined from time
to time. Employee contributions vest immediately, while Company matching contributions begin to vest afier one year service and
continue to vest at 20% per year over the next five years. To date, the Company has not made any discretionary confributions to the

401{k) Plan.

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement by and among World Energy Solutions, Inc., EnergyGateway, LLC and the Members of
EncrgyGateway, LLC dated May 23, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our report on Form 8-K filed
May 24, 2007 (File No. 333-136528)).

3.1 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to
out Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

32 Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to our Registration
Statement of Form 5-1(File No. 333-136528)).

4.1 Specimen Certificate evidencing shares of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration
Statement of Form S-1{File No. 333-136528)).

10.14 2003 Stock Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Staternent of Form S-1(File
No. 333-136528)).

102+ 2006 Stock Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Registration Statesnent of Form S-1(File
No. 333-136528)).

103 Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated November 7, 2005, between World Energy and Massachusetts Capital
Resource Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File
No. 333-136528)).

104 Subordinated Note due 2013, dated November 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Registration
Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.5 Voting Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated November 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our
Registration Statement of Form S-1{File No. 333-136528)).

10.6 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.7 Solicitation/Contract/Order for Commercial [tems, dated September 28, 2003, between U.S. General Services
Administration and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.8 Agreement to Provide Software and Support for a Reverse Energy Auction Procurement to the Maryland Department of
General Services, dated March 16, 2006, by and between World Energy and the State of Maryland (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10,8 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.9 Contract, dated January 9, 2006, by and between Montgomery County, Maryland and World Eergy (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.10 Emergency Purchase/Interim Agreemens, dated March 28, 2006, by and between the Commonwealth of Penngylvania,
Department of General Services and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration
Statement of Form 8-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.11 Professional Services Agreement, dated June 1, 2005, between World Energy and Science Applications International
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement of Form 8-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.12 Escrow Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File
No. 333-136528)).

10.13+  Offer letter agreement, dated October 1, 2003, between World Energy and Philip V. Adams (incorporaied by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 to our Registration Statement of Form $-1(File No. 333-136528)).

10.14+  Offer letter agreement, dated April 5, 2006, between World Energy and James Parslow (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No, 333-136528)).

10.15  Lease, dated September 8, 2004, between Sovereign Bank and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15
to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).
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10.16

10.17

10.18

21.1*
231*
31.1*

31.2%

Lease, dated June 21, 2006, between Roosevelt Land, LP and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Warrant being issued to Underwriters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No, 333-136528)).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement with Underwtiters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to our Registration
Statement of Form S-1(File No, 333-136528)).

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of UHY LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule i5d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act.

-65-
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32.1*  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(b} under the Securities Exchange Act.
32.2*%  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act.

* Filed herewith
+ Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Subsidiary State of Incorporation

World Energy Securities Corp. Massachusetts

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of World Encrgy Solutions, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-1140014) and Form 8-3 (File
No. 333- 147301) of our reports dated March 12, 2008, relating to the consolidated financial statements of World Energy Solutions,
Inc. (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s change in its
method of accounting for share based payments upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment ", effective January 1, 2006) and the effectiveness of World Energy Solutions, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting dated March 12, 2008, appearing in this Annual Report to Shareholders, which is included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of World Energy Solutions, Inc., for the year ended December 31, 2007.

/s UHY LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2008

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Richard Domaleski, Chief Executive Officer of World Energy Solutions, Ine. (the “Company”), certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this anmual report on Form 10-K of the Company.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report,

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material tespects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report.

4.  The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relaling fo the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
staterments for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Ewalvated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the cffectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intetnal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the andit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opetation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employess who have a significant role in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 13, 2008 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008



CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

L, James Parslow, Chief Financial Officer of World Energy Solutions, Inc. {the “Company™), certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annusl report on Form 10-K of the Company.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit fo state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report.

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disctosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial repotting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed wnder our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such interal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contrels and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and T have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the sudit commiites of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting,

Dated: March 13, 2008 By: /s/ James Parslow

James Parslow
Chief Financial Officer

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K (the “Report™) for the year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Richard Domaleski, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursnant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbancs-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and resulés of
operations of the Company.

Dated: March 13, 2008 By: f&/ Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document autheaticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.5.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of World Energy Solutions, Inc. {the “Company™) on Form 10-K {the “Report”™) for the year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, [, James Parslow, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 1.8.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company.
Dated: March 13, 2008 By: /sf James Parslow
James Parslow
Chief Finsncial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished ta the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request,

Created by 10KWizard www. 10K Wizard.com

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-K, March 13, 2008
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Exhibit C-2 “SEC Filings”

World Energy Solutions, Inc. has attached Form 10-Q and Form 8-K filed with the SEC.
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FORM 10-Q

World Energy Solutions, Inc. - WLDE
Filed: November 06, 2008 (period: September 30, 2008)

Quarterly report which provides a continuing view of a company's financial position
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

= Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2008; or

0 Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934
For the transition petiod from to

Commission file number: 333-136528

World Energy Solutions, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 04-3474959
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR.S. Employer Identification Number)
446 Main Street
Worcester, Massachusetis 01608
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
508-459-8100

{Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: {1} has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the past 12 months {(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller
reporting company. See definition of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smailer reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer O Accelerated Filer X

Non-Accelerated Filer O Smaller Reporting Company L3

{Do not check if 2 smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Aci).
Yes O No

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s ¢lasses of common stock, as of the latest practicable date: As of
November 1, 2008, the registrant had 84,814,728 shares of common stock outstanding,

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-Q, November 06, 2008 o? (_(0 [0



PART L.

Ttem 1.

Itern 2.

Item 3,

Item 4.

PART 1L

Item 1,

Item 1A,

Item 2.

Item 3.

Item 4.

Item 5.

Item 6.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Financial Information

Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30,
2008 and 2007

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 and
2007

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

Controls and Procedures

Other Information

Legal Proceedings

Risk Factors

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Other Information

Exhibits

10

21

21

22

22

22

22

23

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-Q, November 08, 2008

7



PART}
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30, December 31,

2008 2007
Assets (Unaudited)
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,756,829 § 7,001,384
Trade accounts receivable, net 2,962,684 1,878,233
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 403,961 338,049
Total current assets 5,123,474 9,218,166
Property and equipment, net 524,275 595,950
Capitalized software, net 587,183 463,888
Intangibles, net 6,285,637 7,316,916
Goodwill 3,178,701 3,178,701
Other assets 27,594 26,944
Total assets 3 15,726,864 $ 20,800,565
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Jiabilities
Accounts payable $ 545986 $ 980,488
Accrued commissions 669,801 712,919
Accrued compensation 1,381,742 1,516,418
Accrued expenses 401,602 279,162
Deferred revenue and customer advances 851,237 363,933
Capital lease obligations 41.630 41,624
Total current liabilities 3,891,998 3,894,544
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 14.686 46,222
Total liabilities 3,906,684 3,940,766
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or

outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 83,509,840 shares issued

and 83,438,825 shares outstanding at September 30, 2008, and 82,399,241 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2007 8,351 8,240
Additional paid-in capital 30,499,580 29,704,831
Accumulated deficit (18,609,351) (12,853,272)
Treasury stock, at cost; 71,015 shares at September 30, 2008 and no shares at December 31,

2007 (78,400) —
Total stockholders’ equity 11,820,180 16,859,799
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity - $ 15,726,864 § 20,800,565

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Sourca: Warld Energy Solutio, 10-Q, November (8, 2008 02 ég



WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revennue:
Brokerage commissions and transaction fees
Management fees
: Total revenue
! Cost of reveniue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses

Operating loss
Interest income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

Net loss

Loss per share:
Net loss per common share —basic

Net loss per common share —dituted

Weighted average shares outstanding —basic and dituted

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
§ 298,110 $ 2,350,516 $§ 8184250 & 5674775
303,405 324,827 980,477 428.897
3,289,515 2,675,343 9,164,727 6,103,672
1,113,325 787,517 3,626,237 1,853,660
2,176,190 1,387,826 5,538,490 4,250,012
2,355,907 3,028,912 7,770,567 5,965,261
1,041,321 1,876,618 3,562,946 4274415
3,397,228 4,905,330 15,333,513 10,239,676

(1,221,038) (3,017,704) (5,795,023) {5,9859,664)

5218 108,155 38,044 482,438

{1,215,820) {2,909,509) (5,756,079) (5,507,226)

— 1,099,125 — 2,079,836

$ (12158200 8 (1,810384) § (5,756,079 §_(3,427,390)

g (001 § (0.02) 007y % {0.04)

3 0.01) § 0.02) $ {007 § {0.04)

83,215,951 81,943,263 82,875,299 78,932,803

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-Q, November 08, 2008
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC,
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaundited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (5756,079) $ (3.427,390)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,313,692 608,213
Deforred taxes — (2,079,836)
Share-based compensation 770,383 779,975
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisition:
Trade accounts receivable (1,084,451) (3689,411)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (66,562) (146,725)
Accounts payable {434,502) 431,502
Accrued commissions (43,118) (386,089
Accrued compensation {134,676) §44,077
Accrued expenses 122,440 48,465
Deferred revenue and customer advances 487,304 54,398
Net cash used in operating activities {4,825,569) (3,662,821)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cost incurred in software development (293,329) (329,995)
Net cash paid in acquisition of EncrgyGateway, net of cash acquired —_ (4,904,358)
Purchases of property and equipment (40,704) (355,272)
Net cash used in investing activities (334,033) (3,589.625)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 16,669 —

Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants 7.808 —
Purchase of treasury stock (78,400) —
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (31,530) (41,724)
Net cash used in financing activities (85,453) (41,724
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,245,055) (9,294,170)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of periad 7,001,884 17,483,886
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period § 1756829 § 8,189,716

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Net cash received for interest $ 43,823 % 525,691

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair vatue of common stock issued in acquisition of EnergyGateway, net of issuance costs § — § 6,523,232
Reversal of accrued expenses related to initial public offering of common stock $ — ¥ 48,466

See accompanying notes to condensed consclidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unandited)

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction platforms,
the World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange, On the World Energy Exchange, retail energy consumers (commercial,
industrial and government) and wholesale energy participants (utilities and retail suppliers) in the United States are sble to negotiate
for the purchase or sale of elecmmty and other energy resources from competing energy supphe.ts which have agresd to participate on
our auction platform in a given auction. Although the Compeny’s primary source of revenue is from brokering electricity and natural
gas, the Company adapted its World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of green power in 2003 (i.e.,
electricity generated by renewable resources), wholesale electricity in 2004 and certain other energy-related products in 2005. In
2007, the Company created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy Exchange technology and business process. On
the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the purchase or sale of environmental commodities such as Renewable
Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions, and Certified Emissions Reductions and Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative
allowances.

2. Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursnant io the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding interim reporting. Accordingly, they do oot include all of the
information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“generally accepted
accounting principles™) for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements
inchided in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

In the opinion of the Company’s management, the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and include all adjustments consisting of normal recurring
adjustments and accruals necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2008, the results
of its operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 and its cash flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
lizbilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates,

The Company’s most judgmental estimates relate to revenue recognition and the estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy
supplier by the end user of such energy; the fair value of the Company’s equity securities where there was no ready market for the
purchase and sale of those shares prior to our November 16, 2006 initial public offering of common stock; the valuation of intangible
assets and goodwill; and estimates of future taxable income as it relates to the realization of the Company’s net deferred tax assets.
The effect of those estimates could have a material impact on the Company’s estimation of commission revenue, accounts receivable,
intangible assets, accrued commission expense, income taxes, share-based corpensation and eamnings per share.

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement Ne. 157, Fair Value
Measurements ("FAS 1577), which clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, end expands
the disclosures on fair value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position 157-2, Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-2”), that deferred the effective date of FAS 157 for one year for nonfinencial assets and liabilities
recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis. The effect of adoption of FAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair
value on a recurring basis did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. The Company
is assessing the impact of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and lisbilities.
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3. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company only had one issued and outstanding class of stock — common stock. As 2 result,
the basic loss per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, is computed by dividing net
loss for the pertod by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the periad.

The computed loss per share does not assume conversion, exercise, or conlingent exercise of securities that would bhave an
anti-dilutive effect on loss per share. As the Company was in 2 met loss position for the reported periods, all common stock
equivalents were anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted average number of basic and diluted voting common shares outstanding for
the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 were 83,215,951 shares and 81,943,263 shares, respectively, and the weighted
average number of basic and diluted voting common shares outstanding for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 were
82,875,299 shares and 78,932,803 shares, respectively,

For the three months ended September 30, 2008, 594,731, 2,621,743 and 175,319 weighted average shares issuable relative to
common stock warrants, common stock options and restricted stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the
inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net loss position. For the three months ended September 30,
2007, 754,870 and 1,078,834 and 622,370 weighted average shares issnable relative to commeon stock warrants, common stock
options and restricted stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of such shares would be
anti~dilutive due to the Company’s net loss position.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, 862,162, 2,638,738 and 404,911 weighted average shares isguable relative to common
stock warrants, common stock options and restricted stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of
such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net loss position. For the nine months ended September 30, 2007, 666,926,
1,887,340 and 272,538 weighted average shares issuable relative to common stock warrants, common stock options and restricted
stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilative due to the
Company’s net loss position.

At September 30, 2008, 1,150,000 shares and 2,258,250 shares issuable relative to common stock warrants and common stock
options, respectively, had exercise prices that exceeded the average market price of the Company’s common stock during the three
months ended September 30, 2008 and were excluded from the ealculation of diluted shares since the inclusion of such shares would
be anti-dilutive. At September 30, 2008, 598,903 shares of restricted stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares
during the three months ended September 30, 2008, since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive,

At September 30, 2008, 1,516,250 shares issuable relative to common stock options had exercise prices that exceeded the average
market price of the Company’s common stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and were excluded from the
calculation of diluted shares since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive. At September 30, 2007, 2,320,000 shares
issuable relative to common stock options had exercise prices that exceeded the average market price of the Compagy’s common
stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares since the inclusion
of such shares would be antj-dilutive. At September 30, 2008, 428,903 shares of restricted stock were excluded from the caleulation
of diluted shares during the nine months ended September 30, 2008, since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive.

4, Concentration of Credit Risk and Ofi-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company 1o concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and trade
accounts receivable. The Company had no significant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange contracts, open contracts, or
other foreign hedging arrangements. The Company places its cash with primarily one institution, which management believes is of
high credit quality. As of September 30, 2008, approximately $1.4 million of our cash and cash equivalents was invested in a highly
liguid, U.8. Treasury money market fund,

The Company receives commission payments from energy suppliers based on the energy usage transacted between energy consurners
and energy suppliers. The Company provides credit in the form of invoiced and unbilled accounts receivable to energy suppliers in
the normal course of business. Collateral is not required for trade accounts receivable, but periodic credit evaluations of energy
suppliers are performed. Management provides for an allowence for doubtful accounts on a specifically identified basis, as well as
through historical experience applied o an aging of accounts, if necessary. Trade accounts receivable are written off when deemed
uncollectible. To date, write-offs have not been material.
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The following represents revenue and trade accounts receivable from energy suppliers exceeding 10% of the total in ¢ach category:

Revenue for the three months Revenue for the nine months Trade Accounts Receiveble as of
ended September 30, ended September 30, September 30,
Energy
Supplier 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
A 24% 23% 22% 21% 26% 25%
B 7% 6% 7% 7% 13% 4%
C 9% 11% 7% 13% 14% 16%

In addition to its direct relationship with energy suppliers, the Company alse bas direct contractusl relationships with energy
consumers for the online procurement of certain of their energy needs. These epergy consumers are primarily large businesses and
government organizations. For the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, one and two of these energy consumers
accounted for transactions resulting in over 10% individually, and approximately 15% and 26% in the aggregate of our revenme,
respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, two of these energy consumers accounted for transactions
resulting in over 10% individually and approximately 24% and 33% in the aggregate, respectively.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income", establishes standards for
reporting and displaying comprehensive income (loss) and its companents in financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is

defined as the change in stockholders’ equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. The comprehensive loss for all periods presented does not differ from the reported net loss.

5. Trade Accounts Receivable, Net

The Company generally does not directly invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, reports a significant portion of its receivables as
“unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the
energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates.

Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following:

September 30, December 31,

2008 2007
Unbilled accounts receivable $ 2,083,803 § 1,619.440
Billed accounts receivable 883,791 263,793
) 2,967,634 1,883,233
Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,000) (5,000}
Trade accounts receivable, net 3 2962684 % 1,878,233

6. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:

September 30, December 31,

2008 2007
Leaschold improvements $ 65451 § 65,451
Equipment 452,312 426,781
Furniture and fixtures 434,147 418,974
951,910 911,206
Less accumulated depreciation {427.635) (315.256)
Property and equipment, net 3 524275 § 595,950

Depreciation expense for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was $36,967 and 528,064, respectively. Depreciation
expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was $112,379 and 368,720, respectively. Property and equipment
purchased under capital lease obligations as of September 30, 2608 and December 31, 2007 was $189,524 and $271,104, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment purchased under capital lease was $125.944 and $182,872 at September 30,
2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.
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7. Share-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment”, the Company recognizes the compensation cost of share-based awards
on a straight-line basis over the requisite scrvice period of the award. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, share-based
awards consisted of grants of restricted stock, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, share-based awards consisted of
grants of restricted stock and stock options. The restrictions on the restricted stock lapse over the vesting period. The vesting period
of restricted stock is determined by the Board of Directors, and is generally four years for employees. The per-share weighted-average
fair value of stock options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was $0.58 on the date of grant, using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Nine-months ended Expected Risk Expected Expected
September 30, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Option Life Volatility
2007 — 4.66% 4.6] years 54%

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of approximately
$268,000 and $770,000 in connection with share-based payment awards, respectively. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2007, the Company recorded share-based commpensation expense of approximately $657,000 end $780,000 in
connection with share-based payment awards, respectively. The approximate total share-based compensation expense included in the
condensed consolidated staternents of operations for the periods presented is included in the following expense categories:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended September
September 30, 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
Cost of revenue 5 43,000 § 22000 § 148,000 § 53,000
Sales and marketing 208,000 581,000 512,000 637,000
General and administrative 17,000 54,000 110,000 90,000
Total share-based compensation $§ 268000 % 657000 § 770000 $ 780,000

The Company has two stock incentive plans: the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2003 Plan, and the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, or
the 2006 Plan. As of September 30, 2008, 3,582,300 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2003 Plan. No further grants
are allowed under the 2003 Plan. During the second quarter of 2008, stockholders approved an amendment to the 2006 Plan to
increase the number of shares of common stock covered by the plan by 4,000,000 shares. As of September 30, 2008, 3,738,161 shares
of common stock were reserved under the 2006 Plan representing 1,516,250 outstanding stock options, 2,258,500 shares of restricted
stock granted and 4,963,411 shares available for grant. A summary of stock option activity under both plans for the nine months
ended September 30, 2008 is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Stock Options _Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 6,703,029 § 0.65
Granted — 5 —
Cancelled (1,023,750) § 1.30
Exercised (580,729) § 0.03
Outstanding at September 30, 2008 5,098,550 § 0.59

A summary of restricted stock activity under the 2006 Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares Grant Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 1,448,500 % 1.10
Granted 774,000 $ 0.88
Cancelled (364,000) § 1.04
Vested !269=597l $ 1.17
Unvested at September 30, 2008 1,588,903 $ 1.00

For Company employees, vested restricted stock awards were net-share settled such that the Company withheld shares with
value equivalent to employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes, and remitted the
cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. The total shares withheld of 71,015 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 was
based on the value of the restricted stock on their vesting date as determined by the Company's closing stock price. Total payment for
employees’ tax obligations was approximately $78,400. These net-share settlements had the effect of share repurchases by the
Company as they reduced the mumber of shares that would have otherwise been issued as a result of the vesting and did not represent
an expense to the Company.
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A summary of common stock options outstanding and common stock options exercisable as of September 30, 2008 is as
follows:

Options Outstanding Qptions Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Range of Remaining Appregate Number Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Coniractual Intrinsic Of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Prices Options Life Value Exetcisable Life Value
0.02 -
$  $0.23 2,080,306 2.09 Years $ 270,477 2,080,300 2.09 Years $ 870477
0.24 -
§ $§L.12 1,502,000 4.35 Years 107,013 946,000 4.18 Years 87,227
1.13 -
$ §$1.34 1,516,250 5.57 Years — 493,125 5.51 Years —
5,098,550 379Years $ 977.490 3519425  3.13 Years $ 057,704

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the ninc months ended September 30, 2008 was $415,718. At
September 30, 2008, the weighted average exercise price of common stock options outstanding and exercisable was $0.59 and $0.35,
respeciively.

During the second quarter of 2008, stockholders voted to authorize an amendment the Company’s Certificate of Incarporation
which would effect a reverse stock split of our common stock in amy one of the following ratios: one-for-two, one-for-three,
one-for-four, one-for-five, one-for-six, one-for-seven, one-for-eight, one-for-nine and one-for-ten at any time prior to May 21, 2009.
The exact ratio and the discretion of whether or when to effect the reverse stock split is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. To
date, the Board has not effected a reverse stock split.

8. Credit Arrangement

On September 8, 2008, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, World Energy Securities Corp., entered into a Loan and
Security Agreement (the “Agreement™) with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVD™). Under the Agreemens, SVBE has committed to make
advances to the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $3,000,000, subject to availability against certain eligible account
receivables, eligible retail backlog and maintenance of financial covenants. The ercdit facility bears interest at a floating mate per
annum based on SVB’s prime rate plus threc-quarters of one percentage point (0.75%) on advances made against eligible accounts
receivable and prime plus one-and-one-half of one percentage point (1.5%) on advences made against eligible retail backlog. These
interest rates are subject to change based on the Company’s maintenance of an adjusted quick ratio of one-to-one. All unpaid principal
and accrued interest is due on September 7, 2009 (the “Maturity Date™). Until the Maturity Date, the Company is only required to pay
interest, with each such payment due in arrears on the last calendar day of each month.

There were no outstanding borrowings from the credit facility at September 30, 2008 and the Company was in compliance with
its covenants as of September 30, 2008.

9. Acquisftion

On June £, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway LLC, or EnergyGateway, for
$4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000 common shares of World Enerpy plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The shares were valued
at approximately $6,536,000 based on the average closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the two days before and after the
announcement date of $1.22 per share. Approximately 2.175 million of the shares that the Company delivered to EnergyGateway in
connection with this transaction are, or their cash value, if liquidated is, being held in escrow for 18 months following the closing of
the sale to secure various indemnification obligations of EnergyGateway and its members. EnergyGateway, located near Columbnus,
Ohio, was an online broker of natural pas and eleciricity for commercial and mdustrial consumers in the United States. It provided its

customers with professional energy purchasing services, including access io its proprietary *post and bid” online procurement system
called EGate.
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The total purchase price was $11,440,358, net of cash acquired, and includes related acquisition costs of $229,500, plus the
assumption of certain liabilities of approximately $138,128. The EnergyGateway operations have been included within our
consolidated results from June 1, 2007. The cost of the acquisition was allocated to the assets and liabilities assumed based on
estimates of their respective fair values at the date of acquisition resulting in net assets of $8,261,657. The excess purchase price of
$3,178,701 has been recorded as goodwill which is fully deductible for tax purposes. Management is responsible for the valuation of
net assets acquired and considered a number of factors, including valuations and appraisals, when estimating the fair values and
estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company refined estimates recorded in
the second quarter of 2007 and finalized the valuation of intangible assets through a reduction of $660,000 in customer relationships
resulting in a corresponding increase to goodwill.

The Company has allocated the purchase price for the acquisition as follows:

Current assets $ 247,938
Fixed assets 18,755
Other assets 3,092
Intangible assets
Non-compete apreements 630,600
Customer relationships 4,740,000
Customer contracts 500,000
Supplier agreetments 330,000
Developed technology 1,830,000
Guoodwill 3,178,701
Current liabilities (138,128)
Net assets acquired $ 11,440,358

The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average lives as follows:
non-compete agreements ~ 1 to 5 vears; customer relationships — 10 years; customer contracts ~ 3 years; supplier agreements — 5
years; and developed technology — 5 years. Pursuant to SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the

performs an annual impairment test for goodwill, with eny excess of the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied
fair value of the poodwill recorded as an impairment loss.

The following unaudited pro forma information assumes that the acquisition of EnergyGateway assets had been completed as of the
beginning of 2007:

Nine Months
Ended September
30, 2007

Revenues b 7,377,187
Net loss available to common stockholders 3 (3,934,464)
Loss per share:
Net loss available to common stockholders per share — basic $ {0.05)
Net loss available to carnmon stockholders per share — diluted 3 (0.05)
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares

outstanding — basic 81,903,789
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares

outstanding — diluted 81,903,789

The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future as a result of the acquisition
of EnergyGateway.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q) including this Item 2, caonfains forward-looking statemenis within the meaning of Section 274 of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which invoive risks and
uncertainties. Readers can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "“may,” “could,” “should,” “would,”
“intend,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue” or similar words. The Company s actual resuits and the
timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results and timing discussed in the forward-looking stmements. Factors that
could cause or confribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed or referred to in this report and in the
“Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K and any later publicly available filing with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The following discussion and analysis of the Company s financial condition and resulis of operations should be read in

light of those factors and in confjunction with the Company ¥ accomparnying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

Overview

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has develaped online auction platforms,
the World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange, tetail energy consumers (commercial,
mdustrial and government, or CIG) and wholesale energy participants (utilities and retail suppliers) in the United States are able to
negotiate for the purchase ar sale of electricity and other energy resources from competing energy suppliers which have agreed o
participate on our auction platform in a given auction. The World Energy Exchange is supplemented with information about market
rules, pricing trends, energy consumer usage and load profiles. Our procurement staff uses this auction platform to conduct auctions,
analyze results, guide energy consumers through contracting, and track their contracts, sites, accounts and vsage history. Although our
primary source of revenue is from brokering electricity and natural gas, we adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to
accommodate the brokering of green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources), wholesale electricity in 2004
and certain other energy-related products in 2005. In 2007, we created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy
Exchange technology and business process. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the irchase or sale of
environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions, Certified Emissions Reductions
and Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative allowances.

On June 1, 2007, we acquired subsiantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway LLC, or EnergyGateway, for $4,951,758 in cash
and 5,375,000 of our common shares plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The EnergyGateway operations are included in our
financial statements from June 1, 2007. EnergyGateway provided energy procurement and value-added energy services to customers
in many major industries in the U.S. and Canada, from large multi-site Fortune 500 industrials to middle-market manufacturing and
small commercial operations.

Since our initial public offering (IPO) in November 2006, we have aggressively grown the Company from 20 employces to 56
at September 30, 2007 to 58 as of September 30, 2008, This planned investment has allowed us to pursue our strategic initiatives as
outlined in our IPO resulting in a more than 250% growth in revenue. Qur cost structure has increased correspondingly. The majority
of our infrastructure investment was made during the first 9-months of 2007 and our fixed operating cost structure has remained
stable since the fourth quarter of 2007 and declined in Q3 2008. We believe that our fixed operating cost structure will remain at, or
decreasc from, current levels in the short-term. However, a poriion of our operating costs, inchuding channel partner and internal
commission structures, are variable in nature and will increase as revenue levels increase. While we do expect there will be changes
within our workforce in the future, we believe that we have the necessary resources to pursue our strategic initiatives.

Beginning in the latter half of the first quarter and continuing inta the early part of the third quarter, there was a sharp rise in
electricity and natural gas prices. We believe that these increases caused some of our customers in our wholesale and retail product
lines to delay their energy procurement decisions. We have seen these rapid increases in commeodity prices before and, based on our
pricr experience, we believe that customers who are now on the sidelines witl come back to transact on our platform either when they
have to renew their contract due to expiration, prices come down to a levet at which they are comfortable, or if they believe that the
then-present environment represents a new market level. During the latter half of July 2008 we began to observe a contraction in
electricity and natural gas prices. We believe this contraction contributed to an increase in procurement activity in both the retail and
wholesale product lines in the third quarter as compared to levels in the second quarter.
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Operations

Revenue
Retail Flectricity Transactions

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online anction platform from each energy supplier
based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy
supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Our contractual commission rate is negotiated with the
energy consumer on a procurement-by-procurement basis based on energy consumer specific circurastances, inchuding size of auction,
internal effort required to organize and run the respective guction and competitive factors, among others. Once the contractual
commission is agreed to with the energy consumer, ell energy suppliers participating in the auction agree to that rate. That commission
rate remains fixed for the duration of the contractual term regardless of energy usage. Energy consumers provide us with a Jetter of
authority to request their usage history from the local utility. We then use this data to compile a usage profile for that energy consumer
that will become the basis for the auction, This data may also be used to estimate revenue on a going forward basis, as noted below.

Historically, our revenue and operating results have varied from quarter-to-quarter and are expected to continue to fluctyate in
the future. These fluctuations are primarily due to energy usage, particularly electricity, having higher demand in our second and third
quarters and lower demand during our fourth and first quarters. In addition, the activity levels on the World Encrgy Exchange can
fluctuate due to a number of factors, including geopolitical events, weather conditions and market prices. To the exient these factors
affect the purchasing decisions of energy cansumers our future results of operations may be affected.

Contracts between energy suppliers and energy consumers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract
term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts typically having two to three year
terms. As a result of recent commodity price fluctuations, we have seen our commercial and industrial customers contracting for
maultiple year terms. Our revenue has grown over the last three years through new participants utilizing our World Energy Exchange as
well as energy consumers increasing the size or frequency of their transactions on our exchange platform.

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility,
but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual retationships with energy
suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage. The second
component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees, Transaction
fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas and electricity
awards are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the
supplier upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied
by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services
rendered based on terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas
transactions are accounted for in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by
the customer and recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recoguition methodology
described above.

For wholesale energy and environmental commodity transactions, substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the
conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the
completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the
bidder. For forward auctions where s lister is selling energy ot credits, the fees are typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue
may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned have been verified and/or delivered. While
substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage of our wholesale revenue is
accounted for as electricity or gas is delivered similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology described above.
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Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily oft
. salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation associated with our auction management services, which are
directly related to the development and production of the online auction and maintenance of market-related data on our
auction platformm and monthly management fees (our supply desk function);
. amortization of capitalized costs associated with our auction platform and acquired developed technology; and
+  rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of:
+  salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to sales and marketing personnel;
. third party commission expenses to our channel partners;
= travel and related expenses;
. amortization related to customer refationships and contracts;
= rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs; and
. general marketing costs such as trade shows, marketing materials and outsourced services.
General and adminisirative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of:
= salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to general and administrative personnel;
= accounting, legal, recruiting and other professional fees; and
. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.
Interest income (expense), net
Interest income (expense), net consists primarily oft
«  interest income related to the invested portion of the proceeds from our inftial public offering; and

* interest expense related to capital leases.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items as a percent of revenue for the periods presented:

For the Three Months For the Nine Manths
___ EndedSeptember3), _ ____Ended September30,
2008 2007 2008 2007

Revenue 100% 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenue 34 29 40 30
Gross profit 66 71 60 70
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 71 113 &4 98
General and administrative 32 70 39 70
Operating loss (37 (112) (63) (98)
Interest income, net —_ 4 — ]
Income tax benefit — 41 — 34
Net loss 3% {67)% (63)% (56)%

Comparison af the Three Months Ended September 30, 2008 and 2007

Revenue
For the Three Months Ended September 30,
2008 2007 Increase
Revenue $ 3,289,515 $ 2675343 § 614,172 23%

Revenue increased 23%, primarily due to increased auction activity in all of our product lines and new customer wins, The
revenue increase reflects the growth in our wholesale customer base to 38 at September 30, 2008 from 7 at September 30, 2007. In
addition, the third quarter of 2008 benefited from increased activity in our retail product line including record commercial and
industrial bookings generated by our international sales force, strong renewal rates, an increase to 54 channel partners as of September
30, 2008 from 36 as of September 30, 2007 and large state government procurements run during 2007. Of the 54 channel partners, 30
had contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the exchange in 2008 as compared to 23 during 2007,

Cost of revenue
For the Three Months September 30,
2008 2007
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase
Cost of revenue $1,113,325 34% $787,517 29% §325.808  41%

The 41% increase in cost of revere related to the three month period ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the same
period in 2007 was substantially due to an increase in salary and benefit costs, costs associated with three additional supply desk
employees and, to a lesser extent, increased travel costs and amortization related to developed technalogy acquired. Cost of revenue as
a percent of revenue increased 5% due to the cost increases noted above pattially offset by the 23% increase in revenue.

Operating expenses
For the Three Months Ended September 30,
2008 2007
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Decrease
Sales and marketing $2,355,907 71% $3,028,912 113% § (673,005) (22)%
General and administrative 1,041,321 32 1,876,618 70 (835297) {45)
Total operating expenses $3,397,228 103% $4,905,530 183% 5(1,508,302) (31)%

The 22% decrease in sales and marketing expense for the three month period ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the
same period in 2007 primarily reflects decreases in share-based compensation, marketing and travel costs. Sales and marketing
expense as a percentage of revenue decreased 42% due o the decreased costs discussed above and the 23% increase in revenue.

The 45% decrease in general and administrative expenses for the three month period ended September 30, 2008 as compared to
the same period in 2007 was primarily due to decreases in legal, accounting and consulting fees, and a reduction in payroll and payroll
related expenses. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue decreased 38% substantially duc to the cost decreases
noted above and the 23% increase in revenue,
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Interest income, net

Interest income, net was approximately $5,000 and $108,0600 for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The decrease in iterest income was primarily due to a lower average cash balance during the third quarter of 2008 as
compared to the same period last year as we utilized the proceeds from our initial public offering to pursue our strategic initiatives,

Income tax bengfit

We did not record an income tax benefit for the three months ended September 30, 2008 as we provided a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets due to uncertainty regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net
operating loss carryforwards, in the future. We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $1.1 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2007, reflecting an expected federal and state tax rate of 38%.

Net loss

We reported a net logs for the three months ended September 30, 2008 of approximately $1.2 million compared to a net loss of
approximately $1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007. The decrease in net loss is primarily due to the decresse
in operating expenses discussed above and the 23% increase in revenue, both partially offset by decreases in the income tax benefit
and interest income, and the decrease in cost of revenue.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 and 2007

Revenue
For the Nine Months Ended September
30,
2008 2007 Increase
Revenue 3 9,164,727 $ 5,103,672 $ 3,061,055 50%

Revenue mcreased 50%, primarily due to increased auction activity in all of our product lines, new customer wins and the
inclusion of the EnergyGateway operation for a full nine months during the first nine months of 2008 as compared to four months
during the first nine months of 2007. The revenue increase reflects the growth of our wholesale customer base to 38 at September 30,
2008 from 7 at September 30, 2007, In addition, the first nine months of 2008 benefited from increased activity in our retsil business
including the large state government procurements run during calendar 2007 and an increase to 54 channel partners as of September
30, 2008 from 36 as of September 30, 2007. Of those channel partners, 30 had contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions
over the exchange in 2008 as compared to 23 during 2007.

Cost af revenue
For the Nine Months September 30,
2008 2007
3 % ofRevenue $ % of Revemue __ Increase
Cost of revenue 83,626,237 40% $1.853.660 30% 81,772,577 96%

The 96% increase in cost of revenne related to the nine month pericd ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the same
period in 2007 was substantially due to an increase in salary and benefit costs associated with three additional supply desk employees
and the inclusion of the former EnergyGateway employees for a full nine months during 2008 versus four months during the first nine
months of 2007 and, to a lesser extent, increased travel costs and amortization related to developed technology acquired. Cost of
revenue as a percent of revenne increased 10% due to the cost increases noted above partially offset by the 50% increase in revenue,

Operating expenses
For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2008 2007
5 eofRevemme ___§ % ofRevenue _Increase(Doeroasc
Sales and marketing $ 7,770,567 34% $ 5,965,261 98% $1,805,306 30%
General and administrative 3,362,946 39 4,274,415 70 {711.469) (17}
Total operating expenses $11,333,513 123% $10,239.676 168% 51,093,837 11%

The 30% increase in sales and marketing expense for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the
same period in 2007 primarily reflects general salary increases and the addition of the former EnergyGateway employees, as well as
amortization related to customer relationships and contracts. Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue decreased 14%
substantially due to the 50% increase in revenue partially offset by the cost increases noted above.
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The 17% decrease in general and administrative expenses for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008 as compared to
the same period in 2007 was primarily due to decreases in compliance related costs and, to a lesser extent, recruiting costs. General
and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue decreased 31% substantially due to the 50% increase in revenus and, to & lesser
extent, the cost decreases noted above.

Interest income, net

Interest income, net was approximately $39,000 and $482,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007. The
decrease in interest income was primarily due to a lower average cash balance during the first nine months of 2008 as compared to the
same period last year as we utilized the proceeds from our initial public offering to pursue our strategic initiatives.

Income tax benefit

We did not record an income tax benefit for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 as we provided a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets due to uncertainty regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net
operating loss carryforwards, in the future. We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $2.1 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2007, reflecting an expected federal and state tax rate of 38%.

Ner fuss

We reported a net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 of approximately $5.8 mitlion compared to a net loss of
approximately $3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007. The increase in net loss is primarily due to higher cost of
revenue and sales and marketing expenses and decreases in interest income and income tax benefit. These increases in net loss were
partially offset by the increase in revenme and the decrease in general and administrative expenses,

Liquidity and Capital Resonrces

At Septernber 30, 2008, we had no commitments for material capital expenditures. We have identified and executed against a
number of strategic initiatives that we believe are key components of our future growth, including: expanding our community of
channel partners, energy consumers and energy suppliers on our exchanges; strengthening and extending our long-term relationships
with government agencies; entering into other energy-related markets including wholesale transactions with utilities and the emerging
green credit markets; making strategic acquisitions and prowing our sales force. As of Septernber 30, 2008, our workforce numbered
58 reflecting an increase of two from the 56 we employed at September 30, 2007. At September 30, 2008, we had 22 professionals in
our sales and marketing and account management groups, 27 in our supply desk group and 9 in our general and adminisirative
group. While we will hire additional professionals as the need and/or opportunity arises, we believe that in the shart-term our
operating costs will remain at, or deerease from, current tevels,

Comparison of Sepiember 30, 2008 to December 31, 2007

September 30, December 31,

2008 2007 Increase/{(Decrease
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,756,829 § 7,001,884 § (5,245,055) (75)%
Trade accounts receivable 2,962,634 1,878,233 1,084,451 58
Days sales outstanding 75 56 19 34
Working capital 1,231,476 5,323,622 (4,092,146) an
Stockholders’ equity 11,820,180 16,859,798 (5,039,619) 30

Cash and cash equivalents decreased 75%, primarily due to the pre-tax loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, an
increase in accounts receivable and decreases in accounts payable and accrued expenses. Trade accounts receivable increased 58%
primarily due to an increase in day’s sales ouistanding within our accounts receivable balance. Days sales outstanding (representing
account receivable outstanding at September 30, 2008 divided by the average sates per day during the quarter, adjusted for deferred
revenue of approximately $272,000) increased 34% due to the timing of collections, a higher concentration of retail energy sales
during the three months ended September 30, 2008 and a greater concentration of auction activity in September 2008 due to the
contraction in oil and gas prices in late July and early August. Revenue from our energy suppliers representing greater than 10% of
our revenue decreased to 22% from one energy supplier during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 from 34% from two energy
suppliers for the same period in 2007. This decrease was directly related to the addition of the EnergyGateway customers and an
increase in wholesale transactions,
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Working capital (consisting of current assets less current linbilities) decreased 77%, primarily due to the decrease in cash and
cash equivalents resulting from the funding of the pre-tax loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, and an approximate
$1.1 million increase in accounts receivable discussed above. Stockholders® equity decreased 30% due to the net loss for the period
partially offset by share-based compensation and the exercise of stock options and warrants.

Cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was approximaiely $4.8 nllion and
$3.7 million, respectively, due primarily to the pre-tax losses in each respective period. Cash used in investing and financing activities
for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 was approximately $419,000 primarily due to costs incwrred in sofiware development.
Cash used in investing and financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was approximately $5.6 million
primarily due to the acquisition of EnergyGateway in June 2007,

We have historically funded our operations with cash flow from operations and the issuance of various debt and equity
instroments. We have approximately $1.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and no bank debt as of September 30, 2008. We
gxpect to continue to fund our operations from existing cash resources, operating cash flow and, when required, the issuance of
various debt and equity instruments. That notwithstanding, we believe that our current financial resources are adequate to fund our
ongoing operations and pursue our strategic initiatives.

On September §, 2008, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB™).
Under the Agreement, SVB has committed ta make advances to us in an aggregate amount of up to $3,000,000, subject to availability
against certain eligible account receivables, eligible retail backlog and maintenance of financial covenants. The credit facility bears
mnterest at a floating rate per annum based on SVB’s prime rate plus three-guarters of one percentage point (0.75%) on sdvances made
against eligible accounts receivable and prime plus one-and-one-half of one percentage point (1.5%) on advances made against
eligible retail backlog. These interest rates are subject to chamge based on our maintenance of an adjusted quick ratio of
one-to-one. All unpaid principal and accrued interest is due on September 7, 2009 (the “Maturity Date™). Until the Maturity Date, we
are only required to pay interest, with ¢ach such payment due in arrears on the last calendsr day of each month.

There were no outstanding borrowings from the ¢redit facility and we were in compliance with owr bank covenants as of
September 30, 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“gencrally accepted accounting principles™) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

The most judgmental estimates affecting our consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition and the
estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy supplier and end user, or energy consumer, of such energy; software development
costs; the fair value of our equity securities prior to our initial public offering when there was no ready market for the purchase and
sale of these shares; the valuation of intangible assets and goodwill; impairment of long-lived assets; and estimates of futwre taxable
income as it relates to the realization of our net deferred tax assets. We regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon
historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. To the
extent actual results differ from those estimates, our future results of operations may be affected. We believe the following critical
accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
staternents. Refer to Note 2 of our consalidated financial statements within our Anmual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 13,
2008 for a description of our accounting policies.
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Revenue Recognition

Retail Electricity Transactions

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracied through our online auction platform from each energy supplier
based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer, Our commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy usage penerated and transacted between the energy
supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Revenue from commissions is recognized as eamed on a
monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is persnasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales
price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured, and customer acceptance critetia, if any, has
been successfully demonstrated.

We record brokerage cormissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting period, or
to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to the energy consumers
for that accounting period. We develop our estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following criteria:

* Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
= Usage updates from energy suppliers;

= Usage data from utilities;

= Comparable historical usage data; and

* Historical variances to previous estimates.

To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, we estimate revenue as follows:

Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
Geographic/utility usage patterns hased on actual data received;

Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

Specific review of individual energy supplierflocation accounts.

In addition, we perform sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overall industry trends including prevailing weather
and usage data. Once the actual data is received, we adjust the estimated accounts receivable and revenue to the actual total amount in
the period during which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain actual energy usage, we currently
estimate four to six weeks of revenue at the end of our accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual revenue have
been within management’s expectations and have not been material to date,

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, we teport a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier andfor the utility
but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with energy
suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage, The second
component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated usage. Commissions
paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on 2 monthly basis
on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail netural gas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction
fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas awards are
established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier
upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the
transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered
based on terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are
accounted in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and
recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.
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Wholesale and Green Transactions

Substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fized fee. These revenmes are not
tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers
bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder, For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees
ar¢ typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue may not he recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being
auctioned have been verified and/or delivered. While substantially ail wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this
fashion, a small percentage of our wholesale revenus is accounted for as the wholesale electricity or gas is delivered similar (o the
retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Channel Partner Commissions

We pay commissions to our channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy
suppliers and energy consumers. The commission 5 accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is
recognized. We pay commissions to our salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from our customers.

Revenue Estimation

Our estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on our statements
of operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions accounts as reflected ob our balance sheets. For any quarterly
reporting period, we may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue. We record revenue
based on the energy consumers” historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, we adjust historical revenue to reflect
actual usage for the period. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, we estimated usage for approximately 11% of our revenue
resulting in a negative 0.4%, or approximately $13,000, adjustment. This decrease in revenue, which is based on adjusted year to date
revenue, resulted in an approximate $8,000 decrease in sales and marketing expense related to third party commission expense
associated with those revenues. Comresponding adjustments were made to trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions,
respectively. A 1% difference between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $7,000 effect on our revenue for the
three months ended Septemnber 30, 2008,

Software Development

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to our software are recorded in accordance with Statement of Position
(“S0P™} 98-1, “dccounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Accordingly, internally
developed software costs of approximately $293,000 and $330,000 related to implementation, coding and configuration have been
capitalized during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. We amortize internally developed and
purchased software over the estimated useful life of the software (generally three years). During the nine months ended September 30,
2008 and 2007 approximately $170,000 and $73,000 were amortized to cost of revenues, respectively, Accumulated emortization was
approximately $443,000 and $273,000 at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Cur estimates for capitalization of software develapment costs affect cost of revenue and capitalized software as reflected on
our consolidated statements of operations and on our consolidated balance sheets. During the nine months ended September 38, 2008,
capitalized software costs were 1.9% of our total assets and amortization expense was approximately 4.7% of cost of revenue. To the
extent the carrying amount of the capitalized sofiwere costs may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no
lomger appropriate, we may need to record an impairment (non-cash) charge and write-off a portion or all of the capitalized software
balance on the balance sheet.

Goadwill

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of our poodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. We account for goodwill that results from acquired
businesses in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “ Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” (“SFAS No. 142™). Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite lives are not amortized but instead
are assigned to reporting units and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of
events indicate possible impaimment.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, we perform an annual impairment test for goodwill. The impairment test for goodwill is a two-step
process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including the goodwill
allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step two requires the comparison of the implied
fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of the reporting
unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. During the first nine months of 2008, no impairment of our goodwill was
recorded.
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Intangible Assels

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of our intangible assets. The criteria used
for thess assumptions in¢lude management’s estimate of the assets continuing zbility to generate positive income from operations and
positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significance of any identifiable
intangible asset in our business objectives. If assels are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the
carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Useful lives and related amortization expense are based on our
estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by us. Factors that would influence the likelibood of
a material change in our reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive cash flow, a significant
decline in the economic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant changes in our strategic business
objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, purchased technology and ather intangihles, and are stated at
cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a definite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, which range from one to ten years.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asseis ™, we petiodically review
long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the cartying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these assets is
determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relaie to the camying
amount. During the first nine months of 2008, no impairment of our long-lived assets was recorded as no change in circumstances
indicated that the carrying value of the assets was not recoverable,

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “dccounting for Income Taxes "{“SFAS No. 109”). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to net
operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liability from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of defetred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, we consider past performance, expected futire taxable income, and
qualitative factors which we consider to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. Our forecast of expected future taxable
income is for future periods that ¢can be reasonably estimated. Results that differ materially from current expectations mey cause
management to change its judgment on future taxable income. These changes, if any, may require us to adjust our existing tax
valuation allowarce higher or lower than the amount recorded.

Our estimates in relation to income taxes affect income tax benefit and deferred tax assets as reflecied on our statements of
operations and balance sheets, respectively, The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of September 30, 2008, we had deferred tax assets of approximately $6.9
million against which a full valuation allowance has been established. To the exteni we determine that it is more likely than not that
we will recover all of our deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate $6.9 million non-cash tax benefit.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 48, * Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tmces™
(“FIN 48}, on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 ctarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with SFAS 109. FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to
tecognize. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained npon examination by a tax
authority. If the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the
amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that
has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settiement. If the tax position does not meet the
“more-likely-than-not” threshold, then it is not recognized in the financial statements.

We have reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in our tax returns for all fax years currently open to examination by
the taxing authorities in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48. At September 30, 2008, there is no
expected material, aggregate tax effect as a result of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in our
financial statements, ,

19

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-Q, Navember 06, 2008 296



Share-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) “Skare-Based Payment”, the Company recognizes the compensation cost of share-based
awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008,
share-based awards consisted of grants of restricted stock, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, share-based awards
consisted of grants of restricted stock and stock options. The restrictions on the restricted stock lapse over the vesting period. The
vesting period of restricted stock is determined by the Board of Directors, and is generally four years for employees, The per-share
weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2007 was $0.58 on the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Nine-months ended Expected Risk Expected Expected
September 30, Dividend Yield [nterest Rate Option Life Volatility
2007 — 4.66% 4,61 years 54%

The Company has two stock incentive plans: the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2003 Plan, and the 2006 Stock Incentive
Plan, or the 2006 Plan. As of September 30, 2008, 3,582,300 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2003 Plan. No further
grants are allowed under the 2003 Plan. As of September 30, 2008, 8,738,161 shares of common stock were reserved wmder the 2006
Plan representing 1,516,250 outstanding stock options, 2,258,500 shares of restricted stock granted and 4,963,411 shares svailable for
grant. A symmary of stock option activity under both plans for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Stock Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 6,703,029 % 0.65
Granted — 5 —
Cancelled (1,023,750) § 1.30
Exercised (580,729 § 0.03
Outstanding at September 30, 2008 5098550 § 0.59

A summary of testricted stock activity under the 2006 Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares Grant Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 1,448,500 § 1.10
Granted 774000 § 0.88
Cancelled {(364000) % 1.04
Vested (269597) § 117
Unvested at September 30, 2008 1,588,903 § 1.00
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A summary of common stock options cutstanding and common stock options exercisable as of September 30, 2008 is as
foHows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Range of Remaining Aggregate Number Remaining Apgregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Of Shares Contractual Inirinsic
Prices Options Life Value Exercisable Life Value
0.02 -
$ %023 2,080,300 2.09 Years 3 870,477 2,080,300 2.09 Years $ 870477
0.24 -
$ $1.12 1,502,000  4.35 Years 107,013 946,000  4.18 Years 87,227
1.13 -
$ $1.34 1,516,250 5.57 Years — 493,125 5.51 Years —
5,098,550  3.79 Years 3 977,490 3,519,425 3.13 Years $ 957,704

The aggrepate intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 was §415,718.

Ttem 3, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure sbout Market Risk

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign currency rates, interest
rates, and other relevant market rates or price changes. In the ordinary course of business, the Company is exposed fo market risk
resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and the Company regularly evaluates iis exposure to such changes. The
Company’s overall risk management strategy seeks to balance the magnitude of the exposure and the cosis and availability of
appropriate financial instruments.

Impact of Infiation and Changing Prices

Historically, our business has not been materially impacted by inflation. We provide our service at the inception of the service
contract between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our fee is set as a fixed dollar amount per unit of measure and fluctuates
with changes in energy demand over the contract period.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

Qur commission revenue is primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we are not directly affected by foreign exchange
fluctuations on our current orders. However, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates do have an effect on energy consumers’ aceess to
U.S. dollars and on pricing competition. We have entered into non-U.S. doliar contracts but they have not bad a material impact on
our operations. We do not believe that foreign exchange fluctuations will materially affect our results of operations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company carried out
an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2008. In
designing and evaluating the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, the Company and its management recognize that there
are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and
procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives. Additionally, in evaluating and
implementing possible controls and procedures, the Company's management was required to apply its reasonable judgment. Based
upon the required evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of September 30, 2008,
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s internal conirol over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended
September 30, 2008 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internat control over
financial reporting.

21

Source: World Energy Solutio, 10-Q, Navermber 06, 2008 02 g?



Source: World Erergy Solutio, 10-Q, November 06, 2008

259



PART I1

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A, Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in our most recently filed annual report on Form 10-K.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
We registered shares of our commeon stock in connection with our initial public offering concurrently in Czanada under the terms

of a Supplemented Prep Prospectus dated November 9, 2006 and in the United States under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Our Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (No. 333-136528) in connection with our initial public offering was declared effective by the
SEC on November 9, 2006,

As of September 30, 2008, we have used approximately $16 million of the net proceeds of the initial public offering to redesm
our long-term debt, to acquire the assets of EncrgyGateway, for working capital and to fund operations. The remaining net proceeds
of the initial public offering are invested in short-term, highly liquid money market accounts with an original maturity of 90 days ar

less. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in our final
prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b}.

[tem 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None,

Item 5. Other Information

Mone.

22

Source: World Energy Solutle, 10-Q, November 06, 2008 g?@



Item 6.  Exhibits
31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
312 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

322 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §$1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on iis
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,

World Energy Solutions, Inc.

Dated:  November 6, 2008 By: /s/Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: November 6, 2008 By: /¢/ James Parslow
James Parslow
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Descripti
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Fxecutive Officer pursuant to 18 U.8.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard Domaleski, Chief Executive Officer of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company™), centify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-(} of the Company.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a materisl fact or omit to state 2 material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
miaterial respects the firancial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report.

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures fo be_ designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such interpal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure conirols and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectivensss of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent cvaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors {or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s
intermnal control over financial reporting.

Dated:  November 6, 2008 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
§302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

L, James Parslow, Chief Financial Officer of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company™), certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Company.

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to siste a mnte_rial fgct
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report.

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report,

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal contral over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occwred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Company’s anditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) ‘ Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s
tnternal control aver financial reporting.

Dated:  November 6, 2008 By: /s/ James Parslow

James Parslow
Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.8.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of World Energy Solutions, Inc (the “Company™} on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) for the period
ended September 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, 1, Richard Domaleski, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 17.5.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Dated:  November 6, 2008 By: /s/ Richard Domaleski
Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, ar other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO §906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q (the “Report™) for the period
ended September 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, James Parslow, Chief
Financial Gificer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbenes-Oxley Act of
2002, that;

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Dated:  November 6, 2008 By: /s/ James Parslow

James Parslow
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or
otherwise adopting the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by
Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fumished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Created by 10KWizard _www, |0KWizard,com
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM §-K
CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported). September 8, 2008

World Energy Solutions, Inc,

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Charter)

Delaware 333-136528 04-3474959
(State or Other Juris- {Commission (IRS Employer
diction of Incorporation File Number) Identification Na.)
446 Main Street
Worcester, Massachusetts 01608
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) {Zip Cade)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (508) 459-8100
n/a
{Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)
Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant
under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):
O  Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

O
O Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.144-2(b))
a

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))
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Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement,

On September 8, 2008, World Energy Solutions, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary World Energy Securities Corp. (collectively,

the “Company™) entered into a Loan and Security Agreement {the *Agreernent”} with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB™), Under the
Agreement, SVB has committed to make advances to the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $3,000,000, subject io availability
against certain eligible account receivables and eligible retail backlog. The credit facility bears interest at a floating rate per annum
based on SVB's prime rate plus three<quarters of one percentage point (0.75%) on advances made against eligible accounts receivable
and prime plus one-and-one-half of one percentage point (1.5%) on advances made against eligible retail backlog. These interest rates
are subject to change hased on the Company's maintenance of an adjusted quick ratio of one-to-one. All vnpaid principal and accrued
interest is due on September 7, 2009 (the “Maturity Date™). Until the Maturity Date, the Company is only required to pay interest,
with each such payment due in arrears on the last calendar day of each month.

The Company intends to use the credit facility solely as working capital and to fund its general business requirements.

The credit facility is secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of the Company’s assets. The Agreement
contains certain affirmative and negative covenants, including a tangible net worth covenant. Any failure by the Company to comply
with these covenants and any other obligations under the Agreement could result in an event of default which could lead to
acceleration of the amounts owed and other remedies.

The foregoing description of the Loan and Security Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the full text of the Loan and Security Agreement attached to this Form 8-K as Exhibit 10.1 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 2.03. Creation of a Direet Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Batance Sheet Arrangement of 2
Registrant,

Our discussion under Item 1,01 of this Current Report is hereby incorporated by this reference.
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
{d)  Exhibits

See Exhibit Index attached hereto,
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be sipned

on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: September &, 2008

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: /sf James Parslow

James Parslow
Chief Financial Officer

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2008

304



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Nao. Description
10.1 Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Velley Bank dated September 8, 2008
99.1 Press Release dated September 8, 2008
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EXHIBIT10.1

EXECUTION COPY

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) dated as of the Effective Date among SILICON
VALLEY BANK, a California corporation with its principal place of business at 3003 Tasman Drive, Santa Clara, California 95054
and with a loan production office located at Ome Newton Executive Park, Suite 200, 2221 Washingion Street, Newton,
Massachusetts 02462 (“Bank”), WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC., a Delaware corporation with offices located at 446 Main
Street, Worcester, Massachusetts 01608, and WORLD ENERGY SECURITIES CORP., a Massachusetts securities corporation
with offices located at 446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts 01608 (individually and collectively, jointly and severally,
“Borrower™), provides the terms on which Bank shall lend to Borrower and Borrower shall repay Bank. The parties apgree as follows:

1 A NT

Accounting terms not defined in this Agreement shall be construed foilowing GAAP. Calculations and determinations must
be made following GAAP. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in
Section 3. All other terms contained in this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated, shall have the meaning provided by the Code to
the extent such terms are defined therein.

2 LOAN AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

21 Promise to Pay, Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay Bank the outstanding principal amount of all
Credit Extensions and accrued and unpaid interest thereon as and when due in accordance with this Agreement.

2.1.1 Revolving Advances.

{2) Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and to deduction of Reserves, Bank will
make Advances to Borrower up to the Availability Amount, Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Line may be repaid, and prior to
the Revalving Line Maturity Date, reborrowed, subject to the applicable terms and conditions precedent herein.

(b) Tenmination: Repayment. The Revolving Line terminates on the Revolving Line Maturity Date, when the
principal amount of all Advances, the unpaid interest thereon, and all ather Obligations relating to the Revolving Line shall be
immediately due and payable.

2.1.2 Letters of Credit Sublimit.

(a) As part of the Revolving Line and subject to deduction of Reserves, Bank shall issue or have issued
Letters of Credit for Borrower's account, The face amount of outstanding Letters of Credit (including drawn but unreimbursed Letters
of Credit and any Letter of Credit Reserve) may not exceed One Million Dollars ¢(31,000,000.00) inclusive of Credit Extensions
relating to Sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.4. Such aggregate amounts utilized hereunder shall at all times reduce the amount otherwise
available for Advances under the Revolving Line, If, on the Revolving Line Maturity Date or after the occurrence and during the
continuance of an Event of Default there are any outstanding Letters of Credit, then on such date Borrower shall provide to Bank cash
collateral in an amount equal to 105% of the face amount of all such Letters of Credit phus all interest, fees, and costs due or to
become due in connection therewith (as estimated by Bank in its good faith business judgment), to secure all of the Obligations
relating to said Letters of Credit. All Letters of Credit shall be in form and substance acceptable to Bank in its sole discretion and
shall be subject to the terms and conditions of Bank’s standard Application and Letter of Credit Agreement (the “Letter of Credit
Application™), provided that, to the extent of any conflict, this Agreement shall govern. Borrower agrees to execute any further
documentation in connection with the Letters of Credit as Bank may reasonably request. Borrower further agrees to be bound by the
regulations and interpretations of the issuer of any Letters of Credit guarantied by Bank and opened for Borrower’s account or by
Bank’s interpretations of any Letter of Credit issued by Bank for Borrower’s account, and Borrower understands and agrees that Bank
shall not be liable for any error, negligence, or mistake, whether of omission or commission, in following Borrowet’s instructions or
those contained in the Letters of Credit or any modifications, amendments, or supplements thereto, except Bank’s gross negligence or
willful misconduct.
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The obligation of Borrower to immediately reimburse Bank for drawings made under Letters of Credit
shall be absolute, unconditional, and irrevoeable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, such
Letters of Credit, and the Letter of Credit Application. Any amounts Bank pays on behalf of Borrower for any Letters of Credit will
be treated as Advances under the Revolving Line and will accrue interest at the interest rate applicable to Advances.

(<) Borrower may request that Bank issue a Letter of Credit payable in a Foreign Currency. It a demand for
payment is made under any such Letter of Credit, Bank shall treat such demand as an Advance to Borrower of the cquivalent of the
amount thereof (plus fees and charges in connection therewith such as wire, cable, SWIFT or similar charges) in Dollars at the
then-prevailing rate of exchange in San Francisco, California, for sales of the Foreign Currency for transfer to the country issuing such
Foreign Currency.

(d) To guard agginst fluctustions in currency exchange rates, upon the issuance of any Letter of Credit
payable in a Foreign Currency, Bank shall create a reserve (the “Letter of Credit Reserve”) under the Revolving Line it an amount
equal to ten percent {10%} of the face amount of such Letter of Credit. The amount of the Letter of Credit Reserve may be adjusted
by Bank from time to time to account for fluctuations in the exchange rate. The availability of funds under the Revolving Line shall
be reduced by the amount of such Letter of Credit Reserve for as long as such Letter of Credit remains outstanding.

2,1.3 Foreign Exchange Sublimit. As part of the Revolving Line, Borrower may enter into foreign exchange contracts
with Bank under which Borrower commits to purchase from or sell to Bank a specific amount of Foreign Currency {each, 2 “FX
Forward Contract”) on a specified date (the “Settlement Date™). FX Forward Contracts shall have a Settlement Date of at least one
(1) FX Business Day after the contract date and shall be subject to a reserve of ten percent (10%) of each outstanding FX Forward
Contract in a maximum aggregate amount ¢qual to One Hundred Thousand Dollars {$100,000.00) (the “FX Reserve™). The aggregate
amount of FX Forward Contracts at any one time plus Credit Extensions made pursuant to Sections 2.1.2 and 2.1.4 may not exceed fen
(10} times the maximum amount of the FX Reserve. Any amounts needed to fully reimburse Bank will be treated as Advances under
the Revolving Line and will acorue interest at the interest rate applicable to Advances.

2.14 Cash Management Services Sublimit. Borrower may use up to One Miilion Dollars ($1,000,000.00) inclusive of
Credit Extensions relating to Sections 2.1.2 and 2.1.3 (the “Cash Management Services Sublimit”) of the Revolving Line for Bank’s
cash management services which may include merchant services, direct deposit of payroll, business credit card, and check cashing
services identified in Bank’s various cash menagement services agreements (collectively, the “Cash Management Services”). The
dollar amount of any Cash Management Services provided under this sublimit will reduce the amount otherwise available under the
Revolving Line. Any amounts used or reserved by Borrower for any Cash Manapement Services will reduce the amount otherwise
available for Credit Extensions under the Revolving Line. Any amounts Bank pays on behalf of Borrawer for any Cash Management
Services will be treated as Advances under the Revolving Line and will accrue interest at the interest rate applicable to Advances,

22 Overadvances. If, at any time the sum of (a) the outstanding amount of any Advances (including any amounts
used for Cash Management Services) plus (b) the face amoumt of any outstanding Letters of Credit {including drawn but unreimbursed
Letters of Credit and any Letter of Credit Reserve, plus (¢) the FX Reserve exceeds the lesser of either the Revolving Line or the
Borrowing Base (such excess amount being an “Qveradvance™), Borrower shall pay to Bank in cash such Overadvance immediately;
provided, however, that if such Overadvance results from Bank’s exercising its right to decrease the percentages of the Borrowing
Base or to adjust the criteria for Eligible Accounts, Borrower shall have three (3) Business Days from receipt of notice from Bank of
such decrease or adjustment to repay such Qveradvance.

1.3 Payment of Interest on the Credit Extensions.

(a) Interest Rate; Advances. Subject to Section 2.3(b), (a} the principal amount of the Revolving Line
outstanding due to Advances made in respect of Eligible Accounts shall accrue interest at a floating per annum rate ¢qual to the
aggregate of the Prime Rate plus one and three-quarters of one percentage point (1.75%), provided, however, during a Streamline
Period, the principal amount of the Revolving Line outstanding due to Advances made in respect of Eligible Accounts shall accrue
interest at a floating per annum rate equal to the aggregate of the Prime Rate plus three-quarters of one percentage point (0.75%); and
{b) the principal amount of the Revolving Line outstanding due to Advances made in respect of Eligible Retail Backlog Accounts shall
accrue inlerest at a floating per annum rate equal to the aggregate of the Prime Rate plus two and one-quarter of one

-2.
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percentage point {2.25%), provided, however, during a Streamline Period, the principal amount of the Revolving Line outstanding due
to Advances made in respect of Eligible Retail Backlog Accounts shall accrue interest at a floating per annum rate equal to the
aggregate of the Prime Rate plus one and one-half of one percentage point {1.50%). Interest on any Credit Extension shall be payable
monthly.

{b) Defaylt Rate. Immediately upon the accurrence and during the contimuance of an Event of Default,
Obligations shall bear interest at a rate per annum which is four percentage points (4.00%) above the rate effective innmediately before
the oceurrence of the Bvent of Default (the “Default Rate™). Payment or acceptance of the increased interest rate provided in this
Section 2.3(b) is not a permitted alternative to timely payment and shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default or otherwise
prejudice or limit any rights or temedies of Bank,

{c) Adjustmant to Interest Rate. Changes to the interest rate of any Credit Extension based on changes to the
Prime Rate shall be effective on the effective date of any change to the Prime Rate and to the extent of any such change.

(d) 360-Day Year, Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year for the acual mumber of days
elapsed.

(e) Debit of Accounts. Bank may debit any of Berrower’s deposit accounts, including the Designated
Deposit Account, for principal and interest payments or any other amounts Borrower owes Bank when due. These debits shall not
constitute a set-off.

ent: Inte tation; Float Charge. Interest is payable monthiy on the last Business Day of
each month. In computing interest on the Obligations, all Payments received after 3:00 p.m, local Boston time on any day shall be
deemed received on the next Business Day. Bank shall be entiled to charge Barrower 2 “float™ charge in an amount equal to two (2)
Business Days interest, at the interest rate applicable to the Advances, on all Payments received by Bank. Said float charge is not
applicable during a Streamline Period, and is not included in interest far purposes of computing Minimum Monthly Interest (if any)
under this Agreement. The float charge for each month shall be payable on the last day of the month. Bank shall not, however, be
Tequired to credit Botrrower’s account for the amount of any item of payment which is unsatisfactory to Bank in its good faith business

judgment, and Bank may charge Borrower’s Designated Depasit Account for the amount of any item of payment which is returned to
Bank unpaid.

24 Fees. Borrower shall pay to Bank:

(a) Commitment Fee. A fully eamed, non-refindable commitment fee of Twenty Thousand Dollars
($20,000.00), on the Effective Date;

() Letter of Credit Fee. Bank’s customary fees and expenses for the issuance or renewal of Letters of Credit,
upon the issnance or renewal of such Letter of Credit by Bank;

(e Termination Fee. Subject to the terms of Section 12.1, a termination fee;

(d) _Unused Revolving Line Facility Fee. A fee (the “Unused Revolving Line Facility Fee”), which fee shail
be paid monthly, in arrears, on the last Business Day of each month, in an amount equal to one-half of ane percent (0.50%) per annum
af the average unused portion of the Revolving Line, as determined by Bank. Borrower shall not be entitled to any credit, rebate or
repayment of any Unused Revolving Line Facility Fee previously earned by Bank pursuant to this Section notwithstanding any
termination of the within Agreement, or suspension or termination of Bank’s obligation to make loans and advances hereunder; and

(03] Bank Expenses. All Bank Expenses (including reasonable aitorneys' fees and expenses for

documentation and negotiation of this Agreement) which are the subject of an invoice detivered to Borrower, incurred through and
after the Effective Date, when due.

3 LCONDITIONS OF LOANS

3.1 Conditions Precedent to Initial Advance. Bank’s obligation to make the initial Advance is subject to the
condition precedent that Bank shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Bank, such
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documents, and completion of such other matlers, as Bank may reasonably deem necessary or appropriate, including, without
limitation: ’

(a) Borrower shall have delivered duly executed original signatures to the Loan Documents te which itisa
party;

(b) Other than accounts described in Section 6.8{a)(i), Borrower shall have delivered duly executed original
gignatures to the Control Agreement(s);

() Borrower shall have delivered its Operating Documents and a good standing certificate of Borrower
certified by the Secretary of State of the applicable state of incorporation or organization of Borrower, dated as of a date no earlier
than thirty (30) days prior to the Effective Date;

(d) Borrower shall have delivered duly executed original signatures to the completed Borrowing Resolutions
for Borrower,

(e) Borrower shall have delivered the Subordination Agreement duly executed by any holder of Subordinated
Debt as required by Bank, in favor of Bank;

(3] Bank shall have received certified copies, dated as of a recent date, of financing statement searches, as
Bank shall request, accompanied by written evidence (including any UJCC termination statements) that the Liens indicated in any such
financing statements either constityte Permitted Liens or have been or, in connection with the initial Credit Extension, will be
terminated or released;

(2) Borrower shall have delivered the Perfection Certificate(s) executed by Borrower;

(h) Borrower shall have delivered a bailee’s/warchouseman’s waiver executed by each bailee, if any, of
Borrower as required by Bank, in favor of Bank;

(i) Borrower shall have delivered a legal opinion of Borrower’s counsel as to authority and enforceability,
dated as of the Effective Date together with the duly executed original signatures thereto;

Borrower shall have delivered evidence satisfactory to Bank that the insurance policies required by
Section 6.7 hereof are in full force and effect, tagether with appropriate evidence showing loss payable and/or additional insured
clauses or endorsements in favor of Bank;

(k) the completion of the Initial Audit with results satisfactory to Bank in its sole and absolute discretion; and
(] Borrower shall have paid the fees and Bank Expenses then due as specified in Section 2.4 hereof.
32 Conditions Precedent to all Credit Extehsions. Bank’s obligations to make each Credit Extension, inchuding the
initial Credit Extension, is subject to the following:
{a) Subject to Section 6.2(a), timely receipt of an executed Transaction Report;
{b) the representations and warranties in Section 3 shall be true in all material respects on the date of the

Transaction Report and on the Funding Date of each Credit Exiension; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be
applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided,
further that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all
material respects as of such date, and no Default or Event of Default shall have oceurred and be continuing or result from the Credit
Extension. The Borrower’s acceptance of each Credit Extension is Borrowet’s representation and warranty on that date that the
representations and warranties in Section 5 remain true in all material respects; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall
not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and
provided, furiher that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific daie shall be true, accurate and complete in
all material respects as of such date; and
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(c) in Bank’s good faith business judgment, there has not been any material impairment in the general affairs,
management, results of operation, financial condition or the prospect of repayment of the Obligations, and that Borrower is in general
compliance with its most recent business plan presented to and accepted by Bank.

) Covenant to Deliver.

Borrower agrees to deliver to Bank each item required to be delivered to Bank under this Agreement 25 a condition to any
Credit Extension. Borrower expressly agrees that the extension of a Credit Extension prior to the receipt by Bank of any such item
shall not constitute a waiver by Bank of Borrower’s obligation to deliver such item, and any such extension in the absence of a
required item shall be in Bank’s sole discretion.

34 Procedures for Borrowing. Subject to the prior satisfaction of all other applicable conditions to the making of an
Advance set forth in this Agreement, to obtain an Advance (other than Advances under Sections 2,12, 2.1.3 or 2.1.4), Borrower shall
notify Bank (which notice shall be irrevocable) by electronic mail, facsimile, or telephone by 3:00 p.m. local Boston time on the
Funding Date of the Advance. Together with such notification, Borrower must promptly deliver to Bank by electronic mail or
facsimile a completed Transaction Report executed by a Responsible Officer or his or her designee. Bank shall credit Advances to the
Designated Deposit Account. Bank may make Advances under this Agreement based on instructions from a Responsible Officer or
his or her designee or without instructions if the Advances are necessary to meet Obligations which have become due. Bank may rely
on any telephone notice given by a person whom Bank believes in its good faith business judgment, to be a Responsible Officer or
designee.

4 ECURITY IN

4.1 Grant of Security Interest. Borrower hereby grants Bank, to secure the payment and performance in full of all of
the Obligations, a continuing security interest in, and pledges to Bank, the Collateral, wherever located, whether now awned or
hereafter acquired or arising, and all procesds and products thereof. Borrower represents, warrants, and covenants that the security
interest granted herein is and shall at all times continue to be a first priority perfected security interest in the Collateral (except for
Permitted Liens that may have superior priority to Bank’s Lien under this Agreement). If Borrower shall acquire any commercial tort
claims in an aggregate amount in excess of Seventy Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00), Borrower shall promptly notify Bank in a
writing signed by Borrower of the general details thereof and grant to Bank in such writing a security interest therein and in the
proceeds thereof, all upon the terms of ¢his Agreement, with such writing to be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Bank.

4.2 Authorization to File Financing Statements. Borrower hereby authorizes Bank to file financing statements,
without notice to Bortower, with all appropriate jurisdictions to perfect or protect Bank’s interest or rights hereunder, including a
notice that any disposition of the Cellateral, by either Borrower or any other Person, shall be deemed to violate the rights of Bank
under the Code. Without limiting the foregoing, Borrower hereby authorizes Bank to file financing statements which describe the
collateral as “all assets™ and/or “all personal property™ of Borrower or words of similar import.

5 REFRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
Bomrower represents and warrants as follows:

5.1 Due Organization and Authorization. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries, if any, are duly existing and in
good standing as Registered Organizations in their respective jurisdictions of formation and are qualified and licensed to do business
and are in good standing in any jurisdiction in which the conduct of their business or their ownership of property requires that they be
qualified except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s
business. In connection with this Agreement, Borrower has delivered to Bank a completed certificate substantially in the form
pravided by Bank, entitled *“Perfection Certificate™ (the “Perfection Certificate™). Borrower represents and warrants o Bank that (a)
Botrower’s exact legal name is that indicated on the Perfection Certificate and on the signature page hereof; (b) Borrower is an
organization of the type and is organized in the jurisdiction set forth in the Perfection Certificate; (c) the Perfection Certificate
accurately sets forth Borrower’s organizational identification number or accurately states that Borrower has none; (d) the Perfection
Certificate accurately sets forth Borrower’s place of business, or, if more than one, its chief executive office as well as Borrower’s
mailing address (if different than its chief executive
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office); (&) Borrower (and each of its predecessors) has not, in the past five (5) years, changed its jurisdiction of formation,
organizational structure or type, or any organizational number assigried by its jurisdiction; and (f) all other information set forth on the
Perfection Certificate pertaining to Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is accurate and complete in all material respects (it being
understood and agreed that Borrower may from time (o time update cerlain information in the Perfection Certificate after the Effective
Date in connection with actions permitted by this Agreement). If Borrower is not a Registered Organization as of the Effective Date
but later becomes one, Borrower shall promptly notify Bank of such occurrence and provide Bank with Borrower's organizational
identification number.

The execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of the Loan Documents to which it is a party have been duly
authorized, and do not conflict with Borrower’s organizational documents, nor constitute an event of default under any material
agreement by which Borrower is bound. Botrower is not in default under any agreement to which it is a party or by which it is bound
in which the default could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business.

5.2 Collateral. Borrower has good title to, has rights in, and the power to transfer each item of Collateral upon which
it purports to grant a Lien hereunder, free and clear of any and all Liens except Permitted Liens. Other then as described in Section
6.8(a), Borrower has no deposit accounts other than the deposit accounts with Bank and deposit accounts described in the Perfection
Certificate delivered to Bank in connection herewith, or of which Borrower has given Bank notice and taken such actions as are
necessary to give Bank a perfected security interest therein,

The Collateral is not in the possession of any third party bailee (such as a warchouse) except as otherwise provided in the
Perfection Certificate. None of the components of the Collateral shall be maintained at locations other than as provided in the
Perfection Certificate or as permitted pursuant to Section 7.2, In the event that Borrower, after the date hereof, intends to store or
otherwise deliver any portion of the Collateral to a bailee, then Borrower will first receive the writken consent of Bank and such bailee
must execute and deliver a bailee agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Bank in its sole discretion,

All Inventory is in all material respects of good and marketable quality, free from material defects.

Borrower is the sole owner of iis intellectual property, except for non-exclusive licenses granted to its customers in the
ardinary course of business, To the best of Borrower’s actual knowledge, each patent is valid and enforceable and no part of the
intcllecmal property has been judged invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and to the best of Borrower’s knowledge, no claim
has been made that any part of the Intellecinal Property violates the rights of any third party.

Except as noted on the Perfection Certificate, Borrower is not a pariy to, nor is bound by, any material license or ather
agreement with respect to which Borrower is the licensee that prohibits or otherwise restricts Borrower from granting a security
interest in Dorrower’s interest in such license or agreement or any other property. Borrower shall provide written notice to Bank
within ten (10) days of entering or becoming bound by any such license or agreement (other than over-the-counter software that is
commercially available to the public) which is reasonably likely to have a material impact on Borrower’s business or financial
condition. Borrower shall take such steps as Bank requests to obtain the consent of, or waiver by, any person whose consent or waiver
is necessary for all such licenses or contract rights to be deemed “Collateral” and for Bank to have a sgeurity interest in it th?t might
otherwise be restricted or prohibited by law or by the terms of any such license or agreement (such consent or authorization may
include a licensor’s agreement to a contingent assignment of the license to Bank if Bank determines that is necessary in its good faith
judgment), whether now existing or entered into in the future.

53 Accounts Receivable,

(a) For each Account with respect to which Advances are requested, on the date each Advance is requested
and made, such Account shall meet the Minimum Eligibility Requirements set forth in Section 13 below.

b All statements made and all unpaid balances appearing in all invoices, instruments and other docunents
evidencing the Accounts are and shall be true and correct to the best of Borrower's actual knowledge, and all such invoices,
mstruments and other documents, and all of Borrower’s Books are genuine and in alt respects what they purport to be. All sales and
other transactions underlying or giving rise to each Account shall comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and
governmental Tules and regulations. Borrower has no
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actual knowledge of any actual or imminent Insolvency Proceeding of any Account Debtor whose accounts are an Eligible Account in
any Borrowing Base Certificate. To the best of Bomrower’s actual knowledge, all signatures and endorsements on ail documents,
instruments, and agreements relating te all Accounts are genuine, and all such documents, instruments and agreements are Jegally
enforceable in accordance with their terms.

5.4 Litigation. Except as disclosed to the Bank in writing pursuant to Section 6.2 or as listed in the Perfection
Certificate, there are no actions or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officers, threatened in writing by or
against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries involving more than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00).

55 No Material Deviation in Financial Statements. All consolidated financial statements for Borrower and any of
its Subsidiaries delivered to Bank fairly present in all material respects Borrower’s consolidated financial condition and Borrower’s
consolidated results of operations in accordance with GAAP. There has not been any material deterioration in Borrower’s
consolidated financial condition since the date of the most recent financial statements submitted to Bank.

5.6 Seolvency. The fair salabie value of Borrower’s assets (including goodwill minus disposition costs} exceeds the fair
value of its liabilities; Borrower is not left with unreasonably small capital after the transactions in this Agreement; and Borrower is
able to pay its debts (including trade debts) as they mature,

5.7 Regulatory Compliance. Borrower is not an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment
company” under the livesiment Company Act, Borrower is not engaged as one of its important activities in extending credit for
margin stock (under Regulations T and U of the Federal Reserve Board of Govemors). Borrower has complied in all material respects
with the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act. Borrower has not violated any laws, ordinances or rules, the violation of which counld
reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on its business, None of Borrower’s or eny of its Subsidieries’ properties or
assets has been used by Borrower or any Subsidiary or, to the best of Barrower’s knowledge, by previous Persons, in disposing,
producing, storing, treating, or transporting any hazardous substance other than legally which use could reasonably be expected to
cause a Material Adverse Change. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have obtained all congents, approvals and authorizations of]
made all declarations or filings with, and given all notices to, all govermment authorities that are necessary to continue its business as
currently conducted.

58 Subsidiaries; Investments. Berrower does not own any stock, partnership interest or other equity securities
except for Permitted Investments,

5.9 Tax Returns and Payments; Pension Coniributions. Borrower has timely filed a1l required tax returns and
reports {except such returns or reports related to taxes as may be due or owing in an amount not tc exceed Twenty Five Thousand
* Dollars ($25,000.00) in the aggregate), and Borrower and its Subsidiaries, if ahy, have timely paid all foreign, federal, state and local
taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions owed by Borrower (except such returns or reports related to taxes as may be due or
owing in an amount not to exceed Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) in the aggregate). Borrower may defer payment of any
contested taxes, provided that Borrower (a) in good faith contests its obligation to pay the taxes by appropriate proceedings promptly
and diligently instituted and conducted, (b) notifies Bank in writing of the commencement of, and any material development in, the
proceedings, (c) posts bonds or takes any other steps required to prevent the governmental authority levying such contested taxes from
obtaining a Lien upon any of the Collateral that is other than a “Permitted Lien™. Borrower is unaware of any claims or adjustments
proposed for any of Borrower's prior tax years which could result in additional taxes hecoming due and payable by
Borrower. Borrower has paid all amounts necessary to fund all present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plans in
accordance with their terms, and Borrower has not withdrawn from participation in, and has not permitted partiaf or complete
termination of, or permitied the occurrence of any other event with respect to, any such plan which could reasonably be expected to
result in any Liability of Borrower, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or its successors or any other
governmental agency.

5.10 Use of Proceeds. Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Credit Extensions solely as worling capital and to fund
its peneral business requirements, and not for personal, family, household or agricultural purposes.

511 Full Disclosure. Na written representation, warranty or other statement of Borrower in any certificate or written
statement given to Bank, as of the date such representations, warranties, or other statements were made, taken together with all such
written certificates and written statements given to Bank, contains any
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unirue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained in the certificates or
statements not misleading (it being recognized by Bank that the projections and forecasts provided by Barrower in good faith and
based upon reasonable assumptions are not viewed as facts and that actual results during the period or periods covered by such
projections and forecasts may differ from the projected or forecasted results).

6 AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS
Borrower shall do all of the following:

6.1 Government Compliance. Maintain its and all its Subsidiaries’ legal existence and good standing in their
respective jurisdictions of formation and maintain qualification in each jurisdiction in which the failure to so qualify would reasonably
be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business or operations. Borrower shall comply, and have each Subsidiary
comply, with all laws, ordinances and regulations to which it is subject, the noncompliance with which could have » material adverse
effect on Borrower’s business,

6.2 Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates.
{a) Borrower shall provide Bank with the following:

() weekly, whenever there are any outstanding Credit Extensions, and upon each request for a Credit
Extension, a Transaciion Report;

(i) whenever there are any outstanding Credit Extensions, within twenty (20) days afier the end of each month,
(A) monthly accounts receivable agings, aged by invaice date, (B) monthly accounts payable agings, aged by invoice date,
and outstanding or held check registers, if any, (C) monthly unbilled accounts receivable agings (aged by revenue date),
Deferred Revenue report and general ledger, and (D) a schedule of expected collections;

(iii) as soon as available, and ih any eveni within thirty (30) days after the end of each month, monthly
unaudited financial statements, unless Borrower has filed financial information with the Securities and Exchange Commission on form
10-Q or 10-K within any given month, in which case Borrower’s compliance with Section 6.2(b} of this Agreement shall satisfy this
subsection (iii);

(iv)  within thirty (30) days after the end of each month & monthly Compliance Certificate signed by a
Responsible Officer, certifying that as of the end of such month, Borrower was in full compliance with ail of the terms and conditions
of this Agreement, and setting forth calculations showing compliance with the financial covenants set forth in this Agreement and
such other information as Bank shall reasonably request, including, without limitation, a staterment that at the end of such month there
were no held checks;

) within thirty (30) days afler approval by Borrower’s board of directors, (A) annual operating
budgets (including income statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements, by month) for the upcoming fiscal year of
Borrower, and (B) annual financial projections for the following fiscal year (on a quarterly basis), together with any releted
business forecasts delivered to Borrower’s board of directors in the preparation of such annual financial projections; and

(vi) as soon as available, and in any event within one hundred fifty (150) days following the end of
Borrower’s fiscal vear, annual financial statements certified by, and with an unqualified opinion of, independent certified
public accountants acceptable to Bank.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, during a Streamline Period, provided no Event of Default has ocourred and is continuing,
Borrower shall not be required to provide Bank with the Transaction Report required pursuant to clause (a)i) above;_piovided,
however, that during such Streamline Period, Borrower shall provide Bank, within twenty (20) days after the end of each month in
which there were any outstanding Credit Extensions, a duly completed Borrowing Base Certificate sighed by a Responsible Officer.

(b) In the event that Borrower is or becomes subject to the reporting requirements under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, within five (5) days after filing, all reports on Form 10-K, 10-0Q and 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission or a link theretc on Borrower’s or another website on the Internet.
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(c) Prompt written notice of (i} any material change in the composition of the intellectual propetty, (ii) the
registration of any copyright, including any subsequent ownership right of Borrower in or to any copyright, patent or trademark oot
previously disclosed to Bank, or (iii) Borrower’s knowledge of an event that has an actnal material adverse effect on the value of the
intellectual property.

6.3 Accounts Receivable.
(a) Schedules and D i . Borrower shall deliver to Bank transaction reports and

schedules of collections, as provided in Section 6.2, on Bank’s standard forms; provided, however, that Borrower's failure to execute
and deliver the same shall not affect or limit Bank’s Lien and other rights in all of Borrower’s Accounts, nor shall Bank’s failure to
advance or lend against a specific Account affect or limit Bank’s Lien and other rights therein. If requested by Bank, and to the extent
commercially reasonable, Borrower shall furnish Bank with copies (or, at Bank’s request, originals) of all contracts, orders, invoices,
and other similar documents, and all shipping instructions, delivery receipts, bills of lading, and other evidence of delivery, for any
goods the sale or disposition of which gave rise to such Accounts. In addition, Borrower shall deliver to Bank, on its reasonable
request and to the extent commercially reasonable, the originals of all instruments, chattel paper, security agreements, guarantees and
other documents and property evidencing or securing any Accounts, in the same form as received, with all necessary endorsements,
and copies of afl credit memos.

(b) Disputes. Borrower shatl promptly notify Bank of all material disputes or claims relating to Accounts in
an aggregate amount in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) at any time. Borrower may forgive (completely or partially),
compromise, or settle any Account for less than payment in full, or agree to do any of the foregoing so long as (i) Borrower does 30 in
good faith, in & commercially reasonable manner, in the ordinary course of business, in arm’s-length trensactions, and reports the same
to Bank in the regular reports provided to Bank; (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and (jii) after
taking into account all such discounts, settlements and forgiveness, the total outstanding Advances will not exceed the Availability
Amount.

(c) Collection of Accounts. Borrower shall have the right to collect all Accounts, unless and until a Default
or an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing., Al payments on, and proceeds of, Accounts shall be deposited direcily by the
applicable Account Debtor into a lockbox account, or such other “blocked account™ as Bank may specify, pursuant to a blocked
account agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Bank in its sole discretion. Whether or not an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, Botrower shall hold all payments on, and proceeds of, Accounts in trust for Bank, and Borrower shall promptly
deliver all such payments and proceeds to Bank in their original form, duly endersed, to be applied to the Obligations pursuant to the
terms of Section 9.4 hereof,_provided, however, during a Streamline Period, such payments shall be deposited in Botrower’s
Designated Deposit Account.

{d) Returns. Provided no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, if any Account Debtor returns any
Inventory to Borrower, Borrower shall promptly (i) determine the reason for such return, (ii) issue a credit memorandum io the
Account Debtor in the appropriate amount, and (jii) provide a copy of such credit memorandum to Bank, upon request from Bank. In
the event any attemnpted return occurs after the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Borrower shall hold the
returned Inventory in trust for Bank, and immediately notify Bank of the return of the Inventory.

{e} Verification Bank may, from time to time, verify direclly with the respective Account Debtors the
validity, amount and other matters relating to the Accounts, either in the name of Borrower or Bank or such other name as Bank may
choose.

No Liability. Bank shall not be responsibie or liable for any shortage or discrepancy in, damage to, or loss
or destruction of, any goods, the sale or other disposition of which gives rise to an Accoumnt, or for any error, act, cmission, or delay of
any kind occurring in the settlement, failure to settle, collection or faiture to collect any Account, or for settling any Account in good
faith for less than the full amount thereof, nor shall Bank be deemed o be responsible for any of Borrower’s obligations under any
contract or agreement giving rise to an Account. Nothing herein shall, however, relieve Bank from liability for its own gross
negligence or willful misconduct.

6.4 Remittance of Proceeds. Except as otherwise provided in Section 6.3(c), deliver, in kind, ail proceeds arising
from the disposition of any Collateral to Bank in the original form in which received by Borrower not later than the following
Business Day after receipt by Borrower, to be applied to the Obligations pursuant to the terms of Section 9.4 hereof, provided that, if
no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing,
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Borrower shall not be ohligated to remit to Bank the proceeds of the sate of worn out or obsolete Equipment disposed of by Borrower
in good faith in an arm’s length transaction for an aggregate purchase price of Fifty Thousand Daollars ($50,000.00) or less (for all
such transactions in any fiscal year). Borrower agrees that it will not commingle praceeds of Collateral with any of Borrower’s other
funds or property, but will hold such proceeds separate and apart from such other funds and property and in an express trust for

Bank., Nothing in this Section limits the restrictions on disposition of Collateral set forth elsewhere in this Agreement.

6.5 Taxes; Pensions. Make, and cause each of its Subsidiaries, if any, to make, timely payment of all foreign, federal,
state and local taxes or assessments {other than taxes and assessment which Borrower or its Subsidiarics are contesting pursuant to the
terms of Section 5.9 hereof), and shall deliver to Bank, on demand, appropriate certificates attesting to such payments, and pay all
amounts necessary to fund all present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation plans in accordance with their terms.

6.6 Access to Collateral; Books and Records, At reasonable times, on ooe (1) Business Day’s notice (provided no
notice is required if an Event of Default has ocewred and is continuing), Bank, or its agents, shall have the right on a semi-anmual
basis {or more frequently if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing), to inspect the Collateral and the right to andit and
copy Borrower's Books. The foregoing inspections and audits shall be at Borrower’s expense, and the charge therefor shall be §750
per person per day (or such higher amount as shall represent Bank’s then-current standard charge for the same), plus reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses. In the event Borrower and Bank schedule an audit more than ten (10} days in advance, and Borrower cancels
or seeks to reschedules the audit with less than ten (10) days written notice to Bank, then {withont limiting any of Bank’s rights or
remedies), Bortower shall pay Bank a fee of $1,000 plus any out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Bank to compensate Bank for the
anticipated costs and expenses of the cancellation or rescheduling.

6.7 Insurance. Keep its business and the Collateral insured for risks and in amounts standard for companies in
Borrower’s industry and location and as Bank may reasonably request. Insurance policies shall be in a form, with companies, and in
amounts that are satisfactory to Bank. All property policies shall have a lender’s loss payable endorsement showing Bank as the sole
lender loss payee and waive subrogation against Bank, and all iability policies shall show, or have endorsements showing, Bank as an
additional insured. All property and Liability policies (other than directors and officers liability policies) (or the loss payable and
additional insured endorsements) shall provide that the insurer must give Bank at least thirty (30) days notice before canceling, or
declining to renew its policy. At Bank’s request, Borrower shall deliver certified copies of policies and evidence of all premium
payments. Proceeds payable under any policy shall, at Bank’s option, be payable to Bank on account of the
Obligations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Borrower shall have
the option of applying the proceeds of any casualty policy up to Fifiy Thousend Dollars ($50,000.00), in the aggregate, toward the
replacement or repair of destroyed or damaged property; provided that any such replaced or repaired property (i} shall be of equal or
like value as the replaced or repaired Collateral and (ii) shall be deemed Collateral in which Bank has been granted 2 first priority
sccurity interest, and (b) after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all proceeds payable under such
casualty policy shall, at the option of Bank, be payable to Bank on account of the Obligations. If Borrower fails to obtain insurance as
required under this Section 6.7 or to pay any amount or furnish any required proof of payment to third persons and Bank, Bank may
make all or part of such payment or obtain such insurance policies required in this Section 6.7, and take any action under the policies
Bank deems prudent.

6.8 Operating Aeccounts,

{a) Subject to the following, meintain its and its Subsidiaries’, if any, primary depository, operating accounts
and securities accounts with Bank and Bank’s affiliates with all excess funds maintained at or invested through Banlk or an affiliate of
Bank:

{i) Borrower is permitted to maintain accounts nos. 000000708266184 and 000002330740974 (collectively,
the “JP Morgan Chase Bank Accounts”), provided that, whenever the aggregate balance in the JP Morgan Chase
Bank Aecounts exceeds Fifty Thousand Dollars (850,000), such excess amounts in such JP Morgan Chase Banic
Accounts shall promptly be transferred to Bank for deposit into such account as Bank shall specify.

{b) Provide Bank five (5) days prior-written notice before establishing any Collateral Account at or with any
bank or financial institution other than Bank or its Affiliates. In addition, for each Collateral Account that Borrower at any time
maintains, other than the JP Morgan Chase Bank Accounts, Borrower shall cause
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the applicable bank or financial institution {other than Bank) at or with which any Collateral Account is maintained to execute and
deliver a Control Agreement or other appropriate instrument with respect to such Collateral Account to perfect Bank’s Lien in such
Collateral Account in accordance with the terms hereunder. The provisions of the previous sentence shall not apply to deposit
accounts exclusively used for payroll, payroll taxes and other employee wage and benefit payments to or for the benefit of Borrower’s
employees and identified to Bank by Borrower as such.

6.9 Financial Covenants.

Borrower shall maintain at all times, to be tested as of the last day of each month, uniess otherwise noted, on a
consolidated basis with respect to Borrower and its Subsidiaties:

(&) Tangible Net Warth. A Tangible Net Worth of at least Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (3$500,000.00).

6.10 Protection of Intellectual Property Rights. Borrower shall use commercially reasonable efforts to: (2) protect,
defend and maintain the validity and enforceability of its intellectual property; (b) promptly advise Bank in writing of material
infringements of its intellectual property; and (c) not allow any intellectual property material to Borrower’s business to be abandoned,
forfeited or dedicated to the public without Bank’s written consent.

6.11 Litigation Cooperation. From the date hereof and continuing through the termination of this Agreement, make
available to Bank, at reasonable times and intervals, withowt expense 1o Bank, Borrower and its officers, employees and agents and
Borrower’s Books and records, to the extent that Bank may deem them reasonably necessary to prosecute or defend any third-party
(for clarity, other than Borrower or its Affiliates) suit or proceeding instituted by or against Bank with tespect to any Collateral or
relating to Borrower.

6.12 Further Assurances, Borrower shall execute any further instruments and take further action as Bank reasonably
requests to perfeet or continue Bank’s Lien in the Collateral or to effect the purposes of this Agreement,

7 NEGATIVE COVENANTS
Borrower shall not do any of the following without Bank’s prior written consent:

7.1 Dispositions. Convey, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of (collectively, “Transfer™), or permit any of its
Subsidiaries to Transfer, all or any part of its business or property, except for Transfers of (a) of Inventory in the ordinary course of
business; (b) of worn eut or obsolete Equipment; {¢) in connection with Permitted Liens and Permitted Investments; and (d) of
non-exclusive licenses for the use of the property of Borrower or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, and licenses that
could not result in a legal transfer of title of the licensed property but that may be exclusive in respects other than territory and that
may be exclusive as to territory only as to discreet geographical areas outside of the United States. Borrower shall not enter into an
agreement with any Person other than Bank which restricts the subsequent granting of a security interest in Botrower’s intellectual
property,

7.2 Changes in Business, Management, Ownership, Control, or Business Locations. (a) Engage in or permit any
of its Subsidiaries, if any, to engage in any business other than the businesses currently engaged in by Borrower and such Subsidiary,
as applicable, or reasonably related thereto; (b) liquidate or dissolve; or (c) (i) have a change in any member of the Senior
Management Group ot (ii) enter into any transaction or series of related transactions in which the stockholders of Borrower who were
not stockholders immediately prior to the first such transaction own more than forty-nine percent {49.00%) of the voting stock of
Borrower immediately after giving effect to such transaction or related series of such transactions {other than by the sale of
Borrower’s equity securities in a public offering or to venture capital mvestors so long as Borrower identifies to Bank the venture
capital investors prior te the closing of the transaction). Borrower shall not, without at least thirty (30) days prior writlen notice to
Bank: (1} add any new offices or business locations, including warehouses (unless such new offices or business locations contain less
than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) in Borrower’s assets or property), (2) change its jurisdiction of organizaticn, (3) change its
organizational structure or type, (4) change its legal name, or (5) change any organizational number (if any) assigned by its
jurisdiction of organizatior.
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7.3 Mergers or Acquisitions. Merge or conselidate, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to merge or consolidate, with
any other Persan, or acquire, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to acquire, all or substantially all of the capital stock or property of
another Person. A Subsidiary may merge or consolidate into another Subsidiary or into Borrower.

7.4 Indebtedness. Create, incur, agsume, or be linble for any Indebtedness, or permit any Subsidiary to do so, other
than Permitted Indebtedness.
7.5 Encumbrance. Create, incur, or allow any Lien on any of its property, or assign or convey any right to receive

income, including the sale of any Accounts, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so0, except for Permitted Liens, permit any
Collateral not to be subject to the first priority security interest granted herein, or enter into any agreement, document, instrument or
other arrangement (except with or in favor of Bank) with any Person which directly or indirectly prohibits or has the effect of
prohibiting Botrower or any Subsidiary from assigning, mortgaging, pledging, granting a security interest in or upon, or encumbering
any of Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s iniellectual property, except as is otherwise permitted in Section 7.1 hereof and the definitian of
“Permitted Lien™ herein.

7.6 Maintenance of Collateral Aceounts. Maintain any Collateral Account except pursuant to the terms of Section
6.8(b) hereof.
7.7 Investments; Distributions. {a) Directly or indirectly make any Investment other than Permitted Investments, or

permit any of its Subsidiaries to do so; or (b) pay any dividends or make any distribution or payment or redeem, retire or purchase any
capital stock provided that (i) Borrower may convert any of its convertible securities into other securities pursuant to the terms of such
convertible securities or otherwise in exchange thereof, (ii) Borrower may pay dividends solely in common stock; and (fii) Borrower
may repurchase the stock of existing and former employees or consultants pursuant to board approved stock repurchase agreements so
long as (X) an Event of Default does not exist at the time of such repurchase and would not exist after giving effect to such
repurchase, and (Y) such repurchase does not exceed Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) in the aggregate in sny
fiscal vear.

7.8 Transactions with Affiliates. Directly or indirectly enter into or permit to exist any material transaction with any
Affiliate of Borrower, except for transactions that are in the ordinary course of Borrower’s business, upon fair and reasonable terms
that are no less favorable to Borrower than would be obtained in an arm’s length transaction with a non-affiliated Person.

7.9 Subordinated Debt. (a) Make or permit any payment on any Subordinated Debt, except under the terms of the
subordination, intercreditor, or other similar agreement to which such Subordinated Debt is subject, or (b) amead any provision in any
document relating to the Subordinated Debt which would increase the amount therzof ar adversely affect the subordination thereof to
Obligations owed to Bank.

7.10 Compliance. Become an “investment company” ot a company controlled by an “investment company”, under the
Investment Company Act of 1940 or undertake as one of its important activities extending credit to purchase or carty margin stock (as
defined in Regulation U of the Board of Govemeors of the Federal Reserve System), or use the proceeds of any Credit Extension for
that purpose; fail to meet the minimum funding requirements of ERISA, permit a Reportable Event or Prohibited Transaction, 23
defined in ERISA, to occur; fail to comply with the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act or violate any other law or regulation, if the
violation could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to
do so; withdraw or permit any Subsidiary to withdraw from participation in, permit partial or complete termination of, or permit the
occurrence of any other event with respect to, any present pension, profit sharing and deferred compensation pian which conld
reasonably be expected to result in any liability of Borrower, including any liability to the Pension Benefit Guarenty Corporation or its
successors or any other governmental agency.

3 VENT: LT
Any one of the following shall constitute an event of default (an “Event of Default™) under this Agreement:

8.1 Payment Default. Borrower fails to (a) make any payment of principal or interest on any Credit Extension on its
due date, or (b) pay any other Obligations within three (3) Business Days after such Obligations are
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due and payable. During the cure period, the failure to cure the payment default is not an Event of Default (but no Credit Extension
will be made during the cure period),

8.2 Covenant Default.

(a) Borrower fails or neglects to perform any obligation in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.5, 6.6, 6.7, 6.8, 6.9, 6.10, or 6.11, or
violates any covenant in Section 7; or

(b) Borrower fails or neglects to perform, keep, or observe any other term, provision, condition, covenent or
agreement contained in this Agreement, any Loan Documents, and as to any default (other than those specified in this Section 8) under
such other term, provision, condition, covenant or agreement that can be cured, has failed to cure the default within ten (10) days after
the occurrence thereof; provided, however, that if the defanlt cannot by its nature be cured within the ten (10) day period or camnot
after diligent attempts by Borrower be cured within such ten (10) day period, and such default is likely to be cured within a reasonable
time, then Borrower shall have an additional period (which shall not in any case exceed thirty (30) days) to attempt to cure such
default, and within such reasonable time period the fajlure to cure the default shall not be deemed an Event of Default (but no Credit
Extensions shall be made during such cure period). Grace petiods provided under this section shall not apply, among other things, to
financial covenants or any other covenants set forth in subsection (a) above;

83 Material Adverse Change. A Material Adverse Change occurs;

84 Attachment. (a) Any material portion of Borrower’s assets is attached, seized, lavied on, or comes into possession
of a trustee or receiver and the attachment, seizure or levy is not removed in ten (10) days; (b) the service of process upon Bank (or
Bank’s Affiliate) seeking to attach, by trustee or similar process, any funds of Borrower, or of any entity under control of Bortower
(including a Subsidiary) on deposit with Bank (or bank’s Affiliate) In an agpregate amount in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars
($50,000.00); (c) Borrower is enjoined, restrained, or prevented by court order from conducting a material part of it business; (d} a
judgment or other claim in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) becomes a Lien on any of Borrower’s assets and is not
stayed or satisfied within ten (10) days; or {&) a notice of lien, levy, or assessment is filed against any of Borrower’s assets in an
agpregate amount in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) at any time by any government agency and not paid, discharged or
stayed within ten (10) days after Borrower receives notice. These are not Events of Default if stayed or if a bond is posted pending
contest by Borrower {but no Credit Extensions shall be made during the cure period);

35 Insolvency. (2) Borrower is unable to pay its debts (including trade debts) as they become due or otherwise
becomes insolvent; (h) Borrower begins an Insolvency Proceeding; or (c) an Insolvency Proceeding is begun against Borrower and not
dismissed or stayed within thirty (30) days (but ne Credit Extensions shall be made while of any of the conditions described in clause
() exist and/or until any Insolvency Proceeding is dismissed);

3.6 Other Agreements. There is a default in any agreement to which Borrower is a party with a third party or parties
resulting in a right by such: third party or parties, whether or not exercised, to accelerate the maturity of any Indebtedness in an amount
in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars (850,000.00) or that could have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s business;

8.7 Judgments. A judgment or judgments for the payment of money in an amount, individualty or in the aggregate, of
at least Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) (not covered by independent third-party insurance) shall be rendered against Borrower
and shall remain unsatisfied, unvacated and unstayed for a period of ten (10) days after the entry thereof (provided that no Credit
Extensions will be made prior to the satisfaction or stay of such judgment);

3.8 Misrepresentations. Borrower or any Person acting for Borrower makes any representation, warranty, or other
statement now or later in this Agreement, any Loen Document or in any writing delivered to Bank or to induce Bank to enter into this
Agreement or any Loan Document, and sach representation, warranty, or other statement is incorrect in any material respect when
made; or

8.9 Subordinated Debt. A defanlt or breach occurs under any agreement between Borrower and any creditor of
Borrower that signed a Suberdination Agreement, intercreditor, or other similar agreement with Bank, or any creditor that has signed
such an agreement with Bank breaches any terms of such agreement.
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9 BANK’S RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

9.1 Rights and Remedies. While an Event of Defanh occurs and continnes Bank may, without notice or demand, do
any or all of the following:
{(2) declare all Obligations immediately due and payable (but if an Event of Default described in Section 8.5

oceurs all Obligations are immediately due and payable without any action by Bank);

(b) stop advancing money or extending credit for Borrower’s benefit under this Agreement or under any other.
agreement between Borrower and Bank;

(€) demand that Borrower (i) deposits cash with Bank in an amount equal to the aggregate amount of any
Letters of Credit remaining undrawn, es collateral security for the repayment of any future drawings under such Letters of Credit, and
Borrower shall forthwith deposit and pay such amounts, and {ii) pay in advance all Letter of Credit fees scheduled to be paid or
payable over the remaining term of any Letters of Credit;

{d) terminate any FX Forward Contracts;

{e) settle or adjust disputes and claims directly with Account Debitors for amounts on terms and in any ordet
that Bank considers advisable, notify any Persan owing Borrower money of Bank’s security interest in such funds, and verify the
amount of such account;

(f) make any payments and do any acts it considers necessary or reasonable to protect the Collateral and/or
its security interest in the Collateral. Barrower shall assemble the Collateral if Bank requests and make it avatiable s Bank
designates. Bank may enter premises where the Collateral is located, take and maintain possession of any part of the Collateral, and
pay, purchase, contest, or compromise any Lien which appears to be prior or superior to its security interest and pay all expenses
incurred. Borrower grants Bank a license to enter and occupy any of its premises, without charge, to exercise any of Bank’s rights or
remedies;

{g) apply to the Obligations any (i} balances and deposits of Borrower it holds, or (ii) any amount held by
Bank owing to or for the credit or the account of Borrower;

() ship, reclaim, recover, store, finish, maintain, repair, prepare for sale, advertise for sale, and sell the
Collateral. Bank is hereby granted a non-exclusive, royalty-free license or other right to use, without charge, Borrower’s labels,
patents, copyrights, mask works, rights of use of any name, trade secrets, trade names, trademarks, service marks, and advertising
matter, or any similar property as it pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale, and selling any
Collateral and, in connection with Bank’s exercise of its rights under this Section, Borrower’s rights under all licenses and all
franchise agreements inure to Bank’s benefit;

Q] place a “hold” on any account maintained with Bank and/or deliver a notice of exclusive control, any
entitlement order, or other directions or instructions pursuant to any Control Agreement or similar agreements providing control of
any Collateral;

{)) demand and receive possession of Borrower’s Books; and

(k) exercise all rights and remedies available to Bank under the Loan Documents or at law or equity,
including all remedies provided under the Code {(including disposal of the Collateral pursuant to the terms thereof).

9,2 Power of Attorney. Barrower hereby irevocably appoints Bank as its lawful attorney-in-fact, exercisable upon
the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to: (a) endorse Botrrower’s name on any checks or other forms of
payment or security; (b) sign Borrower's name on any invoice or bill of lading for any Account or drafts againsi Account Debtors; (¢)
settle and adjost disputes and claims about the Accounts directly with Account Debtors, for amounts and on terms Bank determines
reagonable; (d) make, settle, and adjust aif claims under Borrower s insurance policies; () pay, contest or settle any Lien, charge,
encumbrance, security interest, and adverse claim in or to the Collateral, or any judgment based thereon, or otherwise take any action
1o terminate or discharge the same; and (f) transfer the Collateral into the name of Bank or a third party as the Code
permits. Borrower hereby appoints Bank as its lawful attorney-in-fact to sign Borrower’s name on any documents
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necessary to perfect or continue the perfection of any security interest in the Collateral regardless of whether an Event of Defzult has
occurred until all Obligations have been satisfied in full and Bank is under no further obligation to make Credit Extensions

hereunder. Bank’s foregoing appointment as Borrower’s attorney in fact, and all of Bank’s rights and powers, coupled with an
interest, are irrevocable until all Obligations have been fully repaid and petformed and Bank’s obligation to provide Credit Extensions
terminates.

9.3 Protective Payments. If Borrower fails to obtain the insurance called for by Section 6.7 or fails to pay any
premium thereon or fails to pay any other amount which Borrower is obligated to pay under this Agreement or any other Loan
Document, Bank may obtzin such insurance or make such payment, and all amounts so paid by Bank are Bank Expenses and
immediately due and payable, bearing interest at the then highest applicable rate charged by Bank, and secured by the
Collateral, Bank will make reasonable efforts to provide Borrower with notice of Bank obtaining such insurance at the time it is
obtained or within a reasonable time thereafter. No payments by Bank are deemed an agreement to make similar payments in the
future or Bank’s waiver of any Event of Default,

9.4 Application of Payments and Proceeds. Unless an Event of Default has accurred and is continuing, Bank shall
apply any funds in its possession, whether from Borrower account balances, payments, or proceeds realized as the result of any
collection of Accounts or other disposition of the Collateral, first, to Bank Expenses, including without limitation, the reasonable
costs, expenses, liabilities, obligations and attorneys® fees incurred by Bank in the exercise of its rights under this Agreement; second,
to the interest due upon any of the Obligations; and third, to the principal of the Obligations and any applicable fees and other charpges,
in such order as Bank shall determine in its sole discretion. Any surplus shall be paid to Borrower or other Persons legally entitled
thereto; Borrower shall remain liable to Bank for any deficiency. If an Event of Default has occwred and is continning, Bank may
apply any funds in its possession, whether from Bomrower account balances, payments, proceeds realized as the result of any collection
of Accounts or other disposition of the Collateral, or otherwise, to the Obligations in such order as Bank shall determine in its sole
discretion. Any surplus shall be paid to Borrower or to other Persons legally entitled thereto; Borrower shall remain liable to Bank for
any deficiency. If Bank, in its good faith business judgment, directly or indirectly enters into a deferred payment or other credit
transaction with any purchaser at any sale of Collateral, Bank shall have the option, exercisable at any time, of either reducing the
Obligations by the principal amount of the purchase price or deferring the reduction of the Obligations until the actual receipt by Bank
of cash therefor,

9.5 Bank’s Liahility for Collateral. So long as Bank complies with reasonable banking practices regarding the
safekeeping of the Collateral in the possession or under the control of Bank, Bank shall not be liable or responsible for: (a) the
safekeeping of the Collateral; (b) any loss or damage to the Collateral; (c) any diminution in the value of the Collateral; or (d) any act
or default of any carrier, warchonseman, bailee, or other Persor. Borrower bears all risk of loss, damage or destruction of the
Collateral.

9.6 No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. Bank’s failure, at any time or times, to require strict performance by
Borrower of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall not waive, affect, or diminish any right of Bank
thereafier to demand strict performance and compliance herewith or therewith. No waiver hereunder shall be effective unless signed
by Bank and then is only effective for the specific instance and purpose for which it is given, Bank’s rights and remedies under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents arc cumulative. Bank has all rights and remedies provided under the Code, by law, or in
equity. Bank’s exercise of one right or remedy is not an ¢lection, and Banlk’s waiver of any Event of Default is not a continuing
waiver. Bank’s delay in exercising any remedy is not a waiver, election, or acquiescence.

9.7 Demand Waiver. Borrower waives demand, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and nonpayment,
notice of any default, nonpayment at maturity, release, compromise, settlement, extension, or renewal of accounts, documents,
instruments, chattel paper, and guarantees held by Bank on which Borrower is liable.

10 NOTICES

All notices, consents, requests, approvals, demands, or other communication {collectively, “Communication™), other than
Advance requests made pursuant to Section 3.4, by any party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document must be in writing and
be delivered or sent by facsimile at the addresses or facsimile numbers listed betow. Bank or Borrower may change its notice address
by giving the other party written notice thereof. Each such Communication shall be deemed to have been validly served, given, or

delivered: (a) upon the earlier of actual receipt and three (3) Business Days after deposit in the U.S. mail, registered or certified mail,
return
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receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid; (b) upon transmission, when sent by facsimile transmission {with such facsimile
promptly confirmed by delivery of a copy by personal delivery or United States mail as otherwise provided in this Section 10); (¢} one
(1) Business Day after deposit with a reputable overnight courier with all charges prepaid; or (d} when delivered, if hand-delivered by
messenger, all of which shall be addressed to the party to be notified and sent to the address or facsimile number indicated
below. Advance requests made pursuant to Section 3.4 must be in writing and may be in the form of electronic meil, delivered to
Bank by Borrower at the ¢-mail address of Bank provided below and shall be deemed to have been validly served, given, or delivered
when sent (with such ¢lectronic mail promptly confirmed by delivery of a copy by personal delivery or United States mail as
otherwise provided in this Section 10), Bank or Borrower may change its address, facsimile number, or electronic mail address by
giving the other party written notice thereof in accordance with the terms of this Section 10,

If to Borrower: World Energy Solutions, Inc.
World Energy Securities Corp.
¢/o World Energy Soluvdons, Inc.
446 Main Street
Worcester, Massachusetts 01608
Atin: Jim Parslow, CFO
Fax: (508) 459-8101
Email: jparslow@worldenergy.com

with a copy to: Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street
Boston, Massachusetts
Attn;  Mr. Mitchel Appelbaum
Fax: (617) 526-5000
Email: mitchel.appelbaum(@wilmerhale.com

If to Bank: Silicon Valley Bank
One Newton Executive Park, Suite 200
2221 Washington Street, Newton, MA 02462
Attn; Mr. David Radriguez
Fax: (617)969-4395
Email: drodriguez@svb.com

with a copy to: Riemer & Braunstein LLP
Three Center Plaza
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
Attn: Charles W. Stavros, Esquire
Fax: (617) 880-3456
Email: cstavros@riemerlaw.com

11 CHOI W, VE AND YT R

Massachusetts law governs the Loan Documents without regand to principles of conflicts of law. Borrower and Bank each
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal courts in Massachusetis; provided, however, that nothing in this
Agreement shall be deemed to operate to preclude Bank from bringing suit or taking other legal action in any other jurisdiction to
realize on the Collateral or any other security for the Obligations, or to enforce a judgment or other court order in favor of
Bank. Borrower expressly submits and consents in advance to such jurisdiction in any action or snit commenced in any such court,
and Borrower hereby waives any objection that it may have based upon lack of personal jurisdiction, improper venue, or forum non
conveniens and hereby consents to the granting of such legal or squitable relief as is deemed appropriste by such court, Borrower
hereby waives personal service of the summons, complaints, and other process issued in such action or suit and agrees that service of
such summons, complaints, and other process may be made by registered or certified mail addressed to Borrower at the address set
forth in Section 10 of this Agreement and that service o made shall be deemed completed upon the earlier to occur of Bommower’s
actual receipt thereof or three (3) days after deposit in the U.S. mails, proper postage prepaid. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING
TO THE CONTRARY SET FORTH HEREINABOVE,
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BANK SHALL SPECIFICALLY HAVE THE RIGHT TC BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST BORROWER CR
ITS PROPERTY IN THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHICH BANK DEEMS NECESSARY OR
APPROPRIATE IN ORDER TO REALIZE ON THE COLLATERAL OR TO OTHERWISE ENFORCE BANK'S RIGHTS
AGAINST BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTY.

TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BORROWER AND BANK EACH WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO
A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT,

THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTION, INCLUDING CONTRACT, TORT, BREACH
OF DUTY AND ALL OTHER CLAIMS, THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR BOTH PARTIES TO

ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL.

12 GENERAL PROVISIONS

121 Termination Prior to Maturity Date. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Revolving Line Maturity
Date by Borrower, effective three (3) Business Days after written notice of termination is received by Bank or if Bank’s obligation {o
fund Credit Extensions terminates pursuant to the terms of Section 2.1.1(b). Notwithstanding any such termination, Bank’s lien and
security interest in the Collateral shall continue until Borrower fully satisfies ils Obligations. If such termination is at Borrower's
election or at Bank’s election due to the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, Borrower shall pay to Bank, in addition to
the payment of any other expenses or fees then-owing, a termination fee in an amount equal to Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00)
provided that no termination fee shall be charged if the credit facility hereunder is replaced with a new facility from another division
of Silicon Valley Bank. Upon payment in full of the Obligations and at such time as Bank’s obligation to make Credit Extensions has
terminated, Bank shall release its liens and security interests in the Collateral and all rights therein shall revert to Borrower.

12,2 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement binds and is for the benefit of the successors and permitied assigns of
each party. Borrower may not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations under it without Bank’s prior written consent (which
may be granted or withheld in Bank’s discretion). Bank has the right, without the consent of or notice to Borrower, to sell, transfer,
negotiate, or grant participation in all or any part of, or any interest in, Bank’s obligations, rights, and benefits under this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents.

12.3 Indemnification. Borrower agrees 1o indemrify, defend and hold Bank and its directors, officers, employees,
agents, attorneys, or any other Person affiliated with or representing Bank harmless against: (a) all obligations, demands, claims, and
liabilities {collectively, “Claims™) asserted by any other party in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Loan
Documents; and (b) all losses or Bank Expenses incwred, or paid by Bank from, following, or arising from transactions between Bank
and Borrower (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses), except for Claims and/or losses directly caused by Bank’s gross
negligence or willful misconduct.

124 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence for the performance of all Obligations in this Agreement.

12,5 Severability of Provisions. Each provision of this Agreement is severable from every other provision in
determining the enforceability of any provision,

12.6 Amendments in Writing; Integration. All amendments to this Agreement must be in writing signed by both
Bank and Borrower. This Agreement and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede
prior negotiations or agreements. All prior agreements, understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations between the
parties about the subject matter of this Agreement and the Loan Documents merge into this Agreement and the Loan Documents.

12.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on
separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, are an eriginal, and all taken together, constitute one Agreement.

12.8 Survival. All covenants, representations and warranties made in this Agreement continue in full force uatil this
Apgreement has terminated pursuant to its terms and all Obligations (other than inchoate indemnity obligations and any other
obligations which, by their terms, are to survive the termination of this Agreement) have
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been satisfied. The ebligation of Borrower in Section 12.3 to indemnify Bank shall survive until the statute of limitations with respect
to such claim or cause of action shall have run.

12,9 Confidentiality. In handling any confidential infarmatian, Bank shall exercise the same degree of care that it
exercises for its own proprietary information, but disclosure of information may be made: (a) to Bank’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates; (b)
to prospective transferees or purchasers of any interest in the Credit Extensions (provided, however, Bank shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain such prospective transferee’s or purchaser’s agreement to the terms of this provision); (c) as required by
law, regulation, subpoena, or other order; (d) to Bank’s regulators or as otherwise required in connection with Bank’s examination or
audit; and (e) as Bank considers appropriate in exercising remedies under this Agreement. Confidential information does not include
information that either: (i) is in the public domain or in Bank’s possession when disclosed to Bank, or becomes part of the pubtic
domain after disclosure to Bank; or (ji) is disclosed to Bank by & third party, if Bank does not know that the third party is prohibited
from disclosing the information.

12,10 Attorneys’ Fees, Costs and Expenses. In any action or procesding between Borrower and Bank arising out of or
relating to the Loan Documents, Bank shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred,
in addition to any other relief to which it may be entitled.

12,11  Borrower Liability. Either Borrower may, acting singly, request Credit Extensions hereunder. Each Bommower
hereby appoints the other as agent for the other for all purposes hereunder, including with respect to requesting Credit Extensions
hereunder. Each Borrower hereunder, jointly and severally, shall be obligated to repay all Credit Extensions made hereunder,
regardless of which Borrower actually receives said Advance, as if each Borrower hereunder directly received all Credit
Extensions, Each Borrower waives any suretyship defenses avaitable to it under the Code or any other applicable law. Each
Borrower waives any right to require Bank to: {i) proceed against any Borrower or any other person; (ji) procced against or exhaust
any security; or (iii) pursue any other remedy. Bank may exercise or not exercise any right or remedy it has against any Borrower or
any security it holds (including the right to foreclose by judicial or non-judicial sale) without affecting any Borrower’s
liability. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or other related document, each Borrower irevocably waives all
rights that it may have at law or in equity (including, without limitation, any law subrogating Borrower to the rights of Bank under this
Agreement) to seek contribution, indemnification or any other form of reimbursement from any other Borrower, or any other Person
now or hereafter primarily or secondarily liable for any of the Obligations, for any payment made by Borrower with respect 1o the
Obligations in connection with this Agreement or otherwise and all rights that it might have to benefit from, or to participate in, any
security for the Obligations as a result of any payment made by Borrower with respect to the Obligations in connection with this
Agreement or otherwise. Any agreement providing for indernnification, reimbursement or any other arrangement prohibited under
this Section shall be null and void. If any payment is made to a Borrower in cantravention of this Section, such Borrower shall hold
such payment in trust for Bank and such payment shail be pramptly delivered to Bank for application to the Ohligations, whether
matured or unmatured.

1212 Right of Set Off. Borrower hereby grants to Bank, a lien, security interest and right of set off as security for all
Obligations to Bank, whether now existing or hereafter arising upon and against ali depusits, credits, collateral and property, now or
hereafler in the possession, custody, safekeeping or control of Bank or any entity under the control of Bank (including a Bank
subsidiary) or in transit to any of them. At any time after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, without
demand or notice, Bank may set off the same or any part thereof and apply the same to any liability or obligation of Borrower even
though unmatured and regardless of the adequacy of any other collateral securing the Obligations. ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO
REQUIRE BANK TO EXERCISE ITS RIGHTS OR REMEDIES WITH RESPECT TO ANY OTHER COLLATERAL WHICH
SECURES THE OBLIGATIONS, PRIOR TO EXERCISING ITS RIGHT OF SETOFF WITH RESPECT TO SUCH DEPOSITS,
CREDITS OR OTHER PROPERTY OF BORROWER ARE HEREBY ENOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND IRREVOCABLY
WAIVED.

13 DEFINITIONS
131 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

“Account” is any “account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made, and includes,
without limitation, all accounts receivable and other sums owing to Borrower.
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“Account Debtor” is any “account debtor” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafler be
made. ‘

“Advanee” or “Advances” means an advance (or advances) under the Revolving Line.

“Affiliate” of any Person is a Person that awns or controls directly or indirectly the Person, any Person that controls or is
controlled by or is under common control with the Person, and each of that Person’s senior executive officers, directors, partners and,
for any Person that is a limited liability company, that Person’s managers and members.

“Agreement” is defined in the preamble hereof.

“Adjusted Quick Ratio” is, on any date of determination, the ratio of (a) (i) Borrower’s unrestricted cash at Bank, plus (ii)
Eligible Accounts, tp (b) (i) all Indebtedness of Borrower owed to Bank, plus (ii) without duplication, the aggregate amount of
Borrower’s Total Liabilities that mature within one (1) vear, minus (ii) Deferred Revenue.

“Availability Amount” is (a) the lesser of (i) the Revolving Line or (i) the Borrowing Base minus (b) the amount of all
outstanding Letters of Credit (including drawn but unreimbursed Letters of Credit plus an amount equal to the Letter of Credit
Reserves), minus (c) the FX Reserve, and minus (d) the outstanding principal balance of any Advances (including any amounts used
for Cash Management Services).

“Bank” is defined in the preamble hereof.

“Bank Expenses” are all audit fees and reasanable expenscs, costs, and expenses (inclnding reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses) for preparing, negotiating, administering, defending and enforcing the Loan Documenis (including, without himitation, thase
incurred in commection with appeals or Insolvency Proceedings) or otherwise incurred with respect to Borrower.

“Barrower” iz defined in the preamble hereof,

“Barrower’s Books” are all Borrower’s books and records including ledgers, federsl and stete tax returns, records regarding
Borrower’s assets or liabilities, the Collateral, business operations or financial condition, and all computer programs of storage of any
equipment containing such information.

“Borrowing Base” is (a) eighty percent (80.0%) of Eligible Accounts, plus (b) twenty-five percent (25%) of Eligible Retail
Backlog Accounts, capped at an amount not to exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of clause (a) plus clause (b), in each case as
determined by Bank from Borrower’s most recent Borrowing Base Certificate;_provided, however, that Bank may decrease the
foregoing percentages in its good faith business judgment based on events, conditions, contingencies, or risks which, as determined by
Bank, may adversely affect the value of the Collateral.

“Borrowing Base Certificate” is that certain certificate included within each Transaction Report.

“Borrowing Resolutions” are, with respect to any Person, those resolutions adopted by such Person’s Board of Directors or
other appropriate body and delivered by such Person to Bank approving the Loan Documents to which such Person is a party and the
transactions contemplated thereby, together with a certificate executed by its secretary on behalf of such Person certifying that (a) such
Person has the authority to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations uader each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party,
(b) that attached as Exhibit A to such certificate is & true, correct, 2nd complete capy of the resolutions then in full force and effect
authorizing and ratifying the execution, delivery, and performance by such Person of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, (¢)
the name(s) of the Person(s) authorized to execuie the Loan Documents on behalf of such Person, together with a sample of the true
signature(s) of such Person(s), and (d) that Bank may conclusively rely on such certificate vnless and until such Person shall have
delivered to Bank a further certificate canceling or amending such prior certificate.

“Business Day” is any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which Bank is closed.

“Cash Equivalents” means (a) marketable direct obligations issued or unconditionaily guaranteed by the United fStates or
any agency or any State thereof having maturities of not more than one (1) year trom the date of acquisition; (b) commetrcial paper
maturing no more than one (1) year after its creation and having the highest rating
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from either Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., (¢) Bank's certificates of deposit issued maturing no
more than one (1) year after issue; and (d) money market funds at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the assets of which constimte
Cash Equivalents of the kinds described in clauses (a) through (c) of this definition.

“Cash Management Services” is defined in Section 2.1.4.
“Cash Management Services Sublimit” is defined in Section 2.1.4.

“Code” is the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same may, from time to time, be enacted and in effect in the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts; provided, that, to the extent that the Code is used to defing any term herein or in any Loan
Document and such term is defined differently in different Articles or Divisions of the Code, the definition of such term contained in
Article or Division 9 shall govern; provided further, that in the event that, by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the
attachment, perfection, or priority of, or remedics with respect to, Bank’s Lien on any Collateral is govemed by the Uniform
Commercial Code in effect in a jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the term “Code” shall mean the
Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction solely for purposes on the provisions thereof relating to
such attachment, perfection, priority, or remedies and for purposes of definitions relating to such provisions.

“Collateral” is any and all properties, rights and assets of Borrower described on Exhibit A.
“Collateral Account” is any Deposit Account, Securities Account, or Commodity Account.

“Commodity Account” is any “commodity account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may
hereafter be made.

“Communication” is defined in Section 10.
“Compliance Certificate” is that certain certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.

“Contingent Obligation” is, for any Person, any direct or indirect liability, contingent or not, of that Person for {a) any
indebtedness, lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligation of another such as an obligation directly or indirectly guaranteed,
endorsed, co-made, discounted or sold with recourse by that Person, or for which that Person is directly or indirectly liable; (b) any
obligations for undrawn letters of credit for the account of that Person; and (c) all obligations from any interest rate, currency or
commodity swap agreement, interest rate cap or collar agreement, or other agreement or arrangement designated to protect a Person
against fluctuation in interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices; but “Contingent Qbligation” does not include
endorsements in the ordinary course of business. The amount of a Contingent Obligation is the stated or determined amount of the
primary obligation for which the Contingent Obligation is made or, if not determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability
for it determined by the Person in good faith; but the amount may not exceed the maximum of the obligations under any guarantee or
other support arrangement.

“Control Agreement” is any control agreement entered into among the depository institution at which Borrower maintains a
Deposit Account or the securities intermediary or commodity intermediary at which Borrower maintains a Securities Account or a
Commodity Account, Bortowet, and Bank pursuant to which Bank obtains control (within the meaning of the Code) over such
Deposit Account, Securities Account, or Commodity Account,

“Credit Extension” is any Advance, Letter of Credit, FX Forward Contract, amount utilized for Cash Management Services,
or any other extension of credit by Bank for Borrower’s benefit.

“Default” means any event which with notice or passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
“Default Rate” is defined in Section 2.3(b).

“Deferred Revenue” is all amounts received or invoiced in advance of performance under contracis and not yet recognized
as revenue.

“Deposit Account” is any “deposit account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafier be
made.

-20 -

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2008

324



“Designated Deposit Account” is Borrower’s depasit account, account number , maintained with Bank.
“Dollars,” “doliars” and “$” cach mean lawful money of the United States.
“Effective Date” is the date Bank cxecutes this Agreement and as indicated on the signature page hereof.

“Eligible Accounts” are Accounts which arisc in the ordinary course of Borrower’s business that meet all Borrower’s
representations and warranties in Section 5.3. Bank reserves the right at any time and from time to time after the Effective Date upon
notice to Borrower, to adjust any of the criteria set forth below and to establish new criteria in its good faith business
Jjudgment. Without limiting the fact that the determination of which Accounts are eligible for borrowing is a matter of Bank’s good
faith judgment, the following (“Minimum Eligibility Requirements™) are the minimum requirements for an Account to be an Eligible
Account. Unless Bank agrees otherwise in writing, Eligible Accounts shall not include:

(&) Accounts that the Account Debtor has not paid within ninety (90} days of invoice date;

(b) Accounts owing from an Account Debtor, fifty percent (50%) or more of whose Accounts have not been paid
within ninety (30) days of invoice date;

(c) Credit balances over ninety (90) days from invoice date;

(d) Accounts owing from an Account Debtor, inchiding Affiliates, whose total obligations to Borrower exceed
twenty-five (25%) of all Accounts, for the amounts that exceed that percentage, unless Bank approves in writing;

(e) Represent progress billings, or be due under a fulfillment or requirements contract;

6] Accounts owing from an Accomnt Debtor which does not have its principal place of business in the United States
or Canacda;

(2 Accounts owing from the United States or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereof except for Accounts

of the United States if Borrower has assigned its payment rights to Bank and the assignment has been acknowledged under the Federal
Assignment of Claims Act of 1940, as amended;

(h) Accounts owing from an Account Debtor to the extent that Borrower is indebted or obligated in any manner to the
Account Debtor (as creditor, lessor, supplicr or otherwise - sometimes called “contra” accounts, acconnts payable, customer deposits
ar credit accounts), with fhe exception of customary credits, adjustments and/or discounts given to an Account Debtor by Borrower in
the ordinary course of its business;

i) Accounts for demonstration or promotional equipment, or in which goods are consigned, or sold on a “sale
guaranteed”, “sale or return”, “sale on approval”, “bill and hold™, or other terms if Account Debtor’s payment may be conditional;

G Accounts for which the Account Debtor is Borrower’s Affiliate, officer, employee, or agent;

k) Accounts in which the Account Debtor disputes liability or makes any claim (but only up to the disputed or

claimed amount), or if the Account Debtor is subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, or becomes insolvent, or goes out of business;

)] Accounts owing from an Account Debtor with respect to which Borrower has received Deferred Revenue (but only
to the extent of such Deferred Revenue);

(m) Accounts for which Bank in its good faith business judgment determines collection to be doubtful; and
{n) other Accounts Bank deems ineligible in the exercise of its good faith business judgment.
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“Eligible Retail Backlog Accounis” are Accounts that {i) are otherwise Eligible Accounts and (ii) are contractually due to be
recognized as revenue within ninety (90) days and are the result of completed auctions.

“Equipment” is all “equipment” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be made, and
includes without limitation all machinery, fixtures, goods, vehicles (including motor vehicles and trailers), and any interest in any of
the foregoing.

“ERISA” is the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and its regulations.
“Event of Default” is defined in Section 8.

“Funding Date” is any date on which a Credit Extension is made 10 or on account of Borrower which shall be a Business
Day,

“FX Business Day” is any day when () Bank’s Foreign Exchange Depariment is conducting its normal business and (b} the
Foreign Currency being purchased or sold by Borrower is available to Bank from the entity from which Bank shall buy or sell such
Foreign Currency.

“FX Forward Contract” is defined in Section 2.1.3.
“FX Reserve” is defined in Section 2.1.3.

“GAAP” is generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting
Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other Person as may be approved by a significant segment of the
accounting profession, which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination.

“General Intangibles” is all “general intangibles” as defined in the Code in effect on the date hereof with such additions to
such term as may hereafter be made, and inclades without limitation, all copyright rights, copyright applications, copyright
registrations and like protections in each work of authorship and derivative work, whether published or unpublished, any patents,
trademarks, service marks and, to the extent permitted under applicable law, any applications therefor, whether registered or not, any
trade secret riphts, including any rights to unpatented inventions, pavmenl intangibles, royalties, contract rights, goodwill, franchise
agreements, purchase orders, customer lists, route lists, telephone numbers, domain names, claims, income and other tax refunds,
security and other deposits, options te purchase or sell real or personal property, rights in all litigation presently or hereafter pending
(whether in contract, tort or otherwise), insurance policies (including without limitation key man, property damage, and business
interruption insurance), payments of insurance and rights to payment of any kind.

“Indebtedness™ is (a) indebtedness for borrowed money or the deferred price of property or services, such as reimbursement
and other obligations for surety bonds and letters of credit, ¢(b) obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar
nstruments, {c) capital lease obligations, and (d) Contingent Obligations.

“Initial Audit” is Bank’s initial insp¢ction of the Collateral and Borrower’s Books.

“Insolvency Proceeding” is any proceeding by or against any Person under the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any other
bankruptcy or insolvency law, including assignmenis for the benefit of creditors, compositions, extensions generally with its creditors,
or proceedings secking reorganization, arrangement, or other relief.

“Inventory” is all “inventory” as defined in the Code in effect on the date hereof with such additions to such term as may
hereafter be made, and includes without limitation all merchandise, raw materials, parts, supplies, packing and shipping materials,
work in process and finished products, incliding without limitation such inventory as is temporarily out of Berrower’s custody or
possession or in transit and including any returned goods and any documents of title representing any of the above,

“Investment” is any beneficial ownership interest in any Person (including stock, partnership interest or other securities), and
any loan, advance or capital contribution to any Person.
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“Letter of Credit” means a siandby leiter of credit issued by Benk or another institution based upon an application,
guarantee, indemnity or similar apreement on the part of Bank as set forth in Section 2.1.2.

“Letter of Credit Application” is defined in Section 2.1.2(a).
“Letter of Credit Reserve” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.2(d).
“Lien” is a mortgage, lien, deed of trust, charge, pledge, security interest or other encumbrance.

“Loan Documents” are, collectively, this Agreement, the Perfection Certificate, the Subordination Agreement, if any, any
nate, or notes or guaranties executed by Borrower, or any other present or future agreement executed by Botrower, if any, and/ar for
the benefit of Bank in connection with this Agreement, each as amended, restated, or otherwise modified.

‘“Material Adverse Change” is (a) a material impairment in the perfection or priority of Bank’s Lien in the Collateral or in
the value of such Collateral; {b) a material adverse change in the business, operations, or condition (financial or atherwise) of
Borrower; (c) a material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion of the Obligations or (d) Bank determines, based
upon information available to it and in its reasonable judgment, that there is a reasonable likelihood that Borrower ghall fail to comply
with one or more of the financial covenants in Section 6 during the next succeeding financial reporting period.

“Minimum Eligibility Requirements is defined in the defined term “Eligible Accounts™.

“Obligations” are Borrower's obligation to pay when due any debis, principal, interest, Bank Expenses and other amounts
Borrower owes Bank now or later, whether under this Agreement, the Loan Documents, including, without limitation, zll obligations
relating to letters of credit, cash management services, and foreipn exchange contracts, if any, and including inierest accraing after
Insolvency Proceedings begin and debts, liabilities, or obligations of Borrower assigned to Bank, and the performance of Borrower’s
duties under the Loan Documents,

“Ciperating Documents™ are, for any Person, such Person’s formation documents, as certified with the Secretary of State of
such Person’s state of formation on a date that is no earlier than 30 days prior to the Effective Date, and, (a) if such Person is a
corporation, its bylaws in current form, (b) if such Person is a limited ligbility company, its limited liability company agreement (or
similar agreement), and (c) if such Person is a partnership, its partnership agreement {or similar agreement), each of the foregoing with
all current amendments or modifications thereto.

“Payment” means all checks, wire transfers and other items of payment received by Bank (including proceeds of Accounts
and payment of all the Obligations in full) for credit to Botrower’s outstanding Credit Extensions or, if the balance of the Credit
Extengions has been reduced to zero, for credit 1o its Deposit Accounts,

“Perfection Certificate” is defined in Section 5.1.

“Permitted Indebtedness” is:

{=) Borrower’s Indebtedness to Bank under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;

(b) Indebtedness existing on the Effective Date and shown on the Perfection Certificate;

{c) Subordinated Debt, if any;

(d unsecured Indebtedness to trade creditors incurred in the ordinary course of business; any

(e) Indebtedness incurred as a result of endorsing negotiable instruments received in the ordinary course of business;
§] Indebtedness secured by Permitied Liens;

(2 Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by Section 7.4 in &n amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000)

in the aggregate outstanding at any time; and
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(h) cxtensions, refinancings, modifications, amendments and restatements of any items of Penmnitted Indebtedness (a)
through (g) above, provided that the principal amount thereof is not increased or the terms thereof are not modified to impose more
burdensome terms upon Borrower or its Subsidiary, as the case may be.

“Permitted Investments” are:

(a) Investments shown on the Perfection Certificate and existing on the Effective Date;
(b} Cash Equivalents;
(c) Investments consisting of the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection or similer

transactions in the ordinary course of Borrower’s business;

(d) Investments consisting of (i) travel advances and employee relocation loans and other employee loans and
advances in the ordinary course of business, and (ii) loans to employees, officers or directors relating to the purchase of equity
securities of Borrower or its Subsidiaries pursuant to employee stock purchase plans or agreements approved by Borrower’s Board of
Directors;

) Investments (including debt obligations) received in connection with the bankraptcy or reorgaaization of customers
or suppliers and in settlement of delinquent obiigations of, and other disputes with, customers or suppliers arising in the ordinary
course of business; and

63 Investments consisting of notes receivable of, or prepaid royalties and other credit extensions, to customers and
suppliers who are not Affiliates, in the ordinary course of business; provided that this paragraph (f) shall not apply to Investments of
Borrower in any Subsidiary,

“Permitted Liens”, whether now existing or hereafier arising, are:

(a) Liens existing on the Effective Date and shown on the Perfection Certificate or arising under this Agreement and
the other Loan Documents;

(b} Liens for taxes, fees, assessments or other gavernment charges or levies, either not delinquent or being contested in
good faith and for which Botrower maintains adequate reserves on its Books, if they have no priority over any of Bank’s Liens;

{c) purchase money Liens (i) on Equipment acquired or held by Borrower incurred for financing the acquisition of the
Equipment securing no more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) in the aggregate amount outstanding, or {ii) existing
on Equipment when acquired, if the Lien is confined to the property and improvements and the proceeds of the Equipment;

{d) Liens of carriers, warchousemen, suppliers, or other Persans that are possessory in nature arising in the ordinary
course of business, so long as such Liens attach only to Inventory, that are not delinquent, that remain payable without penalty, or that
are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings that have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the property
subject to such Liens;

{e) Liens to secure payment of workers’ compensation, employment insurance, old age pensions, social security, and
other like obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business (other than Liens imposed by ERISA);

() Liens incurred in the extension, renewal or refinancing of the indebtedness secured by Liens described in (a)
through (c), but any extension, renewal or replacement Lien must be limited to the property encumbered by the existing Lien and the
principat amount of the indebtedness may not increase;

() leases or subleases of real property granted in the ordinary course of business, and leases, subleases, non-exclusive
licenses or sublicenses of property (other than real property or intellectual property) granted in the ordinary course of Borrower’s
business, if the leases, subleases, licenses and sublicenses do not prohibit granting Bank a security interest;
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) non-exclusive licenses of intellectual property granted to third parties in the ordinary course of business;

(1) Liens atising from judgments, decrees or attachments in circumstances not constituting an Event of Default under
Section 8.4 or B.7;

§)) Liens securing Permitted Indebtedness;

(k) Liens in favor of any landlord of Borrower solely to secure the payment of rent by Borrower; and

(k) Liens in favor of other financial institutions arising in commection with Borrower’s deposit andfor securities

accounts held at such institutions.

“Person” is any individual, sole proprictorship, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, company, trust,
unincorporated organization, association, corporation, institution, public benefit corporation, firm, joint stock company, estate, entity
or govertument agency.

“Prime Rate” is Bank’s most recently announced “prime rate,” even if it is not Bank’s lowest rate.

“Reglstered Organization” is any “registered organization”™ as defined in the Code with such additions to such terr as may
hereafter be made.

“Reserves” means, as of any date of determination, such amounts as Bank may from time to time establish and revise in
good faith reducing the amount of Advances, Letters of Credit and other financial accommodations which would otherwise be
available to Borrower under the lending formulas: (a) to reflect events, conditions, contingencies or risks which, as determined by
Bank in good faith, do or may affect (i) the Coltateral or any other property which is security for the Obligations or its value
{(including without limitation any increase in definquencies of Accounts), (ii) the assets or business of Borrower or any guarantor, or
(iii) the security interests and other rights of Bank in the Collateral (including the enforceability, perfection and priority thereof), or (b)
to reflect Bank’s good faith belief that any collateral report or financial information furnished by or on behalf of Borrower or any
guarantor to Bank is or may have been incomplete, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or {t) in respect of any state of
facts which Bank determines in good faith constitytes an Event of Default or may, with notice or passage of time or bath, constitute an
Event of Default.

“Responsible Officer” is any of the Chief Executive QOfficer, President, Chief Financial Officer and Controtler of Borrower.

“Revolving Line” is an Advance or Advances in an aggregate amount of up to Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000.00)
outstanding at any time.

“Revolving Line Maturity Date” is September 7, 2009.

“Securities Account™ is any “securities account” as defined in the Code with such additions to such term as may hereafter be
made.

“Senior Management Group™ is the group of individuals, exclusive of others, who, as of the Effective Date, hold any of the
following positions at Borrower: Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Financial Officer.

“Settlement Date” is defined in Section 2.1.3.

“Streamline Period” is any date of measurement in which Borrower’s Adjusted Quick Ratio is greater than or equal to 1.0 to
1.0.

“Subordinated Debt” is indebtedness incurred by Borrower subordinated to afl of Borrower’s now or hereafier indebtedress
to Bank (purswant to a subordination, intercreditor, or other similar agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Bank entered into
between Bank and the other creditor), on terms acceptable to Bank.

-25-
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“Subordination Agreement” is any agreement, in form and substance acceptable to Bank in its sole discretion, as required
by Bank in its sole discretion, subordinating Subordinated Debt to the Bank.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any Person of which more than fifty percent {(50%) of the voting stock or
other equity interests is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more Affiliates of such Person,

“Tangible Net Worth ™ is, on any date, the consolidated total assets of Borrower and its Subsidiaries minug (a) any amounts
attributable to (i) goodwill, (ii) intangible items including unamortized debt discount and expense, patents, trade and service marks
and names, copyrights and research and development expenses except prepaid expenses, (iii) notes, accounts receivabie and other

obligations owing to Borrower from its officers or other Affiliates, and (iv) reserves not already deducted from assets, minys (b) Total
Liabilities_plus (¢) Subordinated Debt.

“Total Liabilities” is on any day, obligations that should, under GAAP, be classified as liabilities on Bomrower’s
consolidated balance sheet, including all Indebtedness, and current portion of Subordinated Debt permitted by Bank to be paid by
Borrower, but excluding all other Subordinated Debt.

“Transaction Report” is the Bank’s standard reporting package provided by Bank to Borrower.

“Transfer” is defined in Section 7.1,
“Unused Revolving Line Facility Fee” is defined in Section 2.4{d).

[Signature page follows.]

2% -
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as a sealed instrument under the
laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of the Effective Date.

BORROWER:
WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By

Name:

Title:

WORLD ENERGY SECURITIES CORF.

By

Name:

Title:

BANK:
SILICON VALLEY BANK

By

Name:

Title:

Effective Date: September , 2008

[Signature page to Loan and Security Agreement]

Source; World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2008
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EXHIBIT A
The Collateral consists of all of Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to the following personal property:

All goods, Accounts (including health-care receivables), Equipment, Inventory, coniract rights or rights to payment of
money, leases, license agreements, franchise agreements, General Intangibles (except as provided below), commercial tort claims,
documents, instruments (including any promissory notes), chettel paper (whether tangible or electronic), cash, deposit accounts,
fixtures, letters of credit rights (whether or not the letter of credit is evidenced by a writing), securities, and all other investment
property, supporting obligations, and financisl assets, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, wherever located; and

all Borrower’s Books relating to the foregoing, and any end all claims, rights and interests in any of the above and all
substitutions for, additions, attachments, accessories, accessions and improvements to and replacements, products, proceeds and
insurance proceeds of any or all of the foregoing,

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Collaterai does not include any of the following, whether now owned or hereafter
acquired: any copyright rights, copyright applications, copyright registrations and like protections in each work of authorship and
derivative work, whether published or unpublished, any patents, patent applications and like protections, including improvements,
divisions, continuations, renewals, reissues, extensions, and continuations-in-part of the same, trademarks, service marks and, to the
extent permitted under applicable law, any applications therefor, whether registered or not, and the goodwill of the business of
Borrower connected with and symbolized thereby, know-how, operating manuals, trade secret rights, rights to unpatented inventions,
and any claims for damage by way of any past, present, or future infringement of any of the foregoing, and any personal property in
which a purchase money creditor has or obtains a purchase money security interest, but only (a) to the extent such purchase money
creditor prohibits the Borrower from further encumbering such personal property; and (b) for as long as such purchase money security
interest exists in such personal property;_provided, however, the Collateral shalt include all Accounts, license and royalty fees and
other revenues, proceeds, or income arising out of or relating to any of the foregoing.

Pursuant to the terms of a certain negative pledge arrangement with Bank, Borrower has agreed not to encumber any of its
copyright rights, copyright applications, copytight registrations and like protections in each work of authorship and derivative work,
whether published or unpublished, any patents, patent applications and like protections, inchuding improvements, divisions,
continuations, rencwals, reissues, extensions, and continuations-in-part of the same, trademarks, service marks and, to the extent
permitted under applicable law, any applications therefor, whether registered or not, and the goodwill of the business of Borrower
connected with and symbolized thereby, know-how, operating manuals, trade secret rights, rights to unpatented inventions, and any
claims for damage by way of any past, present, or future infringement of any of the foregoing, without Bank’s prior written consent.

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2008 33 ;



EXHIBITB
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
TO: SILICON VALLEY BANK Date:

FROM: WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
AND WORLD ENERGY SECURITIES CORP.

The undersigned authorized officers of World Energy Solutions, Inc., and World Energy Securities Corp. (individually and
collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrower™), solely in their capacities as officers of their respective entities, certify that under the
terms and conditions of the Loan and Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank (the “Agreement”), (1) Borrower is in
complete compliance for the period ending with all required covenants except as noted below, (2) there are no
Events of Default, (3) all representations and warranties in the Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on this date
except as noted below; provided, however, that such materiglity qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties
that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and warranties
expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of such date, (4) Botrower, and
each of its Subsidiaries, has timely filed all required tax returns and reports, and Borrower has timely paid all foreign, federal, state
and local taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions owed by Borrower except as otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of
Section 5.9 of the Agreement, and (5) no Liens have been levied or claims made against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, if any,
relating to unpaid employee payroll or benefits of which Borrower has not previously provided written notification to Bank. Atiached
are the required documents supporting the certification. The undersigned solely in their capacities as officers of their respective
entities, certify that these are prepared in accordance with generally GAAP consistently applied from one period to the next except as
explained in an accompanying letter or footnotes. The undersigned solely in their capacities as officers of their respective entities,
acknowledge that no borrowings may be requested at any time or date of determination that Borrower is not in compliance with any of
the terms of the Agreement, and that compliance is determined not just at the date this certificate is delivered. Capitalized terms used
but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the Agreement.

Please indicate compliance status by circling Yes/No under “Complies” column,

Reporting Covenant Reguired
Monthly financial statements with Compliance Certificate Monthly within 30 dgys -~ Y
Annual financial statement (CPA Audited) + CC FYE within 150 days
10-Q, 10-K and 8-K Within 5 days after filing with SEC .
A/R & A/P Agings, Deferred Revenue report, and schedule of expected  Monthly within 20 days
collections _
Borrowing Base Certificate "Monthly within 20 Days during
Streamline Period
Transaction Report Weekly when not Streamline Period Yes Na
Roard-approved projections Within 30 days of approval "Yes No
Finaneial Covenant Required Actual Complies
Maintain, to be tested monthly: L e T
Tangible Net Worth 35 OOiOO{) b Yes No

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2608 3 3 5



The following financial covenant analyses and information set forth in Schedule 1 attached hereto are true and accurate as of the date of

this Certificate.

The following are the exceptions with respect to the certification above: (If no exceptions exist, state “No exceptions to note.™)

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

WORLD ENERGY SECURITIES CORP.

By:
Name:
Title:

BANK USE ONLY
Received by:

AUTHORIZED SIGNER
Date:
Verified:

AUTHORIZED SIGNER
Date:
Compliance Status: Yes No

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, September (8, 2008



Dated:

1L Tangible Net Worth (Section 6.9(2))

Required: $500.000.00

Actual:

A. Aggregate value of consolidated total assets of Borrower and its Subsidiaries
B. 1. Aggregate value of goodwill of Borrower and its Subsidiaries

2. Aggregate value of intangible assets of Borrower and its Subsidiaries

3. Aggregate value of notes, accounts receivables, and other obligations owing to Borrower
from its officers or other Affiliates

4. Aggregate value of any reserves not aiready deducted from assets

5. Total Liabilities

C. Net Tangible net Worth (line A minus lines B.1 through B.5)
D. Subordinated Debt
E. Tangible Net Worth (line C_plus {ine D)

I5 line E equal to or greater than $500,000.007

No, not in compliance Yes, in compliance

® S & o

LT -
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World Energy Solutions secures US$3 million credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank

Worcester, MA — September 8, 2008 — World Energy Solutions, Inc. {TSX: XWE) (the “Company™) today announced that it has
entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Agreement™) with Silicon Vailley Bank (“SVB™). Under the Agreement, 5VB has
committed to make advances to the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $3,000,000 subject to availability against certain
eligible account receivables and eligible retail backlog,

Jim Parslow, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, said, “We are pleased that SVB provided this credit facility, which gives us
increased financial strength and flexibility as we grow the business. As we reported in our second quarter earnings, we continue to
believe we have the financial resources to achieve our strategic growth initiatives, and expect further decreases in cash used in
operations this year based on sirong revenne growth in multiple product lines and a stable fixed cost base. We have continued to
experience a Tise in auction activity during the third quarter as commodity prices have declined significantly after the dramatic run-up
from February through June.”

About Silicon Valley Bank

Silicon Valley Bank is the premier commercial bank for companies in the technology, life science, private equity and premium wine
industries. SVB provides a comprehensive suite of financing solutions, treasury management, corporate investment and international
banking services to its clients worldwide. Through its focus on specialized markets and extensive knowledge of the people and
business issues driving them, Silicon Valley Bank provides a level of service and parmership that measurably impacts its clients’
success. Founded in 1983 and headquartered in Santa Clara, Calif,, the company serves clients around the world through 27 U.S.
offices and five international operations. Silicon Valley Bank is a member of global financial services firm §VB Financial Group, with
SVB Analytics, SVB Capital, SVB Global and §VB Private Client Services. More information on the company can be found at

http://www.svb.com.
About World Energy

World Energy operates leading online exchanges for energy and environmental commedities. Our proven approach provides market
intelligence, promotes liquidity, and creates price transparency for all market participants, enabling our customers to transact with
confidence and to seek the best possible price. To date, the company has transacted more than 45 billion kWh of electricity, 1 billion
kWh of green power and Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) and over 100 billion Dth of natural gas. For more information, please

visit www.worldenergy.com.

This press release contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual resuits to
differ from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: our revenue
is dependent on actual future energy purchases pursuant to completed procuvements; the demand for our services is affected by
changes in regulated prices or cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices for energy; we depend on a smail number of key
energy consumers, suppliers and channel partners; there are factors owtside our control that affect transaction volume in the
electricity market; and there are other factors identified in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and subseguent veporits filed with the
Securities and Exchange Conumission.

For additional information, contact:

Jim Parslow Craig Armitage

World Energy Solutions, Inc. The Equicom Group

(508) 459-8100 (416) £15-0700 x278
jparslow{@worldenergy.com carmitage(@equicomgroup.com

Source: World Energy Solutio, 8-K, Septamber 08, 2008 53 é


http://vi%5eww
http://www.worldenergy.com
mailto:jparslow@worldenergy.com
mailto:carmitage@equicoragroup.com

Created by 10KWizard _www, [0KWizard com

Source: Work! Energy Solutio, 8-K, September 08, 2008

337


http://www.lOKWizard.com

Exhibit C-3 “Financial Statements”

World Energy Solutions, Inc. has attached the most recent two years of audited financial statements which are for year

ending 2006 and 2007.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash SqUIVALBHES..........covv v st s sssesiansess
Trade accounts receivable, net ...
Prepaid expenses and Other CUTTENE ASSELS....cvviriviistrmmnsnmiismsss s s
TOLAl CLUITENE BSSEES.tsriresisriasriterinerrrnrrsrianssesasessanesssrisasssessmsseasesmesnsssressvasessransse

Property and equipment, net

Capitalized SORWATE, NEL......c..eei et e msna s oot s semsas s s sssasssame s an

Intangibles net..

Goodwil] ..

Deferred taxes and other assets..
TOLAL ASSLS .. revvsoesrmesrsevmsnrsrsnssrssnsssassomassemsssnsesssas shmenessabnaesbnaras smsmts et st mimnsenn

Current liabilities:

ACCOUNES PAVADIE 1ottt et s s e st anns s
Accrued commissions
Accrued COMPENSAIOI. ....cecuiresriesisiisesssisessmsesisstssnss s besas sbs s bes s seasnassnms s
ACCTURA BXPEIISES. . eecr et et ies b e e e R s
Deferred revenue and custemer advances......

Capital lease obligations ...
Total curreit HADIHEES .....ooiia e e e sm s essenntmsse e eesnessssssnsesan

Capital lease obligations, net of CUMTENE POMION...cooc-.occermcrnrre e scsacsse e
Total Hahilitles .veerecimrimnc ittt s e s e st s st e sa s s smmesanssans

Commitments (Note 9)

Stockhoelders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
(o Ta V111 £17: 11 T 1] 11 TR RTRRON

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 82,399,241
and 76,511,741 shares issued and outstandmg at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.... e -

Additional pa1d in caplta]

Accumulated deficit ..

Total stockholders’ cqu1ty
Total liabilities and Stockholders equlty

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

December 31,

2007 2006
$ 7,000,884 $ 17483886
1,878,233 1,702,798
338,049 211,749
9,218,166 19,398,433
595,950 225,932
463,888 105,296
7,316,916 —
3,178,701 —
—_ 26044 —1061.720
§_20.800.565 § 20791381

] 980,488
712,919
1,516,418
279,162
363,933
41,624
3,894,544

— 46,222
3.940.766

8,240
29,704,831
(12.853.272)
16,859,799

$ 848,518
1,021,433
304,330
232,587
205,408
36,25¢
2,758,535

— 875844
2,846,379

7,651
22,148,718

{4.211,367)
— 17,945,000

$ 20800565 — E..20.72L381
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue:

Brokerage commissions and transaction fees..............
Management fees ........oooviieeeircrmimm s
TOtal TEVENIE. ..o vt et ceeeranns

Cost of revenme ...
GIOSS PLOTIE ..o eeee ettt

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing ........ccccoevecnvrrvnnmi e .
General and adminisStrative ........ocviienensisismnmnren.
Total costs and EXPENSES ........cormeriteienreriemieriercnenmerene

Operating income (1088) ....vcrnrsmsmmieiieemsiaan

Interest income (expense):

INEETESE IMCOME . .vovvirirrerinrerecsissineerarnaren e enrearanseasnase
INEEIESE BXPEDSEC.cceesrsrrrrrsrermrrsrssisssrsssairsmnirrerssnisssarsns
Total interest income (EXpense), N

Income (loss) before INCOME (AXES v v ver s recrnirsesnsieen

Income tax {expense) benefit.....cocvviiennniicimiisinie
Net income (Joss) ... averenres

Accretion of prefem:d stock issuance costs .. "
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Eamings (loss} per share:
Net income (loss) per voting commen share — basic.
Net income (loss) per non-voting ¢ommon share — basic
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders — diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic:

Voting common Stock ...
Non-voting common $tock ...

Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted .........

— — Years nded December 31,
2007 2006 2095

$§ 840,791  § 5762098 8 4,673,987
786474 1.000 —
9,188,265 5,763,098 4,673,987
2,874,678 1.166.426 648410
6,313,587 4,596,672 4,025,577
8,598,256 3,227,263 2,649,786
5.858.810 1.862.450 995,703
14,457.066 5.080.713 3,645.489
(8,143.479) (493.041) 380088
573,395 139,617 8,004
{10.101) (451,897) (94.842)
563,204 (312,280) (86.838)
(7.580,185) (805,321) 293,250
(1.061,720) 304.228 754,000
(8,641,905) (501,003) 1,047,250
— (6.299) (7.199)

$ (6410000  E_(307.302) 3 __LO4005]
$ in 5§ .. @0 S 00
$ =S — 8 0.02
$ N0 VI QoD  § 0.02
79,793,590 45,576,477 33,049,472

— — 6778327
—l2793500 45576477 2 __ 39827799
—19.793.590  _ 43376477 @ 34300900

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

339



Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

Non- Voling Voting
— CommonSteck_ . _CommonSeock . TreasorvSteck Additional Teéal
Number of $40.00¢1 Numdber of $0.0001 Nuualver of Btated at Paid-in Aecommniated Stockholders’
Meficny
Balance, December 31, 2004.........covieineresrecrecees 6,552,135 658 33,724,819 3,372 675, M6 (151,953 2,604,316 4,751.524) (2.241,138)
Exercise of stock options ................ 240,000 24 - — —_— — 3,016 — 6,000
Accretion of stock issnance costs ..... — — - — _ — (7.199) -— {2,199}
Issuance of warrants in connection with Jong-
erm debt..... — — — — — —_ 256,200 — 256,200
Net income. ... — — — —_— — — — 1,047,250 e L2250
Balance, December 31, 2005..... 6,792,135 679 33,724,819 3372 675,346 (151,953} 2,919,393 3,710,274y (938,883)
Exercise of stock aptions 2,190,671 219 —_ —_ — — 56,69% — 36,917
Commaon stock warmants eRercised .. ... v woraree — — 1,070,958 o7 — — 253,098 — 253,205
Issuance of common Stock in connection with
initial public offering, net of $3.6 miltion of
OFFETIIE CORS oo et e cermrieere e s vennaans — — 23,000,000 2,300 - - 17.264,968 — 17,267,268
Issuance of warrants in connection with initial
public offering —_ —_— —_ —_ —_ — 274,129 —_ 274,129
Conversion of Mon-Voting Common Stock 10
Voting Commen Stock in connection with
initial public OFEHNE .....owrmoreerrvrereemaescnnerens (8,982,806) (R98) 8,982,806 858 - — - - -
Canversion of Series A Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock in connection with inital
public offering - — 10,433,504 1,04 — - 1,506,953 —_ 1,507,597
Accretion of stock issuance costs . — — — — — — (6,299) — 6.29%
Share-based compensathon ..........c.cccoesiecvenen — _— —_— —_— — s 44,261 — 44,261
Purchase of trcasury stock — — —_ — 25,000 (12,5000 _ — {12,500}
Retirement of treasury stock ... — — (700,346} (7M (700.346) 164,453 (164,383) —_ -
NEt 1055 1 oveer v cvcrvarens vesebenmen — — — —_ — — — (501.00%) (501.093)
' Balance, December 31, 2006 _ —_ 76,511,741 7,651 - - 22,148,718 (4,211,367} 17,945,002
—_ — —_ —_ - — 982,190 — 982,190
Issuance of common stock in connection with
j acquisition of ERergyGateWay ... eereis — — 5,375,000 538 — - 6,522,604 -— 6,513,232
‘ Issuance of common steck in connection with
vestricied stock grant....... — — 400,000 40 -— —_ (40) —_ —_
Reversal of issuance costs related to initial public
of camtnion stock ... — —_ —_ — — — 48,468 — 48 468
Exexcise of stock options — — 112,500 i1 - — 2501 — 1812
Net loss — — = = - = = Bo505 . (BHLIEH
Balance, Deccmber 31, 2007.... — & = £239924) 3 8240 = & = 9704331 $012.853272) 516,859,799

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net IRCOME (LOBS) rrerrerrmerenrenieninsineiesiesiesiescasirsinssassascnesessnssnsions

Adjustments ta reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

(used in} operating activities:

Depreciation and amOTHZBHOM ...ce.ceeeveeeeerreeaienieecerearnsresrenes
Deferred taxes... SOOI O
Share-based compensatlon
ACCretion Of WaTFANIS. ..c.cvcvc st ssaas

Changes in operating assets and liabilities , net of the effects of acquisition:

Trade accounts receivable. ...
Prepaid expenses and other 48581S.....cuvvreececcninninncnceees
Accounts payable.......... e
Accrued COMMISSIONS .....cieevee e e srsns e e s e
Accrued compensation....
Accrued expenses ..
Deferred revenue and customer advances .
Net cash provided by (used in) operating acuvmes
Cash flows from investing aclivities:
Costs incurred in software development............c.ccoevuieneene
Net cash paid in acquisition of EnergyGateway, net of cash
T |11 U OO
Purchases of property and equipment ... veriniesinsnes
Net cash used in investing activiies ........ccvrieeininenas -
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options...
Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants

Proceeds from initial public offering of common stock net of

offering costs of $3.6 million...
Retirement of long-term dcbt..............
Principal payments on line of credit.........ceu.vee.
Proceeds from the izsunance of long-term debt ......ooeciiininns
Principal payments on capital lease obligations..........c..uu...
Principal payments on guaranteed retumm.......vvucceeeeeerecanrens
Purchase of treasury stock...
Net cash provided by (used m) ﬁnancmg acuwnes ............
Net {decrease) increase in cash and cash eguivalents............
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year........cveerrerevesrees
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year..........c.oooiiiiinene.

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Met cash received (paid) for interest......cccoviiivmnrsnccncsmninne
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Property and equipment acquired through capital lease obligations

Mon-cash investing and financing activities:

Fair value of common stock issued in acquisition of EncrgyGateway

Reversal of accrued expenses related to initial public offering

Of COMMON SI0CK...coeit e s e e
Conversion of series A preferred stock to common stock.......
Conversion of non-voting common stock to common stock.....

Issuance of warranis in connection with initial public offering of common

BEOCK crrvrreismsris sttt s se e e e e s s
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt offering.............

e Y815 Epded Decamber 31,

2007 2006 2005
$ (8,641,905) $ (501,093) $ 1,047,250
1,028.497 135,446 105,831
1,061,720 (307,720) (754,000)
982,190 44,261 —
— 252,000 4,200
17,5390 (673,991) (479,903}
(133,377 (106,798) 47451)
80,491 690,908 42,041)
(308,514) 156,540 496,035
1,212,088 193,330 68,507
33,762 210,578 38,009
68,525 165,668 {265216)
__{4.598.933) — 250,120 — 171221
(469,171 (65,652) (54,375)
(4,904,358) — —
{456,095) (72.061) (25.374)
(5.829,624) (137,713 {79,749)
2,812 56,917 6,000
—_ 253205 —
— 17,541,397 —
— (2,000,000) —_
—_— _— (500,000}
_— — 2,000,000
(56,257) (50,092) (48,733)
— (10,523) (14,062)
- = — {12500 —_———
(33.443) 15,778,404 1,443,205
(10,482,002) 15,890,820 1,534,677
—17.482.886 1.584.066 49.389
§ 72.001.884 $ 17,483,886 $ 1584066
$ 612303 $ (129401) 5. _(94,847)
$ - $ 12943 s 56205
$_6.536,000 $ = $ —
$§ 484608 N =] R —
= 31507997 =
F - 3 598 h —
5 ______— 3 274129 =
= 3 — 3 236200

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Exhibit C-4 “Financial Arrangements”
World Energy Solutions, Inc. is an online auction provider and energy broker. World
Energy Solutions does not take title to the electricity or natural gas. We conduct an
auction that matches the end user to the energy supplier. As a result, World Energy
Solutions does not have bank commitments, lines-of-credit, guarantees, or any other

financial arrangement to perform its service obligations in Ohio.
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Exhibit C-5 “Forecasted Financial Statements™

As a public company World Energy Solutions, Inc. can not disclose two years of
forecasted financial statements.
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Exhibit C-6 “Credit Rating”

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is not rated by any of the large rating agencies other than
Dun & Bradstreet. The Dun and Bradstreet report on World Energy Solutions, Inc. is
attached in Exhibit C-7.

World Energy Soluticns” D&B DUNS Number is: 01-114-1343
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Exhibit C-7 “Credit Report”

See the enclosed Dun & Bradstreet report for World Energy Solutions, Inc
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ATTN:ANDREW THOMAS
Report Printed:December 08, 2008

Live Report : WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC

D-U-N-5E Number: 01-114-1343
Trade Names: WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS - ECHOICENET
Endorsement/Billing Reference: athomas@workienergy.com

D&B Address
Address 446 Main St Ste 14
Worcester,MA - 01608
Phone 508 459-8100
Fax

Location Type Headguarters

Mddwd to Portfollo:03/20/ 2007

Web www.wordenergy.com

Company Summary

Score Bar

PAYDEX® @
Commercial Credit Score Class 3 .
Financial Stress Class 1 .
Credit Limit - D&B Conservative $25,000.00

D&B Rating 7 1R2

D&B 3-month PAYDEX®

3-month D&B PAYDEX®: 80 &
{Lowest Risk:100; Highest Risk:1)

When waighted by dollar amount, Payments to suppliers
average Within tarms

D&B Company Dverview

This is a headquariers location

Branch(es) or Division(s) exist Y

Chief Exacutive RICHARD
DOMALESKI, CEO
Year Started 1983 .
Employees 24 (UNDETERMINED
Hers)
L . 7389
Line of business Business services
HAICS G648
History Status _CLEAR = =

Commercial Credit $Score Class

............... D T B B

Commercial Credit Score Class: 3

D&B 12-month PAYDEX®

12-month D&B PAYDEX®: 72 @
(Lowest Risk:100; Highest Rigk:1)

When weighted by dollar amount, Payments to suppliers
average 12 days beyond terms

Public Fllings

YL D T R P P P T PP T

The following data includes both cpen and closed filings
found in D&B's database on this company.

Record Type o Filegbute
Bankruptcies 0 -
Judgments O .
bens Q0 .
Sgise 0 -
UCC's 4 090808

The public record items contained hergin may have
been paid, lerminatad, vacated or released prior to
iodays data.

Financial Stress Score Class

IETTTIY TR PrY ) anrsssianss ErsipsmsvaBatacaLentstsansnanbIbrbTRiiden

Financial Stress Score Class: 1
(Lowast Risk;1; Highesl Risk:5)
Low risk of severa financial stress over the next 12 months,

26


mailto:athomas@woriclenergY.com
http://www.wortdenergy.com

Commercial Credit Score Class:
{Lowest Risk:1; Highest Rislk:5)
Medium risk of severe paymant delinquency over next 12 months.

Corporate Linkage

Branches (Domestlc)

...................................................................................................................................... L e T T L T T LT Y

e o CHy State D-U-N-5@ NUMBER
WQRLD ENERGY SCLUTIONS, INC e DuBun, Oho _80-285-6675

Company

Predictive Scores

Credlt Capaclty Summary

This credit rating was assigned because of D&8's assessment of the company's financial ratios and ks cash flow. For more information, see the
" D&B Rating Key".

. Number of employees: 1R indicales 10 or more emplioyess
D&B Rating : 1R2 Gomposite credit appralsal: 2 is good
The 1R and 2R ratings categorias reflect company size based on the totai number of employees for the business. They are assigned o business files that
do not contain a current financial statement. In 1R and 2R Ralings, the 2, 3, or 4 creditworthiness indicator is based on analysis by D&B of public filings,
trade payments, business ags and other important {actors. 2 is the highest Composite Credit Appraisal a company not supplying D&B with cumrent
financial information can receive.

Below Is an overview of the company's rating history since 08- Number of Employeas
10-1988 ry Total: 24 (UNDETERMINED here)
DE&R Rating Date Applied

1R2 11-13-2007

1R3 12-05-2006

1R2 11-15-2006

1R3 04-19-2605

1R2 08-09-2000

— 08-10-1999

Payment Activity: (based on 25 expariences}

Average High Credit: $2,952

Highest Credit: $25,000

Total Highest Credit: $59,350

D&B Credit Lirn it Recommendatlon

.......................... Widrdrran L T T T T T T T L T

Conservative credit Limit $25,000
Aggressive credit Limit; $45,000
Risk category for this business : LOW

This recommended Credit Limit is based on the company profile and on profiles of other companies with similarities in size, industry, and credit usage.
Risk Is assessed using D&Bs scoring methodology and is one factor used to create the recommended Emits. See Help for details.

Financial Stress Class Summary
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The Financlal Stress Class Summary Model predicts the likelihood of a firm ceasing business without paymg all creditors in full, or reorgantzation or
obtaining relief from creditors under stateffederal law over the next 12 months. Scores were cakeulated using a statisticatly vakid model derived from
D8&Bs extensive data files,

The Financial Stress Class of 1 for this company shows thak firms with this ciassification had 2 failure rabe of 1.2% (120 per 10,000}, which ts Yower than
the average of businesses in D & B's database

Financial Stress Class : 1

(Lowest Risk:1; Highest Risk:5}
Law risk of severe financial stress, such as bankruptcy, over the next 12 manths.

Incidence of Financial Stress:

* Amang Businesses with this Classification: 1.20 %% (120 per 10000) 51—/ 7



® Average of Businesses In D&Bs database: 2.60 % ( 250 per 10000}
* Financial Stress Nabional Percentile : §7 {Highest Risk: 1; Lowest Risk: 100}
& Fipancial Stress Score :&nbsp 1388 (Highest Risk: 1001; Lowest Risk: 1875)

The Financial Siress Clase of this business is based on the following factors:

No record of open suit(s), lien(s), or judgment(s) in the D & B files.

28% of trade dollars indicate slow payment{s) are present,

Payment experiences exist for this firm which are greater than 60 days past due.
Control age or date entered in D & B files indicates higher risk.

Notes:

*® The Financial Stress Class indicates that this firm shares some of the same business and financlal characteristics of other companies with this
dassification. It does not mean the firm will necessarily experience financlal stress.

& The Incidence of Financiat Stress shows the percentage of firms In a given Class that discontinued operations over the past year with logs to
creditors, The Incidence of Financial Stress - National Average represents the national failure rate and is provided for comparative purposes.

* The Financial Stress National Percentile reflects the relative ranking of a company among all scorable companies in D3:Bs file.

* The Financial Stress Score offers a more precise measure of the level of risk than the Class and Percentile, It is especially helpful to customers using
a scorecard approach to determining overalt business performance.

* 2l Financial Stress Class, Percentile, Score and Incidence statistics are based on sampie data from 2004

Norms National %
Thiz Business 57
Region: NORTHEAST 50
Industry: BUSINESS, LEGAL AND ENGIMEERING SERVICES 52
Employee range: 20-99 80
Years in Business: 11-25 52

This Business has a Financial Stress Percentile thet shows:

Lower risk than other companies in the same region.

Lower risk than other companies in the same industry.

Higher risk than other companies in the same employee size range.

Lowar risk than other companies with a comparable number of years in business.

Credit Score Class Summary

......................................................... R R L L e Ty e T e e e e L A L L L L L L b e e L

The Credit Score class predicts the likelihood of a fimn paying in a severely delinquent manmer (304 Days Past Terms) over the next twelve manths. It
was calculated using statistically valid models and the most recent payment information in D&Bs files.

The Credit Score class of 3 for this company shews that 14.3% of firms with this classification paid one or more bills severely definquent, which is lower
than the average of businesses in D & B's database.

Credit Score Class : 3

(Lowest Risk:1; Highest Risk:5})
Moderate risk of severe payment dalinquency over next 12 months.

Incidence of Delinquent Payment

* Among Companies with this Classification: 14.30 %

* Average compared to businesses in D&B's database: 20,10 %

* Credit Score Percentfle : 58 (Highest Risk: 1; bowest Risk: 100}
® Credit Score : 474 [Highest Risk: 101; Lowest Riskz670)

The Credit Score Class of this business is based on the foliowing factors:

® 28% of trade dollars indicate slow payment(s) are present.
* No record of open suit{s), tien(s), or judgment(s) in the D & B files.
* Payment experiences exist for this firm which are greater than 60 days past due.

Notes:

* The Credit Score Class indicates that this frm shares some of the same bushvess and payiment characteristics of ather comparies with tis
classification. It does not mean the firm will necessarily experience dafinquency.

® The Incidence of Delinquent Payment is the pencentage of companies with this classification that were reported 90 days past due or more by
creditors, The calculation of this value is based on an inquiry weighted sample.

® The Percentile ranks this firm relative to other husinesses. For example, a finm in the 80th percentile has 2 lower risk of paying in a severely
delinguent manner than 79% of all scorable companies in D&Bs files.

& The Credit Score offers a more precise measure of the level of risk than the Class and Percentile. It is especially heipful to customers using a
scorecard approach to determining overall business performance,

& Al Credit Class, Percentile, Score and Incidence statistics ara based on sample daka from 2004

Norms National %

This Business 58

Reglon: NORTHEAST 80 3 {71 g
Industry: BUSINESS, LEGAL AND ENGINEERING

SERVICES



Employee range: 20-99 69
Years in Business: 11-23 64

This business has a Credit Score Perceniile that shows:

Lower risk than other companies in the same region.

Lower risk than other companies in the same industry.

Higher risk than cther companies in the same employee size rangs.

Higher risk than othar companies with a comparable number of years in business.

Trade Payments

D&B PAYDEX®
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The D&B PAYDEX Is a uniqus, dollar welghtad indicator of payment performance based on payment experiences as reported to DB by trader references,
Learn more about the D&B PAYDEX Score

Timeliness of historical payments for this compary.

Current PAYDEX is 72  Equalic 12 days bayond terms { Pays more slowly than the average for its Industry of 3 days beyond fems )
Industry Median is 78  Equal fo 3 days beyond terms

Payment Trend currently is - Unchanged, compared to payments three months ago

Indications of slowness can be the result of dispute over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. Accounts are sometimes placed for collection even though
the existence or amount of the debt Is disputed.

Total payment Experiences in D&Bs File 26
Payments Within Terms (not dollar weighted) 8%
Trade Experiences with Slow or Negative Payments(%:) 12.00%
Total Placed For Collection 0
Average High Credit $2,952
Largest High Credit $25,000
Highest Now Owing $10,000
Highest Past Due $300

12-Month D& PAYDEX® : 72 @

{Lowest Risk:100; Highest Risk:1)
Based on payments collected over last 12 months.

When weighted by dollar amount, payments to supphers averape 12 days beyond lerms

3-Month D& PAYDEX® : 800
(Lowest Risk:100; Highest Risk:1)
Based on payments collected over last 3 months.

When weighted by dollar amount, payments to suppllers average within terms

D&B PAYDEX® Comparison

Current Year
PAYDEX® of this Business compared ta the Primary Industry from each of the last four quarters, The Primary Industry is Business services , based on
SIC code 7389 .
Shows the trend In D&B PAYDEX scoring over the past 12 months.
1/082/083/084/085/;086/087/088/089/0810/ 0811[0812]05
Te 72

This Business 68 70 7 QA MM O T T N
Indusiry Quartiles

Upper . . 80 . . a0 . . B0
Median . . . . T . . T8
Lower . . 69 . . 68 R . 68

® Current PAYDEX for this Business is 72 , or equal to 12 days beyond terms
* The 12-month high is 72, or equal to 12 DAYS BEYOND terms
® The 12-manth low is 69, or equal to 16 DAYS BEYOND terms

Previous Yaar

Shaws PAYDEX of this Business compared to the Primary Industry from each of the last four quarters. The Primary Industry is Businass services , based L
on SIC code 7389 . 3 /?



Pravious Year 12/08 03407 06/07 09107

Q4'06Q1"07QITR3DY
This Business UN 60 60 &6
Indusiry Quartilas
Upper B0 BG 80 80
Median FA R R & B
Lower 69 69 6% ¢b

Based on payments collected over the last 4 quarters.

Current PAYDEX for this Business is 72 , or equal to 12 days beyond tems

The present industry median Scere is 78 , or equal to 3 days beyond terms

Industry upper quartile represents the performance of the payars in the 75th percentile
Industry lower quartile represents the performance of the payers in the 25th percentie

Payment Habils
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For all payment experiences within a given amount of credit extended, shows the percent that this Business paid within terms. Provides number of
experiences to calculate the percentage, and the total credit value of the aredit extended.

% Credit Extended # Paymant Experiences % Total Dollar Amount % of Payments Within Terms
Qver 100,000 o 50 a%
50,000-100,000 0 30 0%
15,000-48,989 2 $40,000 62%
5,000-14,999 1 $10,000 100%
1,000-4,980 4 $5.500 B2%
Under 1,000 13 $3,550 82%

Based on payments collected over |ast 12 months.,
For all Payment experiences reflect how bills are met in relation to the terms granted. In some Instances, payment beyond terms can be the result of
disputes over merchandise, skipped invoices etr.

Payment Summary
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There are 25 payment experianca(s) in D&Bs file for ihe most recent 12 monthe, with 14 experience(s) reported during the fast thres month period.
The highest Now Owes on file is $10,000 . The highest Past Due on file is $500
Below is an averview of ihe company's dollar-waighiad payments, segmented by its suppliers’ primary Industries:

Total Total Dollar  Largest High Within Days Slow

Revd Amis Credit Tarms <31 31-60 6190 90>
0] £5) ® (%) (%)

Top Industries
Nonclassified a8 14,250 10000 %8 0 020
Telephone communictns 2 200 100 756 25 000
Ret-direct selling 1 25,000 25000 100 0 QOO0
Misc aquipment rantal 1 15,000 15000 0 100000
Exacutive ofiice 1 1,000 1000 100 0 000
Radiotelephone commun 1 1,000 1000 0 0 001C0
Mis¢ general gov't 1 750 750 100 0 000
Short-trm busn credit 1 750 750 100 0 000
Data processing svcs 1 500 500 100 0 QDO
Photocopying service 1 250 260 100 0 Q0O
Ret mailorder house 1 100 100 100 0 Q00O
Misc business cradit 1 250 0 100 0 000
Misc business sarvice 1 1] o 0 0 ¢og
Other payment categories
Cash axperignces 4 300 100
Payment racord unknown 0 (] 0
Unfavorable commants 0 0 0
Placed for coliections:
With D&B 0 a 0
Other 0 WA 4]
Total in D&Bs file 25 58,350 25,000

Accounts are sometimes placed for collection aven though the exislence or amaunt of the debt is disputed.

Indications of slowness can be resutt of dispute over merchandise, skipper invoicss efc.

Payment Delails

Last Sale
Date Reported . High Credli Now Owes Past Dus Salling
(mmiyy) Paying Recard ) (3] (5] Terms Within



11/08

10/08

08/08

08/08

07/08

03/08
01/08
11107

Qo7

Ppl
Ppi
Ppd
Ppl
Ppl-Slow 30
Ppi-Slow 80
Ppl
Ppl
Ppl
Ppl

{011) Cash own aption .

{012) Cash own aption .

Ppt

(014) Cash own option .

Ppt
(016)

Ppt

Ppt

Ppt

(020) Satisfactory .
Slow 30

Ppt

Slow 90+

Ppt

Ppt

25,000
2,500
750
100
500
10,000
1,000

100
100

100
250

1G0

750
15,000
1,000
1,000

Payments Detail Key: B30 or more days beyond terms

Payment experiences refiect how bills are met In relation 1o the temms granted. in some instances payment beyond terms can be the result of disputes
over merchandise, skipped invoices etc. Each experience shown is from a saparate supplier. Updated trade experiences replace those praviously

reported.

Public Filings

Summary

260 3]
250 ON30
0 4]
750 4]
100 50
0 0
10,000 0
100 Q
100 N30
50 0
Cash
account
Cash
account
260
Cash
account
100 0
Cash
account
0 Q
0 1]
0 0
500 500
1] 0
Q 0
O

imo
1mo
2.3 mos
1mo
1mo
&-12 mos
1imo
imo
1mo
1ma
imoe

imo

tme
2-3 mos

1 mo
1 mo

4-5mos
1mo

1 mo
§-12 mos
6-12 mos
1mo

The following data indudes both open and closed filings found in D&B's database on this company.
# of Records  Most Recent Filing Date

Racord Type

Bankruptcy Procaedings

Judgments
Liens
Sults
UCCs

i
0
1]
0
4

0e/08/08
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The following Public Filing data s for infarmation purposes only and is not the official record. Certified coples can only be obtained from the official

sauroe.

UCC Filings

Collateral
Type

Seac. Party
Debtor
Filing No.
Filed With

Date Filad

Latest Info Received

Collateral
Type

Sec. Party
Debtor
Filing No.
Filed With

Date Filed

Latest Info Received

Collateral
Type

Sec. Party
Debtor

All Assets
Original

SILICON VALLEY BANK, SANTA CLARA, CA
WORLD ENERGY SECURITIES GORP.

200865174350

SECRETARY OF STATEAJCC DIVISION, BOSTON, MA

2008-03-08
1017108

Al Assels
Original

SILICON VALLEY BANK, SANTA CLARA, CA
WORLD ENERGY SGLUTIONS, INC.

2008 3018593

SECRETARY OF STATEAJCC DIVISION, DOVER, DE

2008-09-08
10/09/08

g T

Leased Fidures and proceeds
Driginal

GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPCRATION, DANBURY, CT

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
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Filing No. 4324054 8

Filed With SECRETARY OF STATEAICC DIVISION, DOVER, DE
Date Filed 2004-11-12

Latest Info Received 12/22/04

Collateral Leased Equipment

Type Criginal

Sec. Party GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION, BANNOCKBURN, IL
Debtor WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Flling No. 5060796 1

Filed With SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, DOVER, DE
Date Filed 2005-02-24

Latest Info Received 03/17/05

The public record #ems cantained herein may have been paki, terminated, vecated or released prior b today's date.

Government Activity

Activity summary

Borrower (Dir/Guar) NO
Administrative Debt NO
Contraclor YES
Grantee NO
Party excluded from federal program(s) NC

Pessible candidate for socio-economic program consideration

Labour Surplus Area N/A
Smalit Business YES (2008)
8(A) firm WA

The details provided in the Govermment Activity section are as reported to Dun & Bradstreet by the federal govemment and other sources.

Special Events

e T T T T

Spedal Events

11/08/2008 -EARNINGS UPDATE :
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According to published reporis, comparéi'rve opera"ti ng résuits for : 6m5fﬂhs—end;&éeaéhher 30, 2008h‘ev0;nu; c;fﬁ$9,164-,727 , Net Income of
($5,756,079); compared to Revenue of $6,103,672, Net Income of {$3,427,390) for the comparable pericd in the prior year.

00/09/2008 -LINE OF CREDIT:

According to published reporlé, W"or'ld‘Energy So-lﬁfidns_; inc. announced that nhas;nl“ered into 2 Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank,

Under the Agresment, VB has committed to make advances 1o the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $3.000.000 subject to availability against
ceriain eligible account receivables and eligible retail backlog.

00/09/2008 -EARNINGS UPDATé .-

According to published reparts, comparalwe operatlng results for the € monlhs andcd June 30 2008: Revenue cif $5 B7S, 212 Net income of
{$4,540,259); compared to Revenue of $3,428,329, Net Income of (1,617,006} for tha comparable peried in the prior year.

05/10/2008 -EARNINGS UPDATE :

According to published réports. oonﬁﬁa}éiive ;:pe}aﬁng Tesults for the é;ngnvlhserﬁéamﬁar“&"ﬂ-zﬁaanﬁevanua of $3,114,517, Net Incame of
$2,159,942); compared to Revenue of $1,501,137, Net Income of {$439,438) for the comparable period in the prior year.

03!13!2008 -EARNINGS UPDATE

According to published reports, comparatwe Dperatmg results for tha year Bnded December 31, 200? Revenua of $9,188,265, Net Income 01'
($8,641,905); compared to Revenue of $5,783,098, Net Income of ($501,093) for the comparable period in the prior yeer.

11/13/2007 -EARNINGS UPDATE :

According to published renorls, ucampéraﬁv)e ui:'er;tlb'ngdréstilrgfbr the 9 months ended Ssptembgr 30, 2007: Revenue of $8,103,672, Nel Incoma of
($3,427,390); compared to Revenus of $4,166,763, Net Income of {$207,451) for the comparable period in the prior year.

10/11/2007 -OFFICER CHANGE :

Accordlng to pubhshad reports, Wortd Energy Soluhons \na announced that Philip V. Adams has also been named Prasident of the orgarhation

08/16/2007 -EARNINGS UPDATE : ”
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According to published reports, comparative operating results for the 6 months ended June 30, 2007: Revenue of $3,428,328, Nat incoms of
($1,617.008); compared to Revenue of $2,479,770, Net Income of ($219,812) for the comparable pericd in the prior year.

07/18/2007 -MERGER/ACQUISITION : L . o 3

According to published reparts on May 25, 2007, Waorld Enargy Soluﬁnl'ls ne. (Dublin, OH) announced that it has aomplated the pra\rluusly announced
acquisition of privately held EnergyGateway, LLC (Worcester, MA). Under the terms of the final agraement, World Energy purchased subrstantially ail of
the essets of EnergyGaleway for LU5$4.95 miflion in cash and 5.375 million common shares of Werld Energy plus the assumption of certaln llabllities.

-OF FICER CHANGE :
According to published reports, World Energy Solutlons. Inc. announced lhst Tyler Wooddeli is now 2 Senbr Vice F‘resudenl at World Enargy Solutions.

-ANNOUNCED MERGERIAOQUISITION

Accordmg to published reports on May 22, 2007‘ World Energy Solullons Inc. (Woroesher. MA), announced that It has entered into a definitive agreemant
to acquire privately held EnergyGateway, LLC {Dublin, OH). The acquisition is expscted to provide customers of World Energy Exchange a bigger
marketplace, an expanded online tooalsst, and a desper pool of market expertise.

Under the terms of the agreement, World Energy will acquire substantilly al of the assets of EnergyGaieway for US$5 million in cash and 5.375 million
common shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain iiabilities. Tha transaction is expected to cloge on or about May 31, 2007, subject to
customary closing conditions.

-ANNOUNCED MERGER/AGQUISITION : _
According to publishad raports on Aprll 17, 2007, World Energy Sdluilané; Inc. Mﬁrcester, MA} announced that it has entered into a non-binding letter of
intent with regpect to a potential acquisition candidate. The transaction is subject to a number of conditions including the parlies‘ negotiating and entering
into a definitive agreement. There can be no assurance that a definitive agreement will be enfered into or that the transaction will be consummated.

~ANNOUNCED PURCHASE OF ASSET :

According to published reports on March 26, 2007, World Energy Solutions, Inc. (Worcester, MA) announced that it has entered a letter of intent to
purchase up to 20% of the issued and outstanding memberships interests of Sol-Gel Solutions, LLC (Gainesvitle, FL). The company will be given an
oplion to purchase 50% of the issuad and auistanding memberships Interests of Sol-Gel.

History and Operations

Company Overview
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Company Name: WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC

Doing Business As ; WORLD ENERGY SCLUTIONS ,
ECHOICENET

Strest Address: 446 Main S1 Ste 14
Worcester, 01608

Phone: 508 459-3100

URL: hitpwww worldenengy.com

History Is clear

Present management control 13 years

History
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The following information was reported: 1071172007
RICHARD DOMALESKI, CEQ
EDWARD LIBBEY, PHD, CHM
Officer(s): PHILIP ADAMS, PRES-CO0O
JAMES F. PARSLOW, CFO-TREASURER
TYLER WOODDELL, SvP

DIRECTOR(S) : THE OFFICER(S)

On July 18, 2007 source(s) contacted confirmed the esistence of this corporation. Dun & Bradstrect makes & regular search for corporabe deails and will

provide the infermation as it becomes avaiksble,

Business started 1995 by as a partnership. 87% of capital stock is owned by officers, 13% of capital stock is owned by outside investors.

STOCK OWNERSHIP @

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed Its initial public offering of common stock, induding the exerclise by tha underwriters

of an over-allotment option, for the sale of 23,000,000 shares of common stock resulting in net proceeds to the Company of

approximatedy $17.5 milllon {net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 milion. Symbol :

(TSX: XWE).

as cf March 31, 2007, the Company only had one issued and outstanding dass of stack common stock. As a resuit, the basic loss per share for the three

moanths ended March 31, 2007 is corputed by dividing net loss for the peried by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period.

The executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them, in the aggregate, beneficially own approximately 35.8% of the company’s

outstanding common stock. In particular, Richard Domaleski, president and Chief Executive Officer, beneficially owns appraximately 25.0% of cutstanding
commaon stock.

RECENT EVENT :

On June 4, 2007, World Energy Solutions, Inc, Worcestor, MA announced that it has completed the previously announced acquisition of EnergyGateway

LLC, Dublin, OH. The operations of EnergyGateway will be merged inte World Energy. Worlkd Energy wili continue to operate an office at the Dublin, OH

facility. The management and employees were retained through this acquisition. 3
OFFICERS BACKGROUND : 35

RICHARD DOMALESKI bon 1969, 1995-present active hers, a



E T LIBBEY PHD born 1950. 1995-present active here.

PHILIP ADAMS bom 1958, 2001-present active here. 1999-2001 worked as Chief marketing officer in Exchange Application at Boston MA, 1997-19%0
worked in Pega Systems as Sr. VP Marketing and Product Management, 1994-1997 Worked as Chief Marketing Office in Corporate Software.

JAMES F. PARSLOW. Parslow was CFO with Spire Corp., Bedford, MA. He also spent eight years in public accounting at Arthur Andersen LLP prior to
joining Therme Electron. Pzrslow halds an MBA from Benbley Collage and has significant management experience in financial planning and control,
financing, acquisitions, divestitures and Securities and Exchange Commission reporting.

TYLER WOODDELL. Formerly President and CEQ of EnergyGateway.

Business Registration

......................................................... Y T T T L LT R T T L T P T P T L L P L P PR

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS REGISTRATIONS PROVIDED BY MANAGEMENT QR OTHER SOURCE
The Corporate Details provided below may have been submitted by the management of the subjact bissiness and may not have been verified with the
government agency which records such data,

Registered Name: Cceanside Energy, Inc.

Business type: CORPORATION

Corporation type: PROFIT

Date incorporated: Sep 03 1996

State of incorporation: DELAWARE

Filing date: Sep 03 1995

Where filed: SECRETARY OF STATE/CORPORATIONS DIVISION , DOVER , DE

Operations

10M1/2007
Operates business services, specializing in auction, appraisal and exchange services (100%).

Description: Terms vary depending on services. Salls io commarcial concerns. Termilory : United States & Canada.
MNonseasonal.

Employees: 24 which includes officer(s). UNDETERMINED employed here.

Facilities: Leases 2,500 £q. ft. in building.

Branches: This business has mulliple branches; detailed branchfdivision information is avaitable in D & B's linkage or family tree,

SIC & NAICS

SIC:

Based on information in our file, D& has assigned this companty an extended 8-dight SIC. D&/'s use of 8-dight SICs enables us to be more specific about a
company’s operations than if we use the standard 4-digit code.

The 4=digit SIC numbers link to the desaription en the Occupational Safety & Health Administration (CSHA) Web site, Links open in a new browsar
window.

7389 1400 Auction, appraisal, and exchange services

NAICS:

561499 All Other Business Support Services

Financial Statements

Company Financiai: D&B

e T LI L L T T P T R e L TR LR L LR LI IR LR LR

D&S currently has no financial Infermafion on fite for this company.
You can ask D&B to make a personalized request o this company on your behalf to obtaln is latest financial Information by
clicking the Request Financial Statements buon balow.

Addil:ional Financlal Data

----------------------------- L T P T Ty Ly L R R R L T IR R ]

This report was updated utilizing information the company has filed with the Securities Exchange Commiasion.

Request Financial Statements

................................................................... P T T T R L Ty LT e e P LR LT L LT IR

Requested financials are provided by WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC and are not DUNSRight certified. 35- L/
]



Key Business Ratios

................................ D D I T T T T T TR LR T R e R R L LRl AL bbb

D & B has been unable io abtain sufficient financiat information from this company fo calculate business ratios. Our check of additional outsids sources also

found no information available on its financial performance.
To help you in this instance, ratios for other firms in the same industry are provided below to support your analysis of this business.
Based on this Number of Establishments

Industry Norms Based On 19 Establishments

19

This Business Industry Median Industry Quartile
Profitability
Return on Sales UN 62 N
Return on Net Worth UN 134 UN
Short-Tarm Solvency
Current Ratio UN 1.4 UN
Quick Ratio UN 11 UN
Efficlency
Assats/Sales UN 121.3 UN
Sales ! Net Warking Capital UN 22 UN
Utilization
Total Lisbilities I Net Worth UN 10186 UN
UN = Unavailable
View Snapshots
View Snapshots

355
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Exhibit C-8 “Bankruptcy Information”

World Energy Solutions, Inc. has not filed for protections from creditors, reorganization
or any other form of bankruptcy filings in the two most recent years preceding the
applications.

350



Exhibit C-9 “Merger Information”

World Energy Solutions, Inc. (Worcester, MA) acquired privately held EnergyGateway,
LLC (Dublin, OH) on June 4, 2007. The acquisition provided customers of World Energy
Exchange a bigger marketplace, an expanded online toolset, and a deeper pool of market
expertise.
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Exhibit D-1 “Operations”

World Energy Solutions plans:

World Energy is an energy brokerage company that has developed an online reverse
auction platform, the World Energy Exchange. We bring energy suppliers and
commercial, induvstrial and government energy customers together in our virtual
marketplace, often with the assistance of channel partners. Although our core
competency is brokering electricity, we have adapted our World Energy Exchange
platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas, green power and energy-related
financial instruments, in response to customer demand. The World Energy Exchange is
part of a complete end-to-end online energy procurement process that includes managing
deals and tasks, providing market intelligence, developing RFPs, conducting auctions,
analyzing results, assisting customers through the contracting process, and fracking
customers’ energy contracts and usage history.

Our end-to-end online energy procurement process is attractive to channel partners as
it provides them with a business automation platform to enhance their growth,
profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners such as emergy service
companies, demand side consultants and manufacturers, ABCs and strategic sourcing
companies are an integral component of our business as these firms increasingly utilize
our World Energy Exchange to enhance their service offerings to their customers. By
accessing our market intelligence, auction and automated platform, channel partners
significantly contribute to the Company’s trading activity and procurcment volume.

World Energy Solutions experience:

* World Energy Solutions does not trade or ever take title or ownership of natural
gas, electricity or other energy commodity. World Energy Solutions is an energy
broker.

* World Energy Solutions is the market share leader in North America, having
brokered over 4¢ billion kWh of electricity and 700 million kWh of green power
and Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) and one trillion cubic feet of natural
gas,

*  World Energy Solutions runs a procurement exchange that is supplier-neutral.
Our mission is to get the consumer the lowest price for their energy needs.

= World Energy Solutions provides a toll free number (1-800-578-0718) for all
customers inquires.

*  World Energy Solutions will not be billing retail customers so has not included a
sample bill. World Energy Solutions’ fee is paid for directly by the supplier.



Exhibit D-2 “Operations Expertise”

See the enclosed Excel spreadsheet. This spreadsheet summarizes World Energy
Solutions, Inc. experience in natural gas procurement.
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Exhibit D-3 “Key Technical Personnel”

Daniel P. Pugh, CEP - Dan Pugh is Vice President of Supply Management for World Energy’s
commercial and industrial business. He is responsible for all new and existing supplier
relationships, customer-specific energy purchasing and daily operational processes to manage all
supply contracts. Dan has 15 years of experience in the energy industry, providing natural gas
marketing and management services for large end users. Dan’s experience includes major
account procurement, contracting, transportation, risk management and storage arbitrage. Dan
was an Energy Trader for AEP Energy Services for two years and prior to that was Market
Coordinator with Enron Energy Services. Dan graduated Magna Cum Laude with a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from The Ohio State University.

(614) 790-0400 dpugh@worldenergy.com

Dave Laipple - Dave Laipple is Vice President of Sales and Operations for World Energy’s
commercial and industrial business. He is responsible for leading World Energy’s national sales
efforts, as well as targeting and developing strategic partnerships. Dave has more than 24 years
of sales and sales management experience and has spent the past 15 years in the energy industry.
Prior to joining World Energy, Dave served in several regional and national sales leadership
roles with Enron and more recently served as VP of Sales for Accent Energy. Dave holds a BA
in Business Administration from Capital University and an MBA from the University of Dayton.
(614) 750-0400 diaipple @worldenergy.com

Sean Zurbrick, CEP - Sean Zurbrick is Supply Director within World Energy’s Supply
Management group. He is responsible for supplier offer coordination along with daily
procurement and operational processes for consumers. In addition, Sean has a working
knowledge of database structure and programming. Prior to World Energy, Sean spent two years
at FSG Energy Services and 5 years at Clinton Energy Services as a Senior Natural Gas Analyst.
In these positions he was responsible for procurement, scheduling, tariff analysis, purchasing and
trading pipeline capacity, least cost routing analysis and storage and capacity management. Sean
holds a Bachelor’s degree from The Ohio State University.

(614) 790-0400 szubrick@worldenergy.com

Jack J Shumaker, CEP - Jack Shumaker is a Supply Director within World Energy’s Supply
Management group and has nearly a decade of experience in supply-side energy management
services. He began his career with Clinton Energy, a division of Enron Energy Services. At
Clinton he was responsible for various purchasing and operational processes. Later he moved to
Ashland Energy (Delta) where he was responsible for managing the purchasing and operational
processes for numerous large industrial energy users across the U.S. In early 2004 Jack left Delta
Energy to join EnergyGateway, which was acquired by World Energy in 2007. Jack earned a
Bachelor’s degree from The Ohio State University and his MBA from Franklin University.

{614) 790-0400 jshumaker@worldenergy.com
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Bill Yeager, CEP - Bill Yeager is a Supply Director within World Energy’s Supply
Management group and has more than 22 years experience in the energy industry, with focused
knowledge on risk management, procurement, pipeline and utility logistics, tariffs and customer
service. At World Energy, Bill’s responsibilities include daily procurement, supplier offer
coordination and operational processes for consumers. Bill works with customers to explain the
effects of energy prices and the ways to get out in front of the risks associated with purchasing
energy. Prior to World Energy, Yeager worked for FirstEnergy Solutions American Electric
Power Energy Services Enron Energy Services, and Ohio Gas Marketing. Bill holds a Bachelor
of Science in Agricultural Economics from The Ohio State University.

(614) 790-0400 byeager@worldenergy.com

Roberto Martinez, CFA - Rob Martinez is a Supply Director within World Energy’s Supply
Management group. He has over ten years experience in the energy industry. He began his career
with Enron Corporation in 1998. Rob was in the Analyst and Associate programs and held
positions in various groups including Enron Capital and Trade and Enron Energy Services Power
Structuring. In early 2002, Rob joined the Mergers and Acquisitions group at Marathon Oil
Corporation. Rob worked on buying and selling upstream oil and gas assets and companies. In
late 2005, Rob joined Accent Energy as Power and Gas Structuring Manager. Rob priced and
structured Mid-Market Power and Gas deals. Rob joined World Energy in December of 2008.
Rob holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the University of Notre Dame
Mendoza College of Business.

(614) 790-0400 rmartinez @worldenergy.com

Rob T. Barkley — Rob Barkley is Vice President of Strategic Accounts and Customer Relations.
He is responsible for developing and maintaining relationships with large strategic energy
consumers throughout the country. He is a veteran of the industry with over 20 years of
experience in the retail energy business. As a pioneer in the deregulated natural gas business,
Rob started his career with Yankee Resources, Inc. followed by Access Energy where he was a
principal. Rob led sales teams in both commercial and industrial natural gas markets. In 1992,
Access Energy was sold to Enron when Rob joined its Energy Services group and created
integrated solutions for large energy users. Rob left Enron in 1999 and pursued sales
opportunities with technology firms before returning to the energy industry at World Energy.
Rob holds a Bachelor’s degree from University of Michigan and a MBA from The Ohio State
University,

(614) 790-0400 rbarkley @worldenergy.com
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